
SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY 
Monthly Meeting Agenda 
4424 Laporte Avenue 

Fort Collins, CO  80521 
 

Thursday September 7, 2023 
 

Mission – The Authority delivers the highest quality treated water to its customers with financial 
responsibility, and following policies established by the Board in a professional, efficient, and ethical 

manner. 
 
 

 
 

1. Call to Order 10:00 AM 
 

2. Meeting Minutes for August 10, 2023 - Action Item – Approve Minutes - “Motion to 
approve the minutes from the meeting on August 10th , 2023”. 

 
3. Financial Update – Brenda Griffith, Action Item - Approve Financial Report  - 

“Motion to approve the SCWTA July 2023 Financial Report”. 
 

4. Manager’s Update – Mark Kempton. 
 

5. Approval of Master Services Agreement (MSA) with Hensel Phelps for 
miscellaneous Renewal and Replacement Projects – Mark Kempton. Action Item - 
Approve MSA - “Motion to approve the MSA with Hensel Phelps for miscellaneous 
Renewal and Replacement Projects”. 

 
6. Approval of Work Order #1 under the MSA with Hensel Phelps for “Decant Pond 2 

Joint Sealant” – Mark Kempton. Action Item - Approve Work Order - “Motion to 
approve the Work Order with Hensel Phelps for the sealing of Decant Pond 2”. 

 
7. Approval of Long-Term Disability Insurance as an employee benefit – Mark 

Kempton. Action Item - Approve Long-Term Disability Insurance - “Motion to provide 
Long-Term Disability Insurance as an employee benefit, starting January 1, 2024”. 

 
8. Discussion item - Review of the 2024 Draft Proposed Budget. 

 
9. Other Business: 

 
a. Reminder about rescheduled October 5th Board meeting. 
b. Tri-District Dinner has been scheduled for October 5th at Windsor Mill Tavern 

at 5:30 p.m. – Agenda Items? 
c. Question re: PVP Enterprise Agreement – Working on a minor amendment to 

allow Soldier Canyon /Fort Collins operation of the PVP Guard Gate. 
Attorney question - Change PVP allotment contract to Soldier Canyon Water 
Treatment Authority from Soldier Canyon Filter Plant? 

d. Master Plan - future water demand information – End of September deadline. 
 
 

 
 
 

  
 

The next scheduled Authority Board Meeting is October 5, 2023, at 10:00 a.m. 



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
 Board Meeting  

August 10, 2023 

 
Present at the meeting: 

Board Chairman, Eric Reckentine, NWCWD Manager 

Board Vice Chairman, Chris Pletcher, FCLWD Manager 

Board Treasurer, Mike Scheid, ELCO Manager 

Board Director, Jim Borland, FCLWD Director 

Board Director, Rod Rice, ELCO Director 

Mark Kempton, SCWTA Manager 

Jacob Stephani, SCWTA O & M Superintendent 

Brenda Griffith, SCWTA Office Administrator 

Richard Raines, SCWTA Water Resources Manager 

 
The meeting was called to order at 10:00 a.m. by Board Chairman Eric Reckentine.  
Business Conducted 

1. Minutes from July 13, 2023, Soldier Canyon Water Authority Board Meetings 

Minutes from the July 13, 2023, meeting were presented. Mike Scheid made a motion to approve 

the minutes.  Chris Pletcher seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

2. Financial Update 
Brenda Griffith presented and reviewed with the Authority Board monthly billing records, a review 

of the June 2023 O&M expenses and the financial dashboard. Rod Rice made a motion to 

approve the financial reports.  Jim Borland seconded the motion.  The motion was unanimously 

approved. 

 

3. Managers Update 

Mark Kempton updated the Board on plant flows and water quality, operations, and maintenance, 

PVP and River flows, and projects going on in the plant and at the PVP. 

 

4. Approval of Work Order #2 under existing Professional Services Agreement with HDR for 
“Soldier Canyon Filter Water Treatment Authority 20-year Master Plan” project 
Chris Pletcher made a motion to approve the Work Order #2 with HDR for the Soldier Canyon 20-

year Master Plan project for $133,890.  Rod Rice seconded the motion.  The motion was 

unanimously approved.  

 



Authority Board Minutes 
August 10, 2023 
Page 2  
 

5. Approval of construction contract with Hensel Phelps for Filters 5-8 and the Backup 
Generator 
Chris Pletcher made a motion to approve the Construction Contract with Hensel Phelps for the 

Filters 5-8 and Backup Generator projects for $1.8 million.  Jim Borland seconded the motion.  The 

motion was unanimously approved. 

 

6. Other Business 
a. Follow up on Authority Creation Agreement amendment for PVP Sed Basin and Screen – 

Mark Kempton will make agreed upon changes to the Creation Agreement and send to the 

districts for approval. 

b. Draft 2024 Authority Budget at September Board Meeting – Going forward the districts would 

like to see a draft budget at the August Board meeting with the final presented at the 

September board meeting. 

c. Reminder about September’s Board Meeting – rescheduled for 1 week earlier. 

d. Tri-Districts Meeting /Dinner – Eric requested that the Tri-District dinner be held in early 

October. 

e. October 12th Board Meeting – Eric requested that the October board meeting be held 1 week 

earlier. 

 

7. Adjournment 
Mike Scheid made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Chris Pletcher seconded the motion. 

The motion was unanimously approved, and the meeting was adjourned at 10:40 a.m. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Mark Kempton – Board Secretary, Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 

 

 

Approved by Authority Board 

 

 

 

Eric Reckentine - Board Chairman, Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 



 12:51 PM

 08/28/23

 Accrual Basis

 Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

 Custom Transaction Detail Report
 August 2023

Date Num Name Memo Amount

Aug 23

08/01/2023 Auto pay Silver Peaks Accounting Aug. A/P - Monthly Fee -1,000.00

08/10/2023 6182 Airgas July A/P - Breathing air -65.84

08/10/2023 Auto pay American Heritage Life Ins. Co. July A/P - Voluntary Ins. -195.04

08/10/2023 Pd online Baker Tilly US, LLP July A/P - 2022 Audit -1,262.71

08/10/2023 6183 Brenntag Pacific, Inc. July A/P - Chlorite -31,845.00

08/10/2023 6184 Capital Business Systems July A/P - Lab & Shop Copier -28.53

08/10/2023 6185 CEBT July A/P - Aug. Ins. -23,199.36

08/10/2023 6186 CenturyLink2 July A/P - Phones -66.12

08/10/2023 6187 Chemtrade Chemicals US LLC July A/P - Alum -13,606.52

08/10/2023 6188 Colorado Analytical Samples -977.00

08/10/2023 6189 Cummins Rocky Mountain Inc July A/P - Plant generator service -2,045.00

08/10/2023 6190 Ditesco R & R - Filters 1-4, Filters 5-8, Backup Generator -4,071.45

08/10/2023 6191 DPC Industries, Inc. July A/P - chlorine -17,147.20

08/10/2023 6192 Evoqua Water Technologies July  A/P - Rotameter -307.18

08/10/2023 6193 Frank Parts Company July A/P - Maint. Sup. -91.49

08/10/2023 6194 General Air July A/P - Welding Supplies -504.52

08/10/2023 6195 Grainger Maint./Shop Supplies -3,498.47

08/10/2023 6196 Greystone Technology IT Support, backups, email -3,044.10

08/10/2023 6197 HACH Company July A/P - Lab Sup. -172.90

08/10/2023 6198 Harcros Chemicals Inc Soda Ash -50,690.68

08/10/2023 6199 Jax Inc. Mercantile Company July A/P - Maint. Sup., Uniforms -342.08

08/10/2023 6200 Jim Myers & Sons, Inc. July A/P - Shear Pins -1,415.00

08/10/2023 6201 Laporte Hardware July A/P - Maint. Sup. -188.95

08/10/2023 6202 Larimer County Solid Waste Mgmt July A/P - Plant clean up -405.18

08/10/2023 6203 M&M Control Service July A/P - Filter Console Controls -6,356.54

08/10/2023 6204 Mallory Safety & Supply LLC July A/P - Safety -1,187.41

08/10/2023 6205 McMaster-Carr July A/P - Maint. Sup. -1,055.56

08/10/2023 6206 Municipal Treatment Equipment, Inc. July A/P - Maint. Sup. -1,790.26

08/10/2023 6207 ONEPOINTSYNC July A/P - Phones -220.55

08/10/2023 Pd online Phillips 66 CO/SYNCB July - Fuel -684.05

 Page 1 of 2



 12:51 PM

 08/28/23

 Accrual Basis

 Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

 Custom Transaction Detail Report
 August 2023

Date Num Name Memo Amount

08/10/2023 6208 Poudre Valley COOP Shop Sup., Fuel, Auto -1,132.36

08/10/2023 6209 PT Hose & Bearing July A/P - Maint. Sup. -82.00

08/10/2023 6210 Ryan Herco Maint. Sup. -436.99

08/10/2023 6211 Sam's Club July A/P - Misc Admin/Ops Sup. -445.76

08/10/2023 6212 Seter & Vander Wall, P.C. July A/P - Legal Fees -162.00

08/10/2023 Pd online Shell July A/P - Fuel -295.66

08/10/2023 6213 Solenis LLC Dewatering Chemicals -41,063.64

08/10/2023 6214 Team Petroleum July A/P - Maint. sup. -1,223.31

08/10/2023 6215 The Sherwin Williams CO July A/P - Paint/Supplies -1,834.00

08/10/2023 6216 Thorp Controls July A/P - Support Renewal -11,373.00

08/10/2023 6217 US Bank July A/P - Copier Lease -538.25

08/10/2023 6218 USALCO July A/P - CC2000 -21,847.80

08/10/2023 6219 Verizon Wireless July A/P - Cell phones -456.58

08/10/2023 6220 Wal-Mart Misc Ops Sup. -49.29

08/10/2023 Pd online Xcel Energy June A/P - Electric -4,120.56

08/10/2023 6221 Thorp Controls July A/P - Ops Sup. -705.69

08/10/2023 6222 Ayres Associates Inc July A/P - Munroe System Water Loss Study -13,773.22

08/10/2023 6223 CDPHE Annual Permits -870.00

08/10/2023 6224 Jackson Ditch Company July A/P - 2023 Assessments -6,285.71

08/10/2023 6225 Lyons Gaddis Attorneys & Counselors July A/P - General -532.00

08/17/2023 6226 First National Bank July A/P - Education, Off. Sup., Maint., Uniforms -909.70

08/17/2023 6227 First National Bank Omaha July A/P - Misc,. Auto -79.63

08/17/2023 6228 First National Bank July A/P - Off. Sup. -239.88

08/17/2023 Auto pay Waste Management of No. Colo July A/P - Trash/Recycling -645.91

08/21/2023 pd online Home Depot Aug. A/P - maint. supplies -494.62

08/22/2023 6229 Xylem Water Solutions Aug. A/P - R & R Filters 5-8 -37,958.00

08/28/2023 Pd online Xcel Energy Gas & Elec. -5,552.62

Aug 23 Plant expenses that aren't normal monthly expenses -320,572.87

Chemicals

Renewal & Replacement

Water Resources

 Page 2 of 2



Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 YTD Total Budget % To Budget

Revenue Total 968,282        463,025        464,463        971,141        503,442        501,943        1,058,163    -                     -                     -                     -                    -                     4,930,459     8,154,204     60.47%

Fixed O&M Revenue Total 400,936        400,936        400,936        400,936        400,936        400,936        400,936        2,806,552     4,811,235     58.33%

Variable  O&M Revenue Total 61,794          55,287          58,635          64,235          97,279          95,852          144,565        577,647        1,338,719     43.15%

Renewal and Replacement  Revenue Total 500,999        -                     -                     500,999        -                     -                     500,999        1,502,997     2,004,000     75.00%

Misc./Interest Income 4,553.00 6,802.00 4,892.27 4,971            5,227            5,155            11,663          43,263          250 173.0531

Expenses Total 676,279        418,830        501,775        533,725        494,157        561,876        503,486        -                     -                     -                     -                    -                     3,690,128     7,850,549     47.00%

Fixed O&M Expenses 556,678        379,324        384,955        366,799        285,290        397,403        307,184        2,677,633     4,811,235     55.65%

Variable O&M Expenses 119,601        25,161          95,753          74,094          167,558        124,860        185,874        792,901        1,035,314     76.59%

Energy Expenses 17,248          17,447          14,084          10,321          9,669            9,767            9,673            88,209          105,969        83.24%

Chemical Expenses 102,353        7,714            81,669          63,773          157,888        114,913        176,201        704,511        1,232,750     57.15%

Renewal and Replacement Expenses -                     14,345          21,067          92,832          41,309          39,613          10,428          219,594        2,004,000     10.96%

Reserves

Emergency Reserve Fund Balance end of July 1,701,292     2,436,850    

Minimum Emergency Reserve Target 1,537,489     500,000        

+/- Target 163,803        1,936,850    

Months

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

Renewal and Replacement Fund Balance

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

O&M Fund Balance



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
 

1 
 

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Board Meeting – 
Plant Manager’s Update 

 
Thursday, September 7, 2023 

 
• Fort Collins in preliminary conversations with Northern Water to join the 

Upper Cache la Poudre water quality monitoring program. Would require 
participants approval. 

• HDR performed condition assessment walk through of the Plant on August 
31st. 

• Hensel Phelps mobilizing on October 2nd to begin Generator project. Will 
transition into Filter work in November. 

• Performed PFAs testing of Soldier Canyon finished water on July 18th. Non 
detects for 24 of 26 PFAs. The 2 positive detections were well below 
regulatory limits.  

• Developing an Annual Administrative Resolution for January 2024. 
Authorities typically do not need a Resolution, but the 2017 Creation 
Agreement bestows Title 32 authorities (and responsibilities) to Soldier 
Canyon Water Treatment Authority. 

o The Admin Resolution will also set the proposed and final Budget 
dates.  

o Newspapers to publish notices? 
• Planning for multi-year Annual Program work – Plant-wide air and water line 

replacement, pipe painting, valve replacement. 
• Lot of time spent this month on 2024 Budget, Contracting, and staff 

development. 
• The Plant is running well. Had to go off the PVP for 2 days last week to 

accommodate Northern Water’s PLC replacement. 
 



{KJS0044}  

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
OF  

SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023 2024 - ______01 

ANNUAL ADMINISTRATIVE RESOLUTION 

 

 
 WHEREAS, the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority (the “Authority”) was 
established as a water authority pursuant to the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
Creation Agreement by and among East Larimer County Water District, Fort Collins-Loveland 
Water District, and North Weld County Water District, effective February 1, 2017 (the “IGA”), 
as authorized by § 29-1-204.2, C.R.S.; and 

 WHEREAS, the terms of the IGA require the Authority, in carrying out its purposes, 
shall observe and comply with the statutes and laws applicable to a water district organized and 
operated pursuant to Article 1, Title 32, C.R.S.; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Authority (the “Board”) has a duty to perform 
certain obligations in order to assure the efficient operation of the Authority; and 
 

WHEREAS, the directors may receive compensation for their services subject to the 
limitations imposed by § 32-1-902(3)(a)(I) and (II), C.R.S.; and 
 

WHEREAS, § 32-1-103(15), C.R.S., requires the Board to publish certain legal notices 
in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the Authority is located; and 
 

WHEREAS, § 24-6-402(2)(c), C.R.S., specifies the duty of the Board at its first regular 
meeting of the calendar year to designate a public posting place within the boundaries of the 
Authority for notices of meetings, in addition to any other means of notice; and 

 
WHEREAS, § 32-1-903, C.R.S., states that the Board shall meet regularly at a time and 

in a location to be designated by the Board; and special meetings shall be held as often as the 
needs of the Authority require, and such meetings may be held (A) (1) telephonically; (2) 
electronically; or (3) by other means not including physical presence but must provide a method 
for members of the public to attend the meeting: or (B) at a physical location within the 
boundaries of the Authority or which are within the boundaries of any county in which the 
Authority is located, or, in any county so long as the meeting location does not exceed twenty 
miles from the Authority’s boundaries, unless an appropriate resolution to hold the meeting in 
another location is adopted by the Board and notice appears on the meeting agenda; and 
 

WHEREAS, § 32-1-903(2), C.R.S., requires that notice of the time and place designated 
for all regular and special meetings shall be in accordance with § 24-6-402, C.R.S., on a website 
or other online presence of the Authority which complies with the statutory criteria, or at a 



{KJS0044}  

physical posting location as designated by the Board and within the limits of the Authority at 
least 24 hours prior to said meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, the Board is 
given authority to obtain insurance against liability for injuries for which the Authority may be 
liable under the Governmental Immunity Act, pursuant to § 24-10-115, C.R.S.; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the IGA requires the Treasurer and any other officer, employee, or agent of 
the Authority charged with the responsibility for the custody of any funds or property to give a 
bond in such sum and with such surety, if any, as the Board determines; and 

WHEREAS, § 32-1-104.8, C.R.S., requires the Authority to record a special district 
public disclosure document and a map of the boundaries of the Authority with the County Clerk 
and Recorder of each county in which the Authority is located, and at any time thereafter that an 
order confirming the inclusion of property into the Authority is recorded; and 
 

WHEREAS, § 32-1-306, C.R.S. requires the Authority to file a current, accurate map of 
its boundaries with the Division of Local Government, the County Clerk and Recorder and the 
County Assessor on or before January 1 of each year; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Local Government Budget Law of Colorado, §§ 29-1-101, et seq., 
C.R.S., requires the Board to hold a public hearing on proposed budgets and amendments thereto, 
to adopt budgets, and to file copies of the budgets and amendments thereto; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Public Securities Information Reporting Act, §§ 11- 
58-101, et seq., C.R.S., issuers of non-rated public securities must file an annual report with the 
Department of Local Affairs; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with § 29-1-604(1), C.R.S., if expenditures and revenues of 
the Authority is not in excess of $100,000, the Authority may file an exemption from audit with 
the State auditor; or, in accordance with § 29-1-604(2), C.R.S., if expenditures and revenues of 
the Authority is at least $100,000 but not more than $750,000 the Authority may, with the 
approval of the State Auditor, file an exemption from audit with the State Auditor, or in 
accordance with § 29-1-603, C.R.S., the governing body of the Authority shall cause to be made 
an annual audit of the financial statements for each fiscal year; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Unclaimed Property Act, §§ 38-13-101, et seq., C.R.S., requires that 
governmental subdivisions, if applicable, file an annual report listing unclaimed property with 
the State Treasurer; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Authority’s directors are governed by § 32-1-902(3), C.R.S., which 
requires such director to disqualify himself or herself from voting on an issue in which he or she 
has a conflict of interest unless the director has properly disclosed such conflict in compliance 
with law, and by the provisions of the Colorado Code of Ethics, §§ 24-18-101, et seq., C.R.S, 
which provide rules of conduct concerning public officials and their fiduciary duties; and 
 



{KJS0044}  

WHEREAS, the IGA requires the Board to elect officers, including a Chair, a Vice-Chair, 
a Treasurer, and a Secretary; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the IGA, the Board has the power and responsibility 

to delegate powers and responsibilities to the Authority Manager to oversee and manage business 
and affairs of the Authority; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint legal counsel for the Authority to assist with 
providing legal services and to assist with the operation of the Authority; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint an accountant for the Authority to assist with 
providing financial services and to assist with the financial operations of the Authority, and who 
shall also be designated as the budget officer required to prepare and submit to the Board a 
proposed Authority budget by October 15, pursuant to §§ 29-1-104 and 29-1-103(3)(d), C.R.S.; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the IGA requires the Board to keep records of the Authority’s proceedings 

and comply with open records laws, including § 24-72-201, et seq., C.R.S.; 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to § 29-1-205, C.R.S., the Authority must prepare and file with the 

Division, within thirty (30) days of a written request from the Division, an informational listing 
of all contracts in effect with other political subdivisions. 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 24-71.3-101, et seq. C.R.S., The Uniform Electronic 
Transaction Act, parties may agree to conduct transactions by electronic means relating to 
business, commercial and governmental affairs, and that for all documents covered by the Act, 
if a law requires a record to be in writing, an electronic record satisfies the law; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. The Board determines that each director serving a term of office shall [not] 
receive compensation [of $XX] for services as director. 

 
2. The Board designates the [name of newspaper] Fort Collins Coloradoan as the 

newspaper of general circulation within the county of the Authority, andAuthority and directs 
the Authority Manager to publish and/or physically post legal notices in accordance with the 
terms of the IGA and applicable statutes. The Board designates 4424 Laporte Avenue, Fort 
Collins, Colorado as the location the Authority will post notices of meetings.  

 
3. The Board determines to hold regular meetings at 10:00 a.m. on the second 

Thursday of each month at the Soldier Canyon Filter Plant located at 4424 Laporte Avenue, Fort 
Collins, Colorado 80521 and/or by audioconference/teleconference. 

 
4. The Boards direct legal counsel to obtain and maintain insurance for the 

Authority, to insure the Directors acting within the scope of employment by the Board against 
all or any part of such liability for an injury; to insure against the expense of defending a claim 

Commented [KS1]: Mark: the board should choose to be 
compensated or not to be compensated. 

Commented [MK2]: Get compensation from Brenda 

Commented [MK3]: Need another paper to represent 
North Weld? Greeley Tribune? 



{KJS0044}  

for injury against the Authority or its Board. The Board directs the Authority’s accountant to 
pay the annual SDA membership dues, agency fees and insurance premiums, as applicable, in a 
timely manner. Additionally, the Board directs legal counsel to obtain bonds or equivalent 
insurance coverage for specific individuals as required by the Board and in the amounts specified 
by the Board, as necessary. 

 
5. The Board directs legal counsel to file the Special District Public Disclosure 

Document and map with Larimer County Clerk and Recorder any time that the Authority records 
an Order of Inclusion with the County Clerk and Recorder. 

 
6. The Board directs legal counsel to file an accurate boundary map with the 

Division of Local Government, the Larimer Clerk and Recorder and County Assessor, as may 
be required by statute. 

 
7. The Board designates the accountant to serve as the budget officer, and to submit 

a proposed budget to the Board by October 15 for the following year, and, in cooperation with 
legal counsel, to schedule a public hearing on the proposed budget; to prepare a final budget, 
budget resolutions and amendments to the budget, if necessary; and to file the approved budgets 
and amendments thereto with the proper governmental entities in accordance with the Local 
Government Budget Law of Colorado. 

8. The Board directs legal counsel to prepare and file the annual public securities 
report for nonrated public securities issued by the Authority, with the Department of Local 
Affairs on or before March 1. 

9. The Board directs the auditor to prepare or cause to be prepared for filing with 
the State Auditor either an Audit Exemption and Resolution for approval of Audit Exemption 
for the prior fiscal year by March 31; or an audit of the financial statements by June 30; further, 
the Board directs that the Audit be filed with the State Auditor by July 31. 

10. The Board directs the Authority’s Manager to prepare and file with the Division, 
within thirty (30) days of a written request from the Division, an informational listing of all 
contracts in effect with other political subdivisions. 

11. The Board directs legal counsel to prepare the Unclaimed Property Act report as 
needed and forward the report to the State Treasurer by November 1. 

12. The Authority hereby acknowledges, in accordance with the IGA, the following 
officers for the Authority: 

Chairman of the Board:  [name] 
Vice-Chair of the Board:  [name] 
Treasurer of the Board:   [name] 
Secretary of the Board:  [nameMark Kempton] 

13. The Board directs legal counsel to file conflict of interest disclosures provided 
by Board members with the Secretary of State 72 hours prior to firstthe first meeting of the 
Board and thereafter as directed by Board member(s). In addition, written disclosures provided 

Commented [KS4]: The boundaries are only the plant 
area; but, this is what the law requires.  

Formatted: Highlight

Commented [MK5]: Authority Manager? 

Commented [MK6]: Check Resolutions to see who the 
Budget Officer is 

Formatted: Highlight
Commented [MK7]: August 15??? 



{KJS0044}  

by Board members required to be filed with the governing body in accordance with § 18-8-308, 
C.R.S., shall be deemed filed with the Board when filed with the Secretary of State. 

14. In accordance with §8-13.3-202, et seq., C.R.S., the Board directs the Authority 
Manager to bring the matter of revisiting the Board’s previous decision to decline participation 
in the Family and Medical Leave Insurance Act before a future Board by no later than eight 
years from the date of the vote on such resolution. 

15. The Board reaffirms those powers and responsibilities previously delegated to 
the Authority Manager, including managing all personnel of the Authority, entering into 
contracts, and expending funds. 

16. The Board appoints the Authority Manager as the official custodian for the 
maintenance, care and keeping of all public records of the Authority.  

17. The Board appoints the law firm of Seter & Vander Wall, P.C. as legal counsel 
for the Authority. 

18. The Board appoints the firm of [name of accountant]Silver Peaks Accounting 
Services to serve as the Authority’s accountant and to provide accounting services for the 
Authority. 

19. The Board appoints the firm of Baker Tilly US, LLP to serve as the Authority’s 
auditor. 

20. The Board authorizes its consultants to conduct transactions by electronic means 
to the extent allowed by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. 

 
Whereupon, the motion was seconded, and unanimously carried, the resolution was 

adopted presented. 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this [date], by the Board of Directors of the Soldier 
Canyon Water Treatment Authority. 

 

 

SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
___________________________________ 
District PresidentAuthority Chairman 

Commented [MK8]: Add to Antero 



{KJS0044}  

Attest:  
  
  
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  
 

Formatted Table



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 1 of 50 

MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT  

TASK ORDER TYPE 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS  

 
THIS MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made as of this 7th day of 

September, 2023, by and between Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority, , located in the County 
of Larimer with a mailing address of 4424 Laporte Avenue, Fort Collins, CO 80521 (“Authority”), and 
Hensel Phelps, a Colorado corporation, with a mailing address of 77 NW Frontage Road, Fort Collins, 
CO, 80524, (“Contractor” and together with Authority, the “Parties” or either of the Parties, a “Party”). 

In consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations herein expressed, it is agreed by and 
between the Parties hereto as follows: 

1. Services to be Performed. 

a. No services shall be provided by the Contractor as a result of entering into this 
Agreement alone. Any and all services to be provided by the Contractor shall be set forth in individual 
Task Orders, as further described in Section 1.c. below, except in emergency circumstances where oral 
work requests may be issued. Oral requests for emergency services will be confirmed by issuance of a 
written Task Order within two (2) working days. By entering into this Agreement, the Authority makes no 
guarantees or representations as to the number of Task Orders that may be issued or the actual number 
of services which will in fact be requested, if any.  

b. The conditions set forth herein shall apply to all services performed by the 
Contractor on behalf of the Authority. Such services shall be more particularly described in Task Orders 
agreed upon in writing by the Parties from time to time. The form of Task Order attached hereto as 
Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference, consisting of two (2) pages, shall be used for non-
construction services. The form of Task Order attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by 
this reference, consisting of twenty-six (26) pages, shall be used for construction services. Each Task 
Order shall include a description of the services to be performed, the location and time for performance, 
the amount of payment, any materials to be supplied by the Authority and any other special circumstances 
relating to the performance of services. Scopes of services will be attached to each subsequent Work 
Order as Exhibit E. 

c. With respect to any construction Task Orders, Contractor shall perform all work as 
specified or indicated in the Contract Documents, including furnishing all construction plans and methods, 
construction management, labor, equipment, and materials (generally referred to as the “Project”), and 
shall complete the Project, including any additional work authorized pursuant to Sections 1.e. and 8 
below, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Task Order, and the Contract Documents.  

d. Irrespective of references in each Task Order to certain named subcontractors 
and/or subconsultants, the Contractor shall be solely responsible for performance of all duties hereunder. 

e. The Authority may, at any time during the term of a particular Task Order and 
without invalidating such Task Order, make changes to the scope of the particular services. Such 
changes shall be agreed upon in writing by the Parties in a Change Order in the form attached hereto in 
Section 00950, consisting of one (1) page, and incorporated herein by this reference. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 2 of 50 

2. Contract Sum. No compensation shall be paid by the Authority as a result of entering into 
this Agreement alone.  The actual amount of compensation to be paid for services performed will be 
stated on the individual Task Orders.  

3. Project Cost. 

a. The Contractor in collaboration with the Authority will prepare a Scope of Services 
and detailed cost estimate for each Task Order. The Task Order will include a detailed Scope of Services, 
project schedule, deliverables, number of hours, cost detail supporting total cost including hourly rates, 
personnel details, materials, subcontractors, fee schedules and expenses. Cost factors outlined in the 
Task Order will be based on the hourly rates and cost factors in Exhibit F, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference. However, final pricing for each Task Order will be established 
utilizing the general process outlined below in this Section 3.  

b. Unless otherwise provided in a Task Order, the Contract Price for construction 
services shall equal the Cost of the Work plus a Fixed Fee, which shall be paid by the Authority in 
accordance with the Contract Documents, in current funds. 

c. Unless otherwise provided in a Task Order, compensation for non-construction 
services shall be based on an hourly fee to be charged for time attributed to each task.  Reasonable 
costs incurred by the Contractor as a direct result of providing the services, such as travel, reproduction, 
communication, and outside services, will be reimbursed by the Authority at cost, unless otherwise 
provided in the Task Order.  

d. The Authority shall provide no benefits to the Contractor other than the 
compensation stated in the applicable Task Order.   

e. The hourly rates stated in Exhibit F will be firm for the initial year of the Agreement. 
The hourly rates are subject to negotiation and adjustment annually. On an annual basis, ninety (90) days 
prior to the anniversary date of the Agreement or upon submittal of a new Task Order, the Contractor 
shall have the opportunity to propose changes to the hourly rates based on local and regional pricing 
indices. The Parties shall negotiate any changes to the rates in good faith. Any changes to the hourly 
rates in Exhibit F must be agreed upon, in advance, in writing by the Parties. 

f. Each Task Order greater than $300,000 may be evaluated utilizing an Independent 
Cost Estimate (“ICE”) to assist in determining the reasonableness of the costs. In addition, at the 
Authority’s discretion, an ICE may be performed at critical milestones during the Project, regardless of 
the dollar amount. The ICE will be performed by a third-party ICE consultant selected by the Authority. 

g. Throughout the Project, all cost estimating will be performed on an ‘open book’ 
basis with complete transparency as to the Contractor’s costs. 

h. During the term of this Agreement and for a period of three (3) years after Final 
Acceptance of a Project, the Authority and/or Authority’s representative shall be afforded access to, and 
the right to audit from time-to-time, upon reasonable notice, Contractor’s records, financial books, 
receipts, subcontracts, purchase orders, and other documentation related to the Project. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 3 of 50 

4. Contract Period.  This Agreement shall commence September 7, 2023, and shall 
continue in full force and effect until December 31, 2027, unless sooner terminated as herein provided. 
The Parties will endeavor to review and discuss the Contractor’s and its subcontractor's performance at 
least annually on or about the anniversary date of the Agreement, but failure to do so shall not be a 
breach of this Agreement.  

5. Payments and Retainage.   

a. Construction Task Orders. 

1. For construction Task Orders in excess of $150,000, an amount equal to 
five percent (5%) of each progress payment made on the Contract Price shall be 
retained by the Authority.  The Authority shall pay the remaining amount of each 
progress payment to the Contractor without retaining additional funds if, in the 
opinion of Project Manager and Authority, satisfactory progress is being made on 
the Project.  Such retainage of the Contract Price shall be held by the Authority 
until the Project is completed and finally accepted by the Authority in accordance 
with the provisions hereof.  The Authority shall pay the full amount of such 
retainage to the Contractor within sixty (60) days of final completion and 
acceptance, except to the extent of any claims filed pursuant to Section 38-26-107, 
C.R.S.  Any release of retainage to Contractor or a subcontractor prior to final 
payment shall, in addition to any other requirements of the Contract Documents, 
require written approval from the surety furnishing bonds pursuant to Section 23. 

2. The Contractor will submit invoices monthly for services performed. Each 
invoice for construction Task Orders shall be accompanied by a completed 
Application for Payment (the “Application for Payment”) in the form attached as 
Section 00960 and incorporated herein by this reference.   

3. Payment shall be made by the Authority upon review of the services and 
corresponding supporting documentation provided by the Contractor to 
substantiate the expense to the Authority’s reasonable satisfaction. Such 
documentation will include subcontractor invoices, material invoices, evidence of 
material receipts, and detailed cost break-down for self- performed work. Final 
payment and release of retainage will be on a Task Order basis subject to the 
requirements of Section 6 below and the General Conditions. 

4. Payment of undisputed Applications for Payment and invoices shall be 
made by the Authority within thirty (30) days of receipt of each invoice. All invoices 
shall be emailed to Invoices @soldiercanyon.com with a copy to the Authority 
Project Manager. 

b. Non-Construction Task Orders. 

1. The Contractor will submit invoices monthly for services performed. All 
invoices shall be emailed to Invoices @soldiercanyon.com with a copy to the 

mailto:%20Invoices%20@soldiercanyon.com
mailto:%20Invoices%20@soldiercanyon.com


CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 4 of 50 

Authority Project Manager. 

2. Payment of invoices shall be made by the Authority within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of each invoice, subject to Section 5.b.4. below.  

3. No partial payment made by the Authority shall be considered final 
acceptance or approval of that part of the Scope of Services paid for or shall relieve 
the Contractor of any of its obligations under this Agreement.   

4. Notwithstanding any other terms of this Agreement or any Task Orders, the 
Authority may withhold any payment (whether a progress payment or final 
payment) for to the Contractor if any one or more of the following conditions exists: 

i. The Contractor is in default of any of its obligations under this Agreement, 
including without limitation the obligation to maintain insurance and provide 
Certificates of Insurance to the Authority in accordance with Section 23. 

ii. Any part of such payment is attributable to services that are not performed in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the applicable Task Order. 
The Authority will pay for any portion of the services performed in 
conformance with this Agreement and such Task Order. 

iii. The Contractor has failed to make payments promptly to any third party used 
to perform any portion of the services hereunder, subject to Section 15, for 
which the Authority has made payments to the Contractor. 

6. Substantial Completion and Final Payment & Acceptance. Each construction Task 
Order shall define the Contract Times, including the number of days or dates for the work of that Task 
Order to be Substantially Complete, as provided in the General Conditions, and completed and ready for 
Final Payment and Acceptance in accordance with the General Conditions. 

a. Upon completion of the Project and Contractor’s submittal of notice thereof to 
Project Manager and Authority, Project Manager shall inspect the Project and reject any portion of 
performance not in conformity with the Contract Documents.  Defective materials, equipment or work 
shall be remedied immediately by Contractor before final payment.  Authority shall make final payment 
to Contractor within thirty (30) days after (i) final acceptance of performance by Authority as specified in 
this Section 6 and (ii) receipt of Project Manager’s confirmation to Authority that the Project has been 
completed satisfactorily.  Final payment shall not, however, be due until Contractor has delivered to 
Authority a complete release of all claims or liens against the Project and has produced satisfactory 
receipts, waivers or lien releases indicating final and total payment to all subcontractors and persons who 
have furnished materials, labor, and equipment on which a lien or claim might potentially be filed in form 
acceptable to Authority.  The Authority shall, no later than ten (10) days before final payment is made, 
publish a notice of final payment at least twice in a legal newspaper of general circulation in any county 
where the work was contracted for or performed pursuant to Section 38-26-107, C.R.S. 

b. By making final payment, Authority waives all claims against Contractor, except 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 5 of 50 

those expressly declared to Contractor in writing or those arising out of:  (i) defective performance 
appearing after final acceptance; (ii) performance in patent noncompliance with Contract Documents, 
unless expressly waived by Authority; (iii) outstanding claims of any nature, including but not limited to 
claims for property damage or personal injury arising during the construction period or liens or claims 
against the Project; or (iv) Contractor’s failure to execute any warranty, guarantee or bond or to provide 
insurance or other indemnification required by the Contract Documents.  By accepting final payment, 
Contractor waives all claims against Authority, except those expressly declared to Authority in writing 
received by Authority prior to final payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor shall work with 
the Authority in good faith to resolve any claims it may have prior to final payment being made. 

c. Final acceptance of the Project shall follow inspection and approval of Contractor’s 
performance by Project Manager, along with inspection by appropriate manufacturers’ representatives 
and governmental officials pursuant to local, State and federal requirements as necessary.  Authority 
shall have the right to determine the acceptability of Contractor’s performance and conformance with the 
Contract Documents, which determination shall be conclusive and binding upon Contractor.  Final 
acceptance by the Authority is subject to the provisions of this Section 6 and in no manner affects or 
releases any warranty or guarantee with Contractor or manufacturers or suppliers of Project equipment 
or materials. 

d. When presented for final acceptance, the Project shall be delivered to the Authority 
in complete compliance with the Contract Documents free from any lien, claim or encumbrance, whether 
in existence or subsequently established by law, statute, ordinance or otherwise.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing in the Contract Documents shall give Contractor or any subcontractor, laborer, 
supplier, manufacturer or other person or entity, either expressly or by implication, any right to assert a 
lien, claim or encumbrance against the Project.  

7. Liquidated Damages. Liquidated damages will not be assessed under this agreement. 

8. Appropriations for Construction Task Orders; Change Orders.  Any and all 
construction Task Orders are subject to Section 24-91-103.6, C.R.S., and in accordance therewith: 

a. Authority represents that it has appropriated money equal to or in excess of the 
Contract Price for the work as specified in the Task Orders. 

b. Authority shall not issue any Change Order or other directive (other than a 
clarification) requiring additional compensable work to be performed that will cause the aggregate amount 
payable under this Agreement to exceed the amount appropriated for the original Contract Price and any 
subsequent appropriations, unless: 

1. Contractor is given written assurance by Authority that lawful 
appropriations to cover the costs of the additional work have been made and are 
available prior to performance of the additional work; or 

2. Such additional work is covered by the following remedy-granting provision: 
Contractor may request, in writing, a letter from Authority explaining the expected 
sources of funding for the additional work.  In the event Authority does not provide 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 6 of 50 

such written assurance reasonably satisfactory to Contractor within five (5) days 
of Contractor’s request, Contractor may stop work until such time as Authority 
provides satisfactory assurances.  Contractor’s acceptance of a Change Order in 
accordance with any assurances provided under this paragraph shall not limit or 
restrict Contractor from making a claim under the Contract Documents for an 
adjustment in the Contract Price or the Performance Deadlines or otherwise for 
expenses or damages directly attributable to Contractor’s stoppage of the work as 
permitted hereunder.   

c. For any Change Order or other directive (other than a clarification) that requires 
additional compensable work to be performed, Authority shall reimburse Contractor for Contractor’s costs 
on the periodic basis set forth in the Contract Documents for all additional directed work performed until 
the Change Order is finalized.  In no instance shall the periodic reimbursement be required before 
Contractor has submitted an estimate of cost to Authority for the additional compensable work to be 
performed. 

9. Annual Appropriation for Non-Construction Task Orders.  The Authority’s obligations 
hereunder with respect to non-construction Task Orders are subject to the annual appropriation of funds 
necessary for the performance thereof, which appropriations shall be made in the sole discretion of the 
Authority’s Board of Directors. 

10. Delay. Delays shall be in accordance with Section 00700 of the General Conditions, 
Article 11 Change of Contract Times. 

11. Default. Authority may give written notice of grounds for default to Contractor at any time 
if:  (i) Contractor fails to perform in an adequate or specified manner or proceeds in willful violation of the 
Contract Documents or terms of this Agreement, as determined by Project Manager or Authority; 
(ii) Project Manager advises Authority that performance of work on the Project is being delayed 
unnecessarily or that Contractor is executing its responsibilities in bad faith or contrary to the intent of 
this Agreement; (iii) performance is not fully completed within the period of time specified for completion 
under the Task Order; (iv) work to be performed by Contractor is assigned without Authority’s consent; 
(v) Contractor is insolvent or files for bankruptcy; (vi) Contractor makes a general assignment of assets 
for the benefit of creditors; (vii) a receiver is appointed for Contractor; or (viii) other serious and 
reasonable cause exists which jeopardizes completion of the Project.  If Contractor does not remedy or 
otherwise correct the grounds for default within such period of time as specified by the Authority, the 
Authority may terminate this Agreement and direct Contractor to discontinue any further work on the 
Project, and Contractor shall immediately stop all work on the Project and forfeit all rights under this 
Agreement.  The Authority, in its discretion, may complete the Project, or may request the surety of 
Contractor to complete the Project, or may contract with others to complete the Project at the expense of 
Contractor and its surety.  Any increase in costs over the Contract Price and any actual and/or special 
damages incurred by Authority as a consequence of such default, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
shall be paid, and satisfied in full by Contractor and its surety. 

12. Termination.  At any time, Authority may, without cause and without prejudice to any 
other right or remedy hereunder, elect to terminate this Agreement.  In such an event, the Authority shall 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 7 of 50 

give written notice of Project termination to Contractor at least five (5) days in advance of the Project 
termination date.  Such notice may include specific instructions as to work to be completed and other 
winding-up matters.  In the absence of any contrary instructions, Contractor shall place no further orders 
or subcontracts, shall terminate all orders and subcontracts to the extent they relate to terminated work, 
and shall stop work on the date and in accordance with directions specified in the notice.  Contractor 
shall cooperate with Authority to transfer all of Contractor’s rights and interests in any orders, 
subcontracts or work as directed by Authority.  Authority shall pay Contractor for the performance of all 
work through the Project termination date and for such additional amounts as, in the opinion of Project 
Manager, are reasonable to compensate Contractor for the termination of this Agreement. Final payment 
to Contractor shall be made in accordance with Section 6. 

13. Authority Representative/Project Manager.  Official authority for the administration of 
all performance under this Agreement is hereby delegated to the Authority’s “Project Manager,” as 
identified in the Task Order. Throughout the construction period, Project Manager, or such other duly 
authorized representative of Authority, may inspect the Project and shall consult with Contractor in regard 
to any inquiries, directions, or interpretations of the Contract Documents. 

14. Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Other. Contractor shall state all major subcontractors, 
suppliers, and other individuals or entities to be engaged to work on the Project in the applicable Task 
Order, which are subject to the Authority’s reasonable acceptance.  Contractor shall not substitute any 
subcontractor, supplier, or other individual or entity previously accepted by the Authority without the 
Authority’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.  The Authority’s acceptance 
of any such subcontractor, supplier, or other individual or entity so identified may be withheld or revoked 
on the basis of reasonable objection after due investigation.  In such event, Contractor shall submit an 
acceptable replacement for the rejected subcontractor, supplier, or other individual or entity, and the 
Contract Price may be adjusted by any reasonable difference in the cost occasioned by such 
replacement, and an appropriate Change Order will be issued.  No acceptance by Authority of any such 
subcontractor, supplier, or other individual or entity, whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute 
a waiver of any right of Authority or Project Manager to reject defective work.  All contracts between 
Contractor and subcontractors shall conform explicitly to all applicable provisions of this Agreement and 
the Contract Documents.  Contractor shall be responsible and held liable for any bonding, insurance, 
warranties, indemnities, progress payments and completion of performance of or to such subcontractors, 
suppliers, or other individuals or entities.  Upon receipt of progress and final payments from the Authority, 
Contractor shall disburse the same immediately to subcontractors, suppliers, and other individuals and 
entities without any requirement of Authority to supervise the same.  No contractual relationship shall 
exist between Authority and any subcontractor, supplier, or other individual or entity because of the 
subcontracting of any part of the Project work. 

15. Assignment.  Contractor shall not, at any time, assign any interest in this Agreement to 
any person or entity without the prior written consent of the Authority.  The terms of this Agreement shall 
inure to and be binding upon any successors and assigns of the Parties. 

16. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  The Parties to this Agreement do not intend to extend any 
benefits to any person, not a Party to this Agreement.  No person or entity, other than the Parties to this 
Agreement, shall have any rights, legal or equitable, to enforce or rely on any provision of this Agreement.   



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 8 of 50 

17. Warranty and Guarantee. Contractor hereby represents, warrants, and guarantees to 
Authority all workmanship, equipment, and materials on or made a part of the Project and its structures 
for a period of 1.) the original manufacturer’s warranty on equipment and materials; and 2.) two (2) years 
following Final Completion of the Project for workmanship.  Such warranty and guarantee shall be 
construed to include, but is not limited to, representations that all workmanship, equipment, and materials 
are of good quality, free from any defects or irregularities, and in strict conformity with the Contract 
Documents.   

a. If any defect in workmanship, Contractor shall remedy or otherwise correct such 
defect without cost to Authority within such reasonable period of time as specified by Authority in writing.  
If Contractor fails to repair such defects within such period of time as is specified by Authority, Authority 
may repair such defect or contract for such repairs at the expense of Contractor and its surety.  

b.  If any defect in equipment or material arises, Contractor shall remedy or otherwise 
correct such defect in collaboration with the Project team. If correction of the defect necessitates 
expenditure of funds by the Authority, it shall be processed as a Change Order subject to Authority 
approval. The performance bond specified in Section 24 shall remain in full force and effect during the 
period of this warranty and guarantee, including any period necessary to remedy or otherwise correct 
any defects.  Contractor shall provide such warranty and guarantee on Authority’s behalf separate and 
apart from other warranties, guarantees and surety agreements entered into independently between 
Authority and any manufacturer or supplier. 

18. Waiver.  No waiver by either Party of any right, term or condition of this Agreement shall 
be deemed or construed as a waiver of any other right, term or condition, nor shall a waiver of any breach 
hereof be deemed to constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach, whether of the same or of a different 
provision of this Agreement. 

19. Remedies.  None of the remedies provided to either Party under this Agreement shall be 
required to be exhausted or exercised as a prerequisite to resort to any further relief to which such Party 
may then be entitled.  Every obligation assumed by, or imposed upon, either Party shall be enforceable 
by any appropriate action, petition or proceeding at law or in equity, including specific performance. If the 
Authority does not pursue a particular remedy contemporaneously with a default and/or any other issue 
that may arise, the Authority does not waive the right to pursue the remedy at a later date. 

20. Binding Effect. This writing, together with the exhibits and attachments hereto, 
constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and shall be binding upon said Parties, their 
officers, employees, agents and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the respective survivors, heirs, 
personal representative, successors and assigns of said Parties. 

21. Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended, from time to time, by agreement 
between the Parties.  No amendment, modification or alteration of this Agreement shall be binding upon 
the Parties unless the same is in writing and approved by the duly authorized representatives of each 
Party.  No document executed subsequent to this Agreement shall be interpreted to amend, modify or 
alter the terms of this Agreement, unless express reference to amending the terms of this Agreement is 
made in such document.   



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 9 of 50 

22. Indemnification; No Waiver of Liability or Immunity. Contractor agrees to indemnify, 
defend, and hold harmless the Authority and its officers, directors, employees, agents, 
engineers/architects and attorneys from all costs, claims, damages, judgments, losses, liability, and 
expenses of every nature, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, arising at any time from any act or 
omission of the Contractor, its agents, representatives, subcontractors, or suppliers.  Contractor shall 
upon request of the Authority promptly assume the defense, with defense counsel of Authority’s choice 
and at Contractor’s sole expense, of any claim, action, proceeding or suit that is brought against the 
Authority arising from any act or omission of the Contractor, its agents, representatives, subcontractors, 
or suppliers.  If other persons and/or entities, excluding the Authority and its officers, directors, 
employees, agents, engineers, architects, and attorneys, at fault exist, Contractor agrees to work in good 
faith with such persons and/or entities in determining how the Authority’s defense costs shall be covered, 
but under no circumstances shall the Authority be responsible for those costs.  Contractor further agrees 
that, to the extent applicable, indemnification shall only be to the extent and for an amount represented 
by the degree or percentage of negligence or fault attributable to the Contractor or its agents, 
representatives, subcontractors, or suppliers. The extent of the Contractor’s obligation to indemnify the 
Authority and its officers, directors, employees, agents, engineers/architects, and attorneys may be 
determined only after the Contractor’s liability or fault has been determined by adjudication, alternative 
dispute resolution, or otherwise resolved by mutual agreement of the Parties. Contractor’s obligations 
under this Section shall be to the fullest extent permitted by law and shall survive termination or expiration 
of this Agreement. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to require any indemnification that would 
make this provision void or unenforceable or to eliminate or reduce the indemnification or rights which 
the Authority has by law. 

Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Agreement or a Task Order, the Authority does not 
agree to defend, indemnify, or hold harmless the Contractor or waive or limit its rights and/or claims in 
any respect regarding the Contractor’s liability (either by type of liability or amount).  Authority is relying 
on and does not waive or intend to waive by any provision of this Agreement, the monetary limitations or 
any other rights, immunities, defenses, and protections provided by the Colorado Governmental Immunity 
Act, § 24-10-101 et seq., C.R.S., as from time to time amended, or otherwise available to the Authority 
or its officers or employees.   

23. Insurance.  

a. During the term of this Agreement, Contractor shall purchase and maintain, at its 
own cost and expense, the following: 

b. Workers’ compensation insurance for its employees, if any, as required by 
Colorado law with limits of at least $500,000 per injury or illness an employee suffers as a result of 
providing the services hereunder, with a $500,000 aggregate per occurrence; 

c. Employer’s liability insurance with limits of at least $500,000 per 
employee/accident and $1,000,000 aggregate; 

d. Commercial general liability insurance covering, without limitation, premises 
operations, products-completed operations, contractual liability insuring the obligations assumed by the 
Contractor under this Agreement, personal and advertising injury, and broad form property damage, with 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 10 of 50 

limits of at least $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, death or damage to property; $2,000,000 
per occurrence for personal and advertising injury; $2,000,000 products-completed operations 
aggregate; and $2,000,000 general aggregate; 

e. Automobile liability insurance covering all owned, hired and non-owned vehicles 
used in the performance of the work under this Agreement with a limit of at least $2,000,000 combined 
per accident for bodily injury and property damage; 

f. For above ground construction Task Orders, unless otherwise set forth therein, 
builder’s risk insurance for protection against damage, explosion, fire, vandalism, theft, and other dangers 
ordinarily included under such coverage, including loss of use resulting therefrom, to the full insurable 
value of all property, structures, equipment, and material of the Authority within the Contractor’s control, 
designating Authority as “loss payee” thereunder; and 

g. The insurance required herein may be satisfied through any combination of 
primary and excess/umbrella liability policies. 

h. The insurance required herein shall be written by an insurance company or 
companies that (i) have an A.M. Best Company rating of “A-VII” or better, and (ii) are authorized to issue 
insurance in the State of Colorado. 

i. The Authority, its directors, officers, employees, Project Manager, and any 
additional entities expressly identified in the Task Order shall be endorsed as “Additional Insureds” under 
the (i) commercial general liability insurance policy for both ongoing and completed performance and/or 
operations for a period of two (2) years, and (ii) automobile liability policy.   

j. The Contractor shall provide a waiver of subrogation endorsement, or its 
equivalent, under the (i) workers’ compensation; (ii) commercial general liability; and (iii) automobile 
liability insurance policies in favor of the Authority, its directors, officers, agents, and employees. 

k.  All liability insurance policies shall provide that the required coverage shall be 
primary and non-contributory to other insurance available to the Authority and its directors, officers, 
agents, and employees. Any insurance maintained by the Authority and its directors, officers, agents, 
and employees shall be excess of and shall not contribute with the Contractor’s insurance.   

l.  Prior to commencement of work under any Task Order, Contractor shall provide 
certificates of insurance satisfactory to the Authority that clearly evidence all insurance coverages 
required herein, including but not limited to endorsements (individually and collectively, “Certificates of 
Insurance”).  Contractor agrees that, until the Authority is supplied with Certificates of Insurance, no 
payment under this Agreement will be made by the Authority.  Contractor will provide the Authority with 
updated Certificates of Insurance within ten (10) calendar days of the anniversary of the effective date of 
coverage should that date fall during the term of this Agreement.   Failure of the Authority to require 
Certificates of Insurance or to identify a deficiency in coverage shall not relieve the Contractor from its 
responsibility to provide the specific insurance coverages set forth herein. 

m.  In the event any portion of the work is performed by a subcontractor, the 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 11 of 50 

Contractor shall be responsible for any liability directly or indirectly arising out of such work, which liability 
is not covered by the subcontractor's insurance policies. 

n. The insurance policies afforded hereunder shall not be cancelled or allowed to 
expire unless at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice has been delivered to the Authority, except in 
the event of cancellation due to non-payment of a premium, in which case notice shall be given to the 
Authority no later than ten (10) days prior to cancellation of the policy.  Upon receipt of any notice of 
cancellation or non-renewal, the Contractor shall, within five (5) days, procure other policies of insurance 
as necessary to comply with this Section 23 and provide Certificates of Insurance evidencing the same 
to the Authority.   

24. Performance, Payment and Warranty Bond.  Per each individual construction Task 
Order and prior to commencement of performance on such Task Order, Contractor shall provide to 
Authority a general performance, payment and warranty bond executed by Contractor and an acceptable 
corporate surety, or collateral approved by Authority, in the full amount of the Contract Price, including 
provisions for any adjustment of the Contract Price in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  Such 
bond shall expressly guarantee: (i) faithful performance of this Agreement and completion of the Project 
in complete compliance with the Contract Documents; (ii) repair and replacement, if required, or payment 
of the costs of all defective equipment, materials and work performed on the Project or as provided under 
any warranty, guarantee or other Contract Document for the full warranty and guarantee period; and 
(iii) payment to all persons performing labor and furnishing materials, supplies, tools and equipment in 
connection with the Project.  Contractor shall obtain such bond on Authority’s behalf separate and apart 
from any similar bond or surety or warranty agreement entered into independently between Authority and 
any manufacturer or supplier.  Authority may, in its discretion, require that the bond guaranteeing payment 
to all persons performing labor and furnishing materials, supplies, tools and equipment in connection with 
the Project be separate from the bond guaranteeing performance and warranting the work.  
Notwithstanding anything contained within the bonds to the contrary, such bonds are required, in part, by 
and shall comply with the minimum requirements of Section 38-26-106, C.R.S.   

25. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and all other Contract Documents constitute the 
entire agreement between the Parties concerning the subject matter herein, and all prior negotiations, 
representations, contracts, understandings, or agreements pertaining to such matters are merged into 
and superseded by this Agreement and the other Contract Documents. 

26. Severability.  If any term, section or other provision of this Agreement shall, for any 
reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such term, section or 
other provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

27. Colorado Labor.  If the Project is financed in whole or in part by funds of the State or any 
county, municipality of the State, school Authority, special Authority, or other political subdivision of the 
State, and for which an appropriation or expenditure for the Project will exceed $500,000 for any fiscal 
year, Colorado labor shall be employed to perform at least eighty percent (80%) of the work, unless such 
requirement is waived by the Authority in accordance with Section 8-17-101(1), C.R.S.  “Colorado labor” 
means any person who is a resident of the State at the time of the Project.  A “resident of the State” is a 
person who can provide a valid Colorado driver’s license, a valid State-issued photo identification, or 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 12 of 50 

documentation that he or she has resided in Colorado for the last thirty (30) days. 

28. Taxes, Licenses, Permits, Regulations. In all operations connected with the Project, 
Contractor shall pay all fees, charges and taxes imposed by law, except for sales and use taxes from 
which Authority or the Project are exempt and shall obtain all licenses and permits necessary for 
completion of the Project, including payment of all fees, unless otherwise specified by the Contract 
Documents or Project Manager.  Contractor shall comply with all laws, ordinances, codes, rules and 
regulations of all governmental authorities, whether local, State or federal, relating to the performance of 
work on the Project and particularly for compliance with those laws concerning the environment, 
stormwater management permits, workmen’s compensation, safety and health, labor, immigration and 
equal employment opportunity.  Authority shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy of its 
certificate of sales and use tax exemption.  Authority shall not reimburse Contractor for any sales or use 
taxes paid to the State or any county or municipality from which Authority or the Project are exempt. 

29. Special Provisions.  Special provisions or conditions relating to the services to be 
performed pursuant to this Agreement are set forth in Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference, Section 00700 General Conditions, consisting of seventy (70) pages, and Exhibit D, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, Section 00800 Supplementary Conditions, 
consisting of six (6) pages. 

30. Order of Precedence. The terms of this Agreement shall take precedence in the event of 
a conflict or inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement, a Task Order, an attachment, or any 
provisions or conditions incorporated by reference herein. In the event of conflicting or ambiguous 
provisions specifications will take precedence over the drawings and addenda will take precedence over 
both. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the more specific provision will take precedence over the less 
specific; the more stringent will take precedence over the less stringent. On all drawings, figures take 
precedence over scaled dimensions. If the Project is financed in whole or in part by a federal or State 
grant, any provision of the Contract Documents that is in conflict with the terms of such grant shall be 
inapplicable.   

31. Time.  Unless otherwise expressly provided, any reference herein to days shall mean 
calendar days.  All times stated in this Agreement are of the essence. 

32. Counterparts; Electronic Signatures; Electronic Records.  This Agreement may be 
executed in two counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which, together, shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  The Parties consent to the use of electronic signatures and agree that the 
transaction may be conducted electronically pursuant to the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, § 24-
71.3-101, et seq., C.R.S.  This Agreement and any other documents requiring a signature may be signed 
electronically by either Party.  The Parties agree not to deny the legal effect or enforceability of this 
Agreement, solely because it is in electronic form or because an electronic record was used in its 
formation.  The Parties agree not to object to the admissibility of this Agreement in the form of an 
electronic record, a paper copy of an electronic document, or a paper copy of a document bearing an 
electronic signature on the grounds that it is an electronic record or an electronic signature or that it is 
not in its original form or is not an original. 

33. Duly Authorized Signatories.  By execution of this Agreement, the undersigned each 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 13 of 50 

individually represents that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and that 
the subject Party shall be bound by the signatory’s execution of this Agreement. 

34. Law; Venue. The laws of the State of Colorado shall govern the construction, 
interpretation, execution and enforcement of this Agreement and any Task Orders. Venue for any dispute 
between the Parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any Task Orders shall be in the State 
of Colorado Authority Court for Larimer County. 

35. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that the services to be performed by 
the Contractor pursuant to any and all Task Orders are those of an independent contractor and not of an 
employee of the Authority.  The Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income tax on any 
moneys earned pursuant to any Task Orders.  Neither the Contractor nor its employees, if any, are 
entitled to workers’ compensation benefits from the Authority for the performance of the services 
described in any Task Orders.   

36. Section Headings.  The section headings in this Agreement have been inserted for 
convenience of reference only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of any part of this 
Agreement. 

37. Notice.  Any notice required hereunder shall be in writing delivered to the applicable Party 
at the address set forth at the beginning of this Agreement or as changed pursuant to the provisions of 
this Section.   

[Signature Page Follows] 
  



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 14 of 50 

SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 

By: ____________________________________ 

       Eric Reckentine, Board Chairman 

Date: ___________________________________ 

 

 
ATTEST: 

By: ____________________________________ 
 
Date: ___________________________________ 
 
 
 
By execution of this Agreement, the undersigned each 
individually represents that he or she is duly authorized 
to execute and deliver this Agreement and that the 
subject Party shall be bound by the signatory’s 
execution of this Agreement. 
 
 
CONTRACTOR: Hensel Phelps 
 

By: ____________________________________ 

      

_________________________________ , Title 

 

Date: ___________________________________ 

  



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 15 of 50 

EXHIBIT A 
TASK ORDER FORM (Non-Construction services less than $50k) 
PURSUANT TO A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN  

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority  
AND Hensel Phelps 

 
PROJECT TITLE:     
 
 
 
TASK ORDER NUMBER:     XXXXX 
 
ORIGINAL BID/RFP NUMBER & NAME: Soldier Canyon Filter Plant – 

Master Construction Services Contract 
 
MASTER AGREEMENT EFFECTIVE DATE:   September 7 , 2023  
 

CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIVE:   XXXXX 
 
ARCHITECT/ENGINEER:     XXXXX 
 

PROJECT MANAGER:     Authority PM 
 
MAXIMUM FEE: (time and reimbursable direct costs): XXXXX 
 
TASK ORDER COMMENCEMENT DATE:    XXXXX 
 
TASK ORDER COMPLETION DATE:   XXXXX 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF SERVICES:  XXXXX 
 

CONTRACT <$50k  
 

CONTRACT >50k BONDS  
PERFORMANCE BOND  
PAYMENT BOND  
WARRANTY BOND (through 2-Year Warranty from Final Acceptance)  

 NOTICE OF AWARD:    Date of this Document 
 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION DATE: XXXXX 
 FINAL COMPLETION DATE:   XXXXX  
 

CONTRACT >$150K HOLD 5% RETAINAGE  
Contractor agrees to perform the services identified above and on the attached forms in accordance with 
the terms and conditions contained herein and in the Master Services Agreement between the Parties. In 
the event of a conflict between or ambiguity in the terms of the Master Services Agreement and this Task 
Order (including the attached forms), the Master Services Agreement shall control. 
 
The attached forms consisting of XX(XX) pages are hereby accepted and incorporated   herein, by this 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 16 of 50 

reference, and Notice to Proceed is hereby given after all Parties have signed this document. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 17 of 50 

 
Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
 
 

By: ____________________________________ 

 Eric Reckentine, Board Chairman 

Date: ___________________________________ 

 

 
ATTEST: 

By: ____________________________________ 

 
Date: ___________________________________ 
 
 
 
By execution of this Agreement, the undersigned 
each individually represents that he or she is duly 
authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and 
that the subject Party shall be bound by the 
signatory’s execution of this Agreement. 
 
CONTRACTOR:  Hensel Phelps  
 

By: ____________________________________   

______________________________________ , Title 

 

Date: ___________________________________ 

 
 
  
  
  



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 18 of 50 

 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
TASK ORDER FORM (Construction over $50,000) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SOLDIER CANYON WATER 
TREATMENT AUTHORITY 

CONSTRUCTION TASK 
ORDER 

 
PROJECT 

TITLE 
 

TASK ORDER NO. PM'S TRACKING # 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTRACTOR: Hensel Phelps 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 19 of 50 

 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

AGREEMENT FORMS 
00500  Construction Task Order Agreement Forms (Exhibit A) 
00525 Task Order (Exhibit B), Notice of Award & Bid Schedule 

(Attachment A-Bid Schedule) 
00530 Task Order Notice to Proceed 
00600 Bonds and Certificates 
00610 Performance Bond 
00615 Payment Bond 
00630 (Attachment B) - Certificate of Insurance 
00635 Certificate of Substantial Completion 
00640 Certificate of Final Acceptance 
00650 Lien Waiver Release (CONTRACTOR) 
00660 Consent of Surety 
00670 Application for Exemption Certificate 
00900 Addenda, Modifications and Payment 
00950 Task Order Change Order Form 
00960 Application for Payment 
Attachment C - Drawing Index  
 
ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS 
Exhibit C 00700 General Conditions 
Exhibit D 00800 Supplementary Conditions 
Exhibit E General Scope of Services 
Exhibit F Costs Factors/Pricing 
 

  



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 20 of 50 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 00500 
 

CONSTRUCTION TASK ORDER AGREEMENT FORMS 
 

 
00525 Task Order, Notice of Award & Bid Schedule  

Attachment A-Bid Schedule 
 
00530  Task Order Notice to Proceed 

 
 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 21 of 50 

 
 
 

SECTION 00525 
TASK ORDER, NOTICE OF AWARD AND BID SCHEDULE 

PURSUANT TO A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY  AND HENSEL PHELPS 

 
 

PROJECT TITLE:   
       
TASK ORDER NUMBER:     XXXXX 
 
ORIGINAL BID/RFP NUMBER & NAME: Soldier Canyon Filter Plant – 

Master Construction Services 
Contract 

MASTER AGREEMENT EFFECTIVE DATE:    September 7 , 2023  
  

CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIVE:    XXXXX 
 
ARCHITECT/ENGINEER:     XXXXX 
 

PROJECT MANAGER:      Authority PM 
 
MAXIMUM FEE: (time and reimbursable direct costs):  XXXXX 
 
TASK ORDER COMMENCEMENT DATE:    XXXXX 
 
TASK ORDER COMPLETION DATE:    XXXXX 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF SERVICES:   XXXXX 
 

CONTRACT <$50k  
 

CONTRACT >50k BONDS  
PERFORMANCE BOND  
PAYMENT BOND  
WARRANTY BOND (through 2-Year Warranty from Final Acceptance)  

NOTICE OF AWARD:    Date of this Document 
 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION DATE: XXXXX 
 FINAL COMPLETION DATE:  XXXXX  

 
CONTRACT >$150K HOLD 5% RETAINAGE  

Contractor agrees to perform the services identified above and on the attached forms in 
accordance with the terms and conditions contained herein and in the Master Services 
Agreement between the Parties. In the event of a conflict between or ambiguity in the terms 
of the Master Services Agreement and this Task Order (including the attached forms), the 
Master Services Agreement shall control. 

 
The attached forms consisting of XX(XX) pages are hereby accepted and incorporated 
herein by this reference and Notice to Proceed is hereby given after all Parties have signed 
this document. 

  



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 22 of 50 

 
****ATTACH THESE PAGES FOR CONTRACTS BEYOND $50K**** 

 
1. WORK. Pursuant to the Master Services Agreement between the Authority and the 

Contractor dated September 7, 2023, and the Task Order Proposal dated Date of Quote, 
the Contractor has been awarded a Task Order for Project Title 

 

2. CONTRACT PRICE. The price of this Task Order is Written Dollar Amount 
($Numerical Dollar Amount).  

 
3. PERFORMANCE DEADLINES. The date for Substantial Completion of this Task 

Order is Date, and after Substantial Completion, the date for Final Acceptance is 
Date. 

 

4. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. Pursuant to Section 7 of the Master Services 
Agreement, the amount of liquidated damages shall be the sum of: $ 0.  

 
5. ADDITIONAL INSUREDS.  In addition to those entities identified in Section 23.d. 

of the Master Services Agreement, ____________ shall be endorsed as “Additional 
Insureds.” 
 

6. PAYMENT PROCEDURES. As set forth in the Master Services Agreement. 
 

7. EXECUTION. Task Order Documents must be executed in digital format 
(DocuSign/Adobe Sign) within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of this Notice 
of Award. Contractor shall attach Payment and Performance Bonds and 
Certificates of Insurance (COI) to the Task Order Documents in DocuSign/Adobe 
Sign.  

 
Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle the Authority to 
consider your Task Order Proposal abandoned and to annul this Task Order & Notice of 
Award. 

 
 CONTRACTOR’S NOTICE OF AWARD REPRESENTATION & EXECUTION: 
Contractor agrees to perform the services identified above, in accordance with the terms 
and conditions contained in this Task Order, the Master Services Agreement, and the 
Notice of Award between the Parties.  

  



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 23 of 50 

 
 
 
 

SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY 
 

By: ____________________________________ 

 Eric Reckentine, Board Chairman 

Date: ___________________________________ 

 

 
ATTEST: 

By: ____________________________________ 

 
Date: ___________________________________ 
 
 
 
By execution of this Agreement, the undersigned 
each individually represents that he or she is duly 
authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and 
that the subject Party shall be bound by the 
signatory’s execution of this Agreement. 
 
CONTRACTOR:  Hensel Phelps  
 

By: ____________________________________   

                                                  , Title 

 

Date: ___________________________________ 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 24 of 50 

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A-BID SCHEDULE 
 

Insert Task Order Quote/Proposal Here 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 25 of 50 

 
 
 
 

SECTION 00530 
TASK ORDER NOTICE TO PROCEED 

 
NOTICE TO PROCEED DATE:             
TASK ORDER TITLE:    
TASK ORDER NUMBER:    

 
TO:__Hensel Phelps  
 
Attn:  ________________  

 

This notice is to advise you: 
 

That the Task Order and all amendments and supplements to the Task Order Documents 
covering the above-described Work have been fully executed by the CONTRACTOR and the 
OWNER. That the required CONTRACTOR's Performance and Payment Bonds and insurance 
have been received by the OWNER. That the OWNER has approved the said Task Order and 
Task Order Documents. 

 
Therefore, as the CONTRACTOR for the above-described Work, you are hereby authorized and 
directed to proceed within  (  ) calendar days from receipt of this notice as required by 
the Task Order and the AGREEMENT. 

 
The  dates  for  Substantial  Completion  and  Final  Acceptance   shall  be  ,  and  , 
respectively. 

 
Dated this  day of  ,  .  

SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 _______________________________________(OWNER) 
By: Eric Reckentine, Board Chairman 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NOTICE 
 

Receipt of the above Task Order Notice to Proceed is hereby acknowledged this Day of Month, 
Year. 
 
Hensel Phelps  

 

  (CONTRACTOR) 
                            By:                                       , Title 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 26 of 50 

 
 
 
 

SECTION 00600 
 BONDS AND CERTIFICATES 

 
00610 

 
Performance Bond 

00615 Payment Bond 

00630 Attachment B-Certificate of Insurance 

00635 Certificate of Substantial Completion 

00640 Certificate of Final Acceptance 

00650 Lien Waiver Release (CONTRACTOR) 

00660 Consent of Surety 

00670 Application for Exemption Certificate 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 27 of 50 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Bond No    

SECTION 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: that 
 

(Firm) 
(Address) 

 

(an Individual), (a Partnership), (a Corporation), hereinafter referred to as the "Principal" and 
 

(Firm) 
(Address) 

 

hereinafter referred to as "the Surety", are held and firmly bound unto The Soldier Canyon Water 
Treatment Authority, 4424 Laporte Avenue, Fort Collins, CO 80521 a (Quasi-Municipal 
Corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado) hereinafter referred to as the 
"OWNER", in the penal sum of    ($     ) in lawful money of the United States, for the payment of 
which sum well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, successors and assigns, jointly and 
severally, firmly by these presents. 

 
THE CONDITIONS OF THIS OBLIGATION are such that whereas the Principal entered into a 
certain Master Agreement with the OWNER, dated the Day of Month, Year, a copy of which is 
hereto attached and made a part hereof, for the performance of the Task Order, titled Task Order 
Project Title, Task Order Number PM's Tracking #, dated Task Order Date, a copy of which is 
hereto attached and made a part hereof. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, if the Principal shall well, truly and faithfully perform its duties, all the 
undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions and agreements of said Task Order and Master 
Agreement during the original term thereof, and any extensions thereof which may be granted by 
the OWNER, with or without Notice to the Surety and during the life of the guaranty period, and if 
the Principal shall satisfy all claims and demands incurred under such Task Order and Master 
Agreement, and shall fully indemnify and save harmless the OWNER from all cost and damages 
which it may suffer by reason of failure to do so, and shall reimburse and repay the OWNER all 
outlay and expense which the OWNER may incur in making good any default, then this obligation 
shall be void; otherwise to remain in full force and effect. 

 
PROVIDED, FURTHER, that the said Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees 
that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Task Order and Master 
Agreement or to the Work to be performed thereunder or the Specifications accompanying the 
same shall in any way affect its obligation on this bond; and it does hereby waive notice of any 
such change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Task Order and Master 
Agreement or to the Work or to the Specifications. 

 
PROVIDED, FURTHER, that no final settlement between the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR 
shall abridge the right of any beneficiary hereunder, whose claim may be unsatisfied. 

 
PROVIDED, FURTHER, that the Surety Company must be authorized to transact business in the 
State of Colorado and be acceptable to the OWNER. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 28 of 50 

 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument is executed in three (3) counterparts, each one of which 
shall be deemed an original, this  day of  ,  . 

 
 
 

IN PRESENCE OF: Principal 
 
 
 
 

(Title) (Title) 
 

(Corporate Seal) 
(Address) 

 
 

IN PRESENCE OF: Other Partners 
 

By:   
 

By:   
 
 

IN PRESENCE OF: Surety 
 

By:   
 
 

(Address) 
 
 
 
 
 

(Surety Seal) 
 
 

NOTE: Date of Bond must not be prior to date of Task Order. If CONTRACTOR is 
Partnership, all partners should execute Bond. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 29 of 50 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Bond No    

SECTION 00615 
PAYMENT BOND 

 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: that 
 

(Firm) 
(Address) 

 

(an Individual), (a Partnership), (a Corporation), hereinafter referred to as the "Principal" and 
 

(Firm) 
(Address) 

 

hereinafter referred to as "the Surety", are held and firmly bound unto the Soldier Canyon Water 
Treatment Authority, 4424 Laporte Avenue, Fort Collins CO 80521 a (Quasi-Municipal 
Corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado) hereinafter referred to as the 
"OWNER", in the penal sum of    ($     ) in lawful money of the United States, for the payment of 
which sum well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, successors and assigns, jointly and 
severally, firmly by these presents. 

 
THE CONDITIONS OF THIS OBLIGATION are such that whereas the Principal entered into a 
certain Master Agreement with the OWNER, dated the Day of Month, Year, a copy of which is 
hereto attached and made a part hereof, for the performance of the Task Order, titled Task Order 
Project Title, Task Order Number PM's Tracking #, dated Task Order Date, a copy of which is 
hereto attached and made a part hereof. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, if the Principal shall make payment to all persons, firms, subcontractors, 
and corporations furnishing materials for or performing labor in the prosecution of the Work 
provided for in such Task Order and Master Agreement and any authorized extension or 
modification thereof, including all amounts due for materials, lubricants, repairs on machinery, 
equipment and tools, consumed, rented or used in connection with the construction of such Work, 
and all insurance premiums on said Work, and for all labor, performed in such Work whether by 
subcontractor or otherwise, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise to remain in full force and 
effect. 

 
PROVIDED, FURTHER, that the said Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees 
that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Task Order and Master 
Agreement or to the Work to be performed thereunder or the Specifications accompanying the 
same shall in any way affect its obligation on this bond; and it does hereby waive notice of any 
such change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Task Order and Master 
Agreement or to the Work or to the Specifications. 

 
PROVIDED, FURTHER, that no final settlement between the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR 
shall abridge the right of any beneficiary hereunder, whose claim may be unsatisfied. 

 
PROVIDED, FURTHER, that the Surety Company must be authorized to transact business in the 
State of Colorado and be acceptable to the OWNER. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 30 of 50 

 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument is executed in three (3) counterparts, each one of which 
shall be deemed an original, this  day of  ,  . 

 
 

IN PRESENCE OF: Principal 
 
 
 
 
 

(Title) (Title) 
 

(Corporate Seal) 
(Address) 

 
 

IN PRESENCE OF: Other Partners 
 

By:   
 

By:   
 
 

IN PRESENCE OF: Surety 
 

By:   
 
 

(Address) 
 
 
 
 
 

(Surety Seal) 
 
 

NOTE: Date of Bond must not be prior to date of Task Order. If CONTRACTOR is 
Partnership, all partners should execute Bond. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 31 of 50 

 
 

 
 

SECTION 00630 
ATTACHMENT B-CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE 

 
CONTRACTOR shall submit Certificate of Insurance in compliance with the Task Order 
Documents. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 32 of 50 

 
 
 

 
SECTION 00635 

CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
 

TO: Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority (OWNER) PROJECT TITLE: 
 

DATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION: LOCATION: Fort Collins, Colorado  
 

OWNER: Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 
  

 

PROJECT OR SPECIFIED PART SHALL           CONTRACTOR: Hensel Phelps  
INCLUDE: 

TASK ORDER DATE:    
 
 

The Work performed under this Task Order, pursuant to the Task Order Documents, has been 
inspected by authorized representatives of the OWNER, CONTRACTOR, and the ENGINEER 
and the project (or specified part of the project, as indicated above) is hereby declared to be 
substantially completed on the above date. 

 
A tentative list of items to be completed or corrected is appended hereto. This list may not be 
exhaustive, and the failure to include an item on it does not alter the responsibility of the 
CONTRACTOR to complete all the Work in accordance with the Task Order Documents. 

 

By:       
 

PROJECT MANAGER AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE DATE 
 

The CONTRACTOR accepts the above Certificate of Substantial Completion and agrees to 
complete and correct the items on the tentative list within the time indicated. 

 

By:       
 

CONTRACTOR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE DATE 
 

The OWNER accepts the project or specified area of the project as substantially complete and 
will assume full possession of the project or specified area of the project at 12:01 a.m., on 
  . The responsibility for heat, utilities, security, and insurance 
under the Task Order Documents shall be as set forth under "Remarks" below. 

 
 

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority   
 
By:       
OWNER    AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE DATE 

REMARKS:      

 

 
 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 33 of 50 

 
 
 
 

SECTION 00640 
CERTIFICATE OF FINAL ACCEPTANCE 

 

DATE:      
 

TO:      
 
 

You are hereby notified that on the Day of Month, Year, the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment 
Authority, 4424 Laporte Avenue, Fort Collins CO 80521, has accepted the Work completed by 
XXXXX CONTRACTOR , for the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Task Order, titled 
Project Title, Task Order Number PM's Tracking #. 

 
 

Your continuing obligations and guarantees for the Project will be as provided in the Task Order 
and Task Order Documents. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority  (OWNER) 
 

By:    
 
 

Eric Reckentine, Board Chairman 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 34 of 50 

 
 
 
 

SECTION 00650 
LIEN WAIVER RELEASE 

XXXXX  
 

TO: Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority (OWNER) 
 

FROM:   Hensel Phelps  (CONTRACTOR) 
 

TASK ORDER TITLE:    
 

TASK ORDER NUMBER:    
 

1. The CONTRACTOR acknowledges having received payment, except retainage from the 
OWNER for all work, labor, skill and material furnished, delivered and performed by the 
CONTRACTOR for the OWNER or for anyone in the construction, design, improvement, 
alteration, addition or repair of the above-described project. 

 
2. In consideration of such payment and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 

and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the CONTRACTOR voluntarily waives all 
rights, claims and liens, including but not limited to, mechanic's liens, Miller Act claims (40 
U.S.C.A. 270 a and b), stop notices, equitable liens and labor and material bond rights which 
the CONTRACTOR may now or may afterward have, claim or assert for all and any work, 
labor, skill or materials furnished, delivered or performed for the construction, design, 
improvement, alteration, addition or repair of the above described project, against the 
OWNER or its officers, agents, employees or assigns, against any fund of or in the 
possession or control of the OWNER, against the project or against all land and the buildings 
on and appurtenances to the land improved by the project. 

 
3. The CONTRACTOR affirms that all work, labor and materials, furnished, delivered or 

performed to or for the construction, design, improvement, alteration, addition or repair of 
the project were furnished, delivered or performed by the CONTRACTOR or its agents, 
employees, and servants, or by and through the CONTRACTOR by various Subcontractors 
or materialmen or their agents, employees and servants and further affirms the same have 
been paid in full and have released in full any and all existing or possible future mechanic's 
liens or rights or claims against the project or any funds in the OWNER'S possession or 
control concerning the project or against the OWNER or its officers, agents, employees or 
assigns arising out of the project. 

 
4. The CONTRACTOR agrees to defend and hold harmless the OWNER, the lender, if any, 

and the Surety on the project against and from any claim hereinafter made by the 
CONTRACTOR's Subcontractors, materialmen, employees, servants, agents or assigns 
against the project or against the OWNER or its officers, employees, agents or assigns 
arising out of the project for all loss, damage and costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees, 
incurred as a result of such claims. 

 
5. The parties acknowledge that the description of the project set forth above constitutes an 

adequate description of the property and improvements to which this Lien Waiver Release 
pertains. It is further acknowledged that this Lien Waiver Release is for the benefit of and 
may be relied upon by the OWNER, the lender, if any, and Surety on any labor and material 
bonds for the project. 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 35 of 50 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed this  day of  ,  . 
 
 

CONTRACTOR: Hensel Phelps 
 
 
 

By: ____________________________________ 
                                                            , Title 

 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

Secretary 
 
 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
)ss. 

COUNTY OF LARIMER ) 
 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this  day of  ,  , by 
 

  . 
 

Witness my hand and official seal. 
 

My Commission Expires:  . 
 
 
 
 

Notary Public 



CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 36 of 50 

 
 
 

SECTION 00660 
CONSENT OF SURETY 

 
TO: The Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority-Fort Collins, Colorado (hereinafter referred to as the 
"OWNER") 

CONTRACTOR: Hensel Phelps  

TITLE:    
TASK ORDER NUMBER:   _____    

TASK ORDER DATE:    

In accordance with the provisions of the Task Order and Master Agreement between the OWNER 
and the CONTRACTOR as indicated above, for the Task Order titled Task Order Project Title on 
bond of  , (Surety) 
   hereby approves of the Final Payment to the 
CONTRACTOR, and agrees that Final Payment to the CONTRACTOR shall not relieve the Surety 
Company of any of its obligations to the OWNER, as set forth in the said Surety Company's Bond. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Surety Company has hereunto set its hand this  day of 
  _, . 

 
 
 

(Surety Company) 
 

By:  (Name) Attorney-in-Fact 
 
 
 

ATTACH: Power of Attorney and Certificate of Authority of Attorney(s)-in-Fact. 
  



 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 37 of 50 

SECTION 00670 
APPLICATION FOR EXEMPTION CERTIFICATE

 



 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 38 of 50 

       
 



 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 39 of 50 

 
 

 
SECTION 00900 

 
ADDENDA, MODIFICATIONS AND PAYMENT 

 
 

00950 Change Order 
 

00960 Application for Payment 
 

Attachment C Drawing Index



 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 40 of 50 

 
 
 

SECTION 00950  
CHANGE ORDER NO. 

 

PROJECT TITLE: 
 

CONTRACTOR: Hensel Phelps 
 

TASK ORDER NUMBER: 

DESCRIPTION: 

1. Reason for Change: Why is the change required? 
 
2. Description of Change: Provide description of the changes to the Work 
 
3. Change in Task Order Price: 
 
4. Change in Task Order Time: 

 

ORIGINAL TASK ORDER PRICE $ .00 
TOTAL APPROVED CHANGE ORDER .00 
TOTAL PENDING CHANGE ORDER .00 
TOTAL THIS CHANGE ORDER .00 
TOTAL % OF THIS CHANGE ORDER   % 
TOTAL C.O.% OF ORIGINAL TASK ORDER   % 

ADJUSTED TASK ORDER COST $ .00 

CONTRACTOR: XXXXX 
 

By:                      Date:                                     
           XXXXX, Title 

 
 

ACCEPTED:    Date:  
XXXX, Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 

 
 

ACCEPTED:    Date:  
 Eric Reckentine, Board Chairman 



 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 41 of 50 

SECTION 00960 
APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT 

(UNDER SEPARATE COVER, PROVIDED IN EXCEL FORMAT) 



 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 42 of 50 

 
ATTACHMENT C DRAWING INDEX 

 
TASK ORDER # 

TASK ORDER TITLE 
BY: Company Name who last revised the drawings 

 

Sheet Date Title        Drawing Revision 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 43 of 50 

 
EXHIBIT C 

SECTION 00700 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
See General Conditions at end of Document. 
  



    

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 44 of 50 

 
EXHIBIT D 

SECTION 00800 
SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS 

 
These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the Standard General Conditions of the 
Construction Contract, EJCDC C-700 (2013 Edition). All provisions that are not so amended or 
supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 
The terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings stated in the General Conditions. 
Additional terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings stated below, which are 
applicable to both the singular and plural thereof. 
 
The address system used in these Supplementary Conditions is the same as the address system used 
in the General Conditions, with the prefix “SC” added thereto. 
 
Article 1 – Definitions and Terminology 

SC-1.01  Defined Terms 

Add to the list of definitions in Paragraph 1.01.A by inserting the following as numbered 
items in their proper alphabetical positions: 

Final Completion – Owner’s acceptance of the Work upon confirmation from Engineer and 
Contractor that the Work is totally complete in accordance with Contract Documents. 

Add the following language at the end of Paragraph 1.01.A.34, Schedule of Submittals: 
…and is to be coordinated with the schedule provisions included in the General 
Requirements, if applicable. 

Add the following language at the end of Paragraph 1.01.A.35, Schedule of Values: 
…and is to be coordinated with the schedule provisions included in the General 
Requirements, if applicable. 

SC-1.02 Terminology 

Add the following language at the end of Paragraph 1.02.C: 
…unless otherwise noted. 
 

Article 2 – Preliminary Matters 
 

SC-2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives 

Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 2.04.A to read as follows: 
Unless otherwise specified in the General Requirements, before any Work… 

SC-2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules 
 
Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 2.05.A to read as follows: 
 

Unless otherwise specified in the General Requirements, at least 10 days before… 
 

Article 3 – Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse 
 

SC-3.03  Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 



    

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 45 of 50 

 
Add the following new paragraph after Paragraph 3.03.B.1: 

2. In the event of conflicts or discrepancies among the Contract Documents, 
interpretations will be based on the following priorities:  

a. Master Services Agreement, 
b. Addenda, with those of later date having preference over those of earlier 

date,  
c. Supplementary Conditions, 
d. Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract, 
e. Drawings and Specifications. In the case of an inconsistency between 

Drawings and Specifications or within either Document not clarified by 
addendum, the better quality or greater quantity of Work shall be provided 
in accordance with Engineer’s interpretation. 

Article 6 - Bonds and Insurance 
 

SC-6.01 Performance, Payment and Other Bonds 

Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds shall be pursuant to Section 24 of the Master Services 
Agreement. 
SC-6.03 Contractor’s Insurance  

Contractor’s Insurance shall be pursuant to Section 23 of the Master Services Agreement. 
Article 7 - Contractor’s Responsibilities 
 

SC-7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers and Others 

Add the following language at the end of Paragraph 7.06.M: 
, including but not limited to bonding, insurance, warranties, indemnities, progress 
payments and completion of performance requirements. 

Add the following language at the beginning of Paragraph 7.06.N: 
Upon receipt of progress and final payments from Owner, Contractor shall disburse the 
same immediately to subcontractors without any requirement of Owner to supervise the 
same.  

SC-7.09 Taxes 

Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 7.09.A: 

B. Owner is exempt from payment of sales and compensating use taxes of the State 
of Colorado and of municipalities and counties thereof on all materials to be incorporated 
into the Work. 

1. Owner will, upon request, furnish the required certificates of tax exemption 
to Contractor for use in the purchase of supplies and materials to be incorporated 
into the Work. 

2. Owner’s exemption does not apply to construction tools, machinery, 
equipment, or other property purchased by or leased by Contractor, or to supplies 
or materials not incorporated into the Work. 

3. Owner will not reimburse Contractor for any sales or use taxes paid to the 
State or any county or municipality from which Owner or the Project are exempt. 



    

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 46 of 50 

SC-7.12 Safety and Protection 

Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 7.12.G: 

 H. As provided in SC-14.06, Owner may stop the Work     
 immediately if Owner observes a substantial violation of     
 Paragraph 7.12. 

SC-7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples and Other Submittals 

Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 7.16.D.1 to read as follows: 
Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with the 
Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer and shall be coordinated with the schedule 
provisions included in the General Requirements, if applicable. 

SC-7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee shall be pursuant to Section 17 of the Master 
Services Agreement. 

SC-7.18 Indemnification 

Indemnification shall be pursuant to Section 22 of the Master Services Agreement. 
 

Article 11 – Amending the Contract Documents; Changes in the Work 
 

SC-11.04 Change of Contract Price 

Add the following language at the end of Paragraph 11.04.B.3: 
Contractor shall submit on a daily basis, or at an interval determined by Engineer, the 
actual costs for all labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals utilized in the performance 
of the change for Engineer’s review.  The format of the submittal shall be as determined 
by Engineer. 

Delete Paragraph 11.04.C.2.a in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

for costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.B.1 and 13.01.B.2, the Contractor's fee shall 
be pursuant to the agreed markup listed under Exhibit F of the Master Services 
Agreement. 

Delete Amend Paragraph 11.04.C.2.b in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

for costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.B.3, the Contractor's fee shall be pursuant to 
the agreed markup listed under Exhibit F of the Master Services Agreement. 

Delete Paragraph C.2.c in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 

where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee 
and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a and 11.04.C.2.b is 
that the Contractor’s fee shall be based on: (1) the agreed markup fee (listed under Exhibit 
F of the Master Services Agreement) of the costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.A.1 
and 13.01.A.2 by the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, and 
(2) with respect to Contractor itself and to any Subcontractors of a tier higher than that of 
the Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, the agreed markup fee (listed under 



    

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 47 of 50 

Exhibit F of the Master Services Agreement) of the amount (fee plus underlying costs 
incurred) attributable to the next lower tier Subcontractor; provided, however, that for any 
such subcontracted work the maximum total fee to be paid by Owner shall be no greater 
than 27 percent of the costs incurred by the Subcontractor that actually performs the work; 

Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 11.04.C: 
D. This Paragraph 11.04 is subject to the change order requirements set forth in SC-
11.07. 
 

SC-11.07 Execution of Change Orders 

 Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 11.07.A.4: 
 

5. A fully executed Change Order represents full and final settlement for all costs 
(including all impact costs) and time relating to the work included in the change order. The 
following language shall be typed on the face of each Change Order: 

THIS CHANGE ORDER CONSTITUTES FULL AND FINAL SETTLEMENT FOR 
ALL COSTS AND TIME ASSOCIATED WITH THE WORK DESCRIBED HEREIN.  
COSTS ARE DEFINED TO INCLUDE ALL DIRECT AND INDIRECT LABOR 
COSTS RELATED TO, AND/OR OCCASIONED BY THE WORK DESCRIBED 
HEREIN; ALL MATERIAL AND EQUIPMENT COSTS RELATED HERETO; ANY 
AND ALL IMPACT COSTS RELATED TO AND/OR OCCASIONED BY THE 
PERFORMANCE OF THIS WORK; AS WELL AS ALL APPLICABLE TAXES, 
INSURANCE, BONDS, AND PROFIT.  ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
OF THIS CONTRACT REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT. 

6. The Contract Documents are subject to Section 24-91-103.6, C.R.S., and in 
accordance therewith: 

a. Owner shall not issue any Change Order or other directive  (other than a 
clarification) requiring additional compensable Work to be performed that will cause 
the aggregate amount payable under the Agreement to exceed the amount 
appropriated for the original Contract Price and any subsequent appropriations, 
unless: 

1.  Contractor is given written assurance by Owner that lawful 
appropriations to cover the costs of the additional Work have been made 
and are available prior to performance of the additional Work; or 

2. The additional Work is covered by the following remedy-granting 
provision: Contractor may request, in writing, a letter from Owner explaining 
the expected sources of funding for the additional Work.  In the event 
Owner does not provide such written assurance reasonably satisfactory to 
Contractor within five (5) days of Contractor’s request, Contractor may stop 
Work until such time as Owner provides satisfactory assurances.  
Contractor’s acceptance of a Change Order in accordance with any 
assurances provided under this Paragraph shall not limit or restrict 
Contractor from making a Claim under the Contract Documents for an 
adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for 
expenses or damages directly attributable to Contractor’s stoppage of the 
Work as permitted hereunder.   

b. For any Change Order or other directive (other than a clarification) that 
requires additional compensable Work to be performed, Owner shall reimburse 
Contractor for Contractor’s costs on the periodic basis set forth in the Contract 



    

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 48 of 50 

Documents for all additional directed Work performed until the Change Order is 
finalized.  In no instance shall the periodic reimbursement be required before 
Contractor has submitted an estimate of cost to Owner for the additional 
compensable Work to be performed. 

 
Article 12 – Claims 

SC-12.01 Claims 

Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 12.01.B. to read as follows: 

The party submitting a claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the Contract 
promptly (but in no event later than seven (7) days) after the start of the event giving rise 
thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within seven (7) days of the 
decision under appeal.  

Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 12.01.B:  
Owner shall give notice to the Surety of any Claim that Owner might assert against 
Contractor on the performance bond or the payment bond, unless waived in writing by the 
Surety.  Owner’s act of giving such notice or failure to give such notice shall not affect 
Owner’s right to seek or pursue any remedy provided for in such bonds or under any other 
provisions of the Contract Documents.  This provision does not modify Contractor’s 
obligations to provide notification to the Surety under the General Conditions. 

Add the following new paragraphs immediately after Paragraph 12.01.G: 
H.  Referral of Claims to Design Professional:  No claim or defense of Owner shall be 
barred for failure to refer an item of dispute to Engineer. Owner and Contractor agree that 
any requirement in the Contract Documents to refer a claim to Engineer or any other party 
as a condition precedent to exercising any lawful remedies shall not be a bar to bringing 
an action in a court of competent jurisdiction if  Owner or Contractor has a reasonable 
belief that complying with such referral requirement might jeopardize its ability to exercise 
such remedies due to the running of the applicable statute of limitations or the application 
of an equitable defense such as waiver, estoppel or laches.  Promptly following the filing 
of an action under such circumstances, Owner and Contractor shall then proceed to 
comply with such claim referral process to the extent not stayed by a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 
I. Two-Year Statute of Limitations:  Any claim or action at law or in equity upon or 
arising out of the Contract Documents or the Work  performed thereunder (except for a 
state action based in tort, which shall be subject to the Colorado Governmental Immunity 
Act, § 24-10-101 et seq., C.R.S.) which is asserted by Contractor against Owner shall be 
commenced within two (2) years from the date when such claim or action accrued 
pursuant to Section 13-80-102(1)(h), C.R.S., or such claim or action shall thereafter be 
barred. 

 
Article 13 – Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work 

SC-13.01 Cost of the Work 

Delete Paragraph 13.01.B.4 in its entirety. 

 Add the following new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 13.01.C.5: 
6. The cost of special consultants (including engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, attorneys and accountants) shall not be included in any cost of 



    

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 49 of 50 

the Work or otherwise be the obligation of Owner, unless specified in the bidding 
documents or approved in advance by Owner in its sole discretion. 

SC-13.03 Unit Price Work 

Delete Paragraph 13.03.E.1 in its entirety and insert the following in its place: 
1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor results in an 

actual overrun or underrun of 25% of the estimated quantity of such item indicated 
in the Agreement;  

 
Article 14 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work 
 

SC-14.06 Owner May Stop the Work 

 Add the following language to the beginning of Paragraph 14.06.A: 
  If Owner observes a substantial violation of Paragraph 7.12, or… 
 

Article 15 – Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period 
 
SC-15.01 Progress Payments 

Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 15.01.A to read as follows: 
A. The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will serve as the basis 

for progress payments, unless modified in the schedule provisions contained in the General 
Requirements, and will be incorporated … 
SC-15.06 Final Payment 

Add the following language after the last sentence of Paragraph 15.06.D: 

Owner shall, no later than fourteen (14) days before final payment is made, publish a 
notice of final payment at least twice in a legal newspaper of general circulation in any 
county where the work was contracted for or performed pursuant to Section 38-26-107, 
C.R.S.  The requirements set forth in Section 38-26-107 C.R.S. are incorporated into this 
Paragraph 15.06 and shall control in the event of any conflict with the Contract Documents. 

SC-15.08 Correction Period 

 Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 15.08.A to read as follows: 
A. If within two (2) years after the date of Substantial Completion… 

Article 17 – Final Resolution of Disputes 
 

SC-17.01 Methods and Procedures 

Add the new paragraph immediately after Paragraph 17.01.B:  

C. Any mediation or arbitration provision in the Contract Documents shall be optional 
and subject to the mutual consent of Owner and Contractor, each in their sole discretion.  
Compliance with any mediation or arbitration procedure shall not be a pre-requisite to bringing an 
action in a court of competent jurisdiction. 

 



    

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT FOR SCWTA RENEWAL AND REPLACEMENT PROJECTS   Page 50 of 50 

 

EXHIBIT F 
COST FACTORS/PRICING 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Soldier Canyon Filter Plant – Construction Master Services Contract

22

11. CMAR Costs & Fee
Describe how your firm develops a fee for projects of this size and type. 

The development of a fee for a project is developed by analyzing many 
factors, such as: 

■ Relationship with the Owner & Plant Staff

■ Relationship with the Engineer

■ Complexity of the Project

■ Risk Profile

■ Overall Duration

■ Project Size

On this project many of the factors above are favorable and thus we’ve 
determined a Profit/Fee of 12% is appropriate for this project.

We apply OH & P as noted above to the entire Cost of Work. The Cost of 
Work includes items in Table 1, plus Bonds and Insurance which we’ve 
included below.

Regarding Hensel Phelps’ labor, we propose the rates in Table 2. We apply 
Bonds, Insurance and OH & P to the burdened rates in Table 2. There no 
other markups that would be applied to the burdened labor rates.

Describe how your firm uses the markups and cost of work to develop 
the final project cost.

The markups shown in Table 1. will be incorporated in all final project 
costs.

Table 1. Construction Phase Costs

Fee Development Overhead Markup (home office; 
management)

Profit/Fee Markup

General Office 
Overhead (OH)

3%

Profit (P) 12%

Cost of Work Development Field Office Markup

Subcontractor Markup

Permanent Materials markup

Equipment owned and rented 
Markup

Labor (provide unburdened labor 
rates and markups)

Field Office 
Markup

Cost + B & I + OH & P

Subcontractor 
Markup

Cost + B & I + OH & P

Permanent 
Materials Markup

Cost + B & I + OH & P 

Equipment owned 
and rented Markup

Standard Owned Equipment Rates + B & I + OH & P

Labor (provide 
unburdened labor 
rates and Markups)

Burdened Rates in Table 2 + B & I + OH & P

Bonding & Insurance (B & I)  1.60% Total Project Cost

Guaranteed Maximum Price Cost of Work +
Insurance +
Bonds+ 
Overhead + 
Profit 

Guaranteed Maximum Price



Table 2. Hourly Rates for Preconstruction and Construction

March 1, 2023 through March 31, 2024

Staff  Position Base
(Unburdened)

Hourly Rate

Loaded
(Burdened)
Hourly Rate

Burden
Percentage

Project Manager $55.00 $99.00 80%

Project Superintendent $64.00 $111.00 73%

Area Superintendent $55.00 $99.00 80%

Project Engineer $41.00 $76.00 85%

Safety Manager $49.00 $89.00 82%

Office Engineer $38.00 $66.00 74%

Field Engineer $36.00 $63.00 75%

Senior Estimator $61.00 $105.00 72%

Lead Estimator $44.00 $82.00 86%

Estimator $40.00 $70.00 75%

Office Manager $39.00 $67.00 72%

Admin / Secretary $27.00 $50.00 85%

Project Director $68.00 $116.00 71%

Laborer $25.00 $47.00 88%

Laborer Foreman $27.00 $49.00 81%

Laborer General Foreman $26.00 $48.00 85%

Millwright $31.00 $54.00 74%

Millwright Foreman $36.00 $60.00 67%

Millwright General Foreman $39.00 $64.00 64%

Carpenter $31.00 $54.00 74%

Carpenter Foreman $36.00 $60.00 67%

Carpenter General Foreman $44.00 $70.00 59%

Cement Finisher $32.00 $55.00 72%

Cement Finisher Foreman $38.00 $62.00 63%

Cement Finisher General Foreman $42.00 $68.00 62%

Equipment Operator $32.00 $55.00 72%

Equipment Operator Foreman $33.00 $57.00 73%

Equipment Operator General Foreman $40.00 $65.00 63%

Crane Operator $46.00 $73.00 59%

Soldier Canyon Filter Plant – Construction Master Services Contract

23

11. CMAR Costs & Fee



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page i 

 

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Article 1 – Definitions and Terminology ......................................................................................... 1 

1.01 Defined Terms ........................................................................................................................ 1 

1.02 Terminology ......................................................................................................................... 55 

Article 2 – Preliminary Matters ..................................................................................................... 66 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance ...................................................................... 66 

2.02 Copies of Documents ............................................................................................................. 6 

2.03 Before Starting Construction ............................................................................................... 67 

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives ......................... 77 

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules ........................................................................................... 77 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals ......................................................................................................... 78 

Article 3 – Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse .................................................................. 88 

3.01 Intent .................................................................................................................................... 88 

3.02 Reference Standards ............................................................................................................ 88 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies ............................................................................... 89 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents ............................................................................ 9 

3.05 Reuse of Documents ........................................................................................................ 1010 

Article 4 – Commencement and Progress of the Work ............................................................ 1010 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed .................................................. 1010 

4.02 Starting the Work ................................................................................................................. 10 

4.03 Reference Points .............................................................................................................. 1011 

4.04 Progress Schedule ............................................................................................................ 1011 

4.05 Delays in Contractor’s Progress ....................................................................................... 1111 

Article 5 – Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous Environmental 

Conditions ................................................................................................................................. 1212 

5.01 Availability of Lands ......................................................................................................... 1212 

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas ................................................................................................. 12 

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions ................................................................................. 1313 

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions .................................................................... 1414 

5.05 Underground Facilities ..................................................................................................... 1515 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page ii 

 

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site .................................................................. 1617 

Article 6 – Bonds and Insurance ............................................................................................... 1819 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds ....................................................................... 1819 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions ........................................................................................ 1920 

6.03 Contractor’s Insurance ..................................................................................................... 2021 

6.04 Owner’s Liability Insurance .............................................................................................. 2223 

6.05 Property Insurance ........................................................................................................... 2223 

6.06 Waiver of Rights ............................................................................................................... 2425 

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds ............................................... 2526 

Article 7 – Contractor’s Responsibilities ................................................................................... 2627 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence ................................................................................... 2627 

7.02 Labor; Working Hours ...................................................................................................... 2627 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment ................................................................................. 2627 

7.04 “Or Equals” ....................................................................................................................... 2627 

7.05 Substitutes ....................................................................................................................... 2729 

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others ......................................................... 2930 

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties ................................................................................................ 3032 

7.08 Permits ............................................................................................................................. 3132 

7.09 Taxes ................................................................................................................................ 3132 

7.10 Laws and Regulations ....................................................................................................... 3132 

7.11 Record Documents ........................................................................................................... 3233 

7.12 Safety and Protection ....................................................................................................... 3233 

7.13 Safety Representative ...................................................................................................... 3334 

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs ................................................................................... 3334 

7.15 Emergencies ..................................................................................................................... 3334 

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals .............................................................. 3335 

7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee............................................................... 3537 

7.18 Indemnification ................................................................................................................ 3638 

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services ..................................................................... 3738 

Article 8 – Other Work at the Site ............................................................................................ 3739 

8.01 Other Work ...................................................................................................................... 3739 

8.02 Coordination .................................................................................................................... 3840 

8.03 Legal Relationships ........................................................................................................... 3840 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page iii 

 

Article 9 – Owner’s Responsibilities .......................................................................................... 3941 

9.01 Communications to Contractor ........................................................................................ 3941 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer ................................................................................................. 3941 

9.03 Furnish Data ..................................................................................................................... 4041 

9.04 Pay When Due .................................................................................................................. 4041 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings ...................................................... 4041 

9.06 Insurance .......................................................................................................................... 4042 

9.07 Change Orders .................................................................................................................. 4042 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals .................................................................................... 4042 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities .......................................................................... 4042 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition ........................................................... 4042 

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements ................................................................................ 4042 

9.12 Safety Programs ............................................................................................................... 4042 

Article 10 – Engineer’s Status During Construction .................................................................. 4142 

10.01 Owner’s Representative ................................................................................................... 4142 

10.02 Visits to Site ...................................................................................................................... 4142 

10.03 Project Representative ..................................................................................................... 4143 

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work ................................................................................................. 4143 

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments ................................................................ 4143 

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work ................................................................................ 4243 

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work ............ 4243 

10.08 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities ................................................ 4244 

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program ..................................................................................... 4244 

Article 11 – Amending the Contract Documents; Changes in the Work .................................. 4244 

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents ...................................................... 4244 

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work ......................................................................... 4345 

11.03 Unauthorized Changes in the Work ................................................................................. 4445 

11.04 Change of Contract Price ................................................................................................. 4446 

11.05 Change of Contract Times ................................................................................................ 4547 

11.06 Change Proposals ............................................................................................................. 4547 

11.07 Execution of Change Orders ............................................................................................. 4648 

11.08 Notification to Surety ....................................................................................................... 4648 

Article 12 – Claims ..................................................................................................................... 4648 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page iv 

 

12.01 Claims ............................................................................................................................... 4648 

Article 13 – Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work .................................................... 4749 

13.01 Cost of the Work .............................................................................................................. 4749 

13.02 Allowances ....................................................................................................................... 5052 

13.03 Unit Price Work ................................................................................................................ 5152 

Article 14 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work ... 5153 

14.01 Access to Work ................................................................................................................. 5153 

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals .................................................................................... 5253 

14.03 Defective Work................................................................................................................. 5254 

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work ......................................................................................... 5355 

14.05 Uncovering Work ............................................................................................................. 5355 

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work .............................................................................................. 5455 

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work ................................................................................ 5456 

Article 15 – Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period ...................... 5456 

15.01 Progress Payments ........................................................................................................... 5456 

15.02 Contractor’s Warranty of Title ......................................................................................... 5859 

15.03 Substantial Completion .................................................................................................... 5860 

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy ................................................................................................. 5960 

15.05 Final Inspection ................................................................................................................ 5961 

15.06 Final Payment ................................................................................................................... 5961 

15.07 Waiver of Claims .............................................................................................................. 6162 

15.08 Correction Period ............................................................................................................. 6163 

Article 16 – Suspension of Work and Termination ................................................................... 6264 

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work .............................................................................................. 6264 

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause ..................................................................................... 6264 

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience ......................................................................... 6365 

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate ........................................................................ 6365 

Article 17 – Final Resolution of Disputes .................................................................................. 6466 

17.01 Methods and Procedures ................................................................................................. 6466 

Article 18 – Miscellaneous ........................................................................................................ 6466 

18.01 Giving Notice .................................................................................................................... 6466 

18.02 Computation of Times ...................................................................................................... 6466 

18.03 Cumulative Remedies ...................................................................................................... 6466 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.     Page v 

 

18.04 Limitation of Damages ..................................................................................................... 6567 

18.05 No Waiver ........................................................................................................................ 6567 

18.06 Survival of Obligations ..................................................................................................... 6567 

18.07 Controlling Law ................................................................................................................ 6567 

18.08 Headings ........................................................................................................................... 6567 

 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 1 of 65 

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 

1.01 Defined Terms 

A. Wherever used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with 

initial capital letters, including the term’s singular and plural forms, will have the meaning 

indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with initial 

capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and 

paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms. 

1. Addenda—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which 

clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the proposed Contract 

Documents. 

2. Agreement—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Contractor, that sets forth 

the Contract Price and Contract Times, identifies the parties and the Engineer, and 

designates the specific items that are Contract Documents. 

3. Application for Payment—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by 

Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and 

which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the 

Contract Documents. 

4. Bid—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for 

the Work to be performed. 

5. Bidder—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner. 

6. Bidding Documents—The Bidding Requirements, the proposed Contract Documents, 

and all Addenda. 

7. Bidding Requirements—The advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, 

Bid Bond or other Bid security, if any, the Bid Form, and the Bid with any attachments. 

8. Change Order—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes 

an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or 

the Contract Times, or other revision to the Contract, issued on or after the Effective 

Date of the Contract. 

9. Change Proposal—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with 

the procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price 

or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the 

requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the 

Contract Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other relief 

with respect to the terms of the Contract. 

10. Claim—(a) —A demand or assertion by Owner directly to Contractor, duly submitted in 

compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein: seeking an adjustment 

of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer 

concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work 

under the Contract Documents; contesting Engineer’s decision regarding a Change 

Proposal; seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to 

address; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract; or (b) a 

demand or assertion by Contractor directly to Owner, duly submitted in compliance 

with the procedural requirements set forth herein, contesting Engineer’s decision 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 2 of 65 

regarding a Change Proposal; or seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer 

has declined to address.. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim. 

11. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated 

biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other 

material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed 

pursuant to (a) the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 

Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. (“CERCLA”); (b) the Hazardous Materials 

Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§5101 et seq.; (c) the Resource Conservation and 

Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq. (“RCRA”); (d) the Toxic Substances Control Act, 

15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; (e) the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; (f) the Clean 

Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.; or (g) any other federal, state, or local statute, law, 

rule, regulation, ordinance, resolution, code, order, or decree regulating, relating to, or 

imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or 

dangerous waste, substance, or material. 

12. Contract—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner and 

Contractor concerning the Work. 

13. Contract Documents—Those items so designated in the Agreement, and which together 

comprise the Contract. 

14. Contract Price—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion of 

the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. . 

15. Contract Times—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall: (a) achieve 

Milestones, if any; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the Work. 

16. Contractor—The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for performance 

of the Work. 

17. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 13.01 for definition. 

18. Drawings—The part of the Contract that graphically shows the scope, extent, and 

character of the Work to be performed by Contractor. 

19. Effective Date of the Contract—The date, indicated in the Agreement, on which the 

Contract becomes effective. 

20. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement. 

21. Field Order—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the 

Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times. 

22. Hazardous Environmental Condition—The presence at the Site of Constituents of 

Concern in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or 

property exposed thereto.  The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for 

the execution of the Work, or that are to be incorporated in the Work, and that are 

controlled and contained pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and the 

requirements of the Contract, does not establish a Hazardous Environmental Condition. 

23. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, 

regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, 

authorities, and courts having jurisdiction. 

24. Liens—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Contract-related funds, real 

property, or personal property. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 3 of 65 

25. Milestone—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Contract requires 

Contractor to achieve by an intermediate completion date or by a time prior to 

Substantial Completion of all the Work. 

26. Notice of Award—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner’s acceptance of 

the Bid. 

27. Notice to Proceed—A written notice by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which 

the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to perform 

the Work. 

28. Owner—The individual or entity with which Contractor has contracted regarding the 

Work, and which has agreed to pay Contractor for the performance of the Work, 

pursuant to the terms of the Contract. 

29. Progress Schedule—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing the 

sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor’s plan to accomplish 

the Work within the Contract Times. 

30. Project—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, contractors, 

and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, commissioning, and 

start-up, and of which the Work to be performed under the Contract Documents is a 

part. 

31. Project Manual—The written documents prepared for, or made available for, procuring 

and constructing the Work, including but not limited to the Bidding Documents or other 

construction procurement documents, geotechnical and existing conditions 

information, the Agreement, bond forms, General Conditions, Supplementary 

Conditions, and Specifications. The contents of the Project Manual may be bound in one 

or more volumes. 

32. Resident Project Representative—The authorized representative of Engineer assigned 

to assist Engineer at the Site. As used herein, the term Resident Project Representative 

or “RPR” includes any assistants or field staff of Resident Project Representative. 

33. Samples—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are 

representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which 

such portion of the Work will be judged. 

34. Schedule of Submittals—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of 

required submittals and the time requirements for Engineer’s review of the submittals 

and the performance of related construction activities. 

35. Schedule of Values—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating 

portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for 

reviewing Contractor’s Applications for Payment. 

36. Shop Drawings—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or 

information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and 

submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work.  Shop Drawings, 

whether approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Contract Documents. 

37. Site—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner 

upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and 

such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 4 of 65 

38. Specifications—The part of the Contract that consists of written requirements for 

materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, 

and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable to the 

Work. 

39. Subcontractor—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with 

any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work. 

40. Substantial Completion—The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has 

progressed to the point where, in the opinion of Engineer, the Work (or a specified part 

thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that 

the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is 

intended. The terms “substantially complete” and “substantially completed” as applied 

to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. 

41. Successful Bidder—The Bidder whose Bid the Owner accepts, and to which the Owner 

makes an award of contract, subject to stated conditions. 

42. Supplementary Conditions—The part of the Contract that amends or supplements these 

General Conditions. 

43. Supplier—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor 

having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials 

or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor. 

44. Technical Data—Those items expressly identified as Technical Data in the 

Supplementary Conditions, with respect to either (a) subsurface conditions at the Site, 

or physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site 

(except Underground Facilities) or (b) Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site. 

If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to 

conditions at the Site, then the data contained in boring logs, recorded measurements 

of subsurface water levels, laboratory test results, and other factual, objective 

information regarding conditions at the Site that are set forth in any geotechnical or 

environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor are 

hereby defined as Technical Data with respect to conditions at the Site under 

Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.06. 

45. Underground Facilities—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, 

manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any 

encasements containing such facilities, including but not limited to those that convey 

electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other 

communications, fiber optic transmissions, cable television, water, wastewater, storm 

water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems. 

46. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices. 

47. Work—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof 

required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result 

of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce 

such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and equipment 

into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, start-up, and 

commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents. 

48. Work Change Directive—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the 

Effective Date of the Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, 

ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 5 of 65 

1.02 Terminology 

A. The words and terms discussed in the following paragraphs are not defined but, when used 

in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning. 

B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives:Intentionally omitted. 

1. The Contract Documents include the terms “as allowed,” “as approved,” “as ordered,” 

“as directed” or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional 

judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives “reasonable,” “suitable,” 

“acceptable,” “proper,” “satisfactory,” or adjectives of like effect or import are used to 

describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that such 

exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to evaluate, in 

general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract Documents and 

with the design concept of the Project as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in 

the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The 

use of any such term or adjective is not intended to and shall not be effective to assign 

to Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work, 

or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of Article 

10 or any other provision of the Contract Documents. 

C. Day: 

1. The word “day” means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next 

midnight. 

D. Defective: 

1. The word “defective,” when modifying the word “Work,” refers to Work that is 

unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it: 

a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or 

b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, 

test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or. 

c. has been damaged prior to Engineer’s recommendation of final payment (unless 

responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial 

Completion in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or 15.04). 

E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide: 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, 

shall mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or 

some other specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable 

condition. 

2. The word “install,” when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, 

shall mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or equipment 

complete and ready for intended use. 

3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when used in connection with services, materials, or 

equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment 

complete and ready for intended use. 

4. If the Contract Documents establish an obligation of Contractor with respect to specific 

services, materials, or equipment, but do not expressly use any of the four words 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 6 of 65 

“furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or “provide,” then Contractor shall furnish and install 

said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use. 

F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-

known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract 

Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning. 

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance 

A. Bonds: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, 

Contractor shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish. 

B. Evidence of Contractor’s Insurance: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of 

the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each named 

insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere 

in the Contract), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be provided by 

Contractor in accordance with Article 6. 

C. Evidence of Owner’s Insurance: After receipt of the executed counterparts of the Agreement 

and all required bonds and insurance documentation, Owner shall promptly deliver to 

Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in the 

Supplementary Conditions or otherwise), the certificates and other evidence of insurance 

required to be provided by Owner under Article 6. 

2.02 Copies of Documents 

A. Owner shall furnish to Contractor four printed copies of the Contract (including one fully 

executed counterpart of the Agreement), and one copy in electronic portable document 

format (PDF). Additional printed copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of 

reproduction. 

B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the 

Contract, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other 

design professionals.  Owner shall make such original printed record version of the Contract 

available to Contractor for review. Owner may delegate the responsibilities under this 

provision to Engineer. 

2.03   Before Starting Construction 

A. Preliminary Schedules: Within 10 days after the Effective Date of the Contract (or as 

otherwise specifically required by the Contract Documents), Contractor shall submit to 

Engineer for timely review: 

1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for 

starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones 

specified in the Contract; 

2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and 

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work which includes quantities and prices 

of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work 

into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments 

during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate amount of 

overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 7 of 65 

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives 

A. Before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by Owner, Contractor, 

Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among 

the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 2.03.A, 

procedures for handling Shop Drawings, Samples, and other submittals, processing 

Applications for Payment, electronic or digital transmittals, and maintaining required 

records. 

B. At this conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific individual 

to act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and responsibilities under 

the Contract.  Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit and receive information, 

render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on behalf of each respective 

party. 

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules 

A. At least 10 days before submission of the first Application for Payment, a conference, 

attended by Contractor, Engineer, and others as appropriate, will be held to review for 

acceptability to Engineer as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with 

Paragraph 2.03.A. Contractor shall have an additional 10 days to make corrections and 

adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be 

made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer. 

1. The Progress Schedule will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides an orderly 

progression of the Work to completion within the Contract Times. Such acceptance will 

not impose on Engineer responsibility for the Progress Schedule, for sequencing, 

scheduling, or progress of the Work, nor interfere with or relieve Contractor from 

Contractor’s full responsibility therefor. 

2. Contractor’s Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a 

workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals. 

3. Contractor’s Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance 

if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component parts of the 

Work. 

2.06 Electronic Transmittals 

A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract, the Owner, Engineer, and Contractor 

may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, text, data, documents, 

drawings, information, and graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other 

submittals, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, or through access to a secure 

Project website. 

B. If the Contract does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then Owner, 

Engineer, and Contractor shall jointly develop such protocols. 

C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes 

no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items 

resulting from the recipient’s use of software application packages, operating systems, or 

computer hardware differing from those used in the drafting or transmittal of the items, or 

from those established in applicable transmittal protocols. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 8 of 65 

ARTICLE 3 – DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE 

3.01 Intent 

A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if 

required by all. 

B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or part 

thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the 

electronic or digital versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies derived 

from such electronic or digital versions) and the printed record version, the printed record 

version shall govern. 

D. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether 

written or oral. 

E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided 

herein. 

3.02 Reference Standards 

A. Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations 

1. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, reference 

standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or 

Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the 

standard specification, manual, reference standard, code, or Laws or Regulations in 

effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Contract if there 

were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract 

Documents. 

2. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, 

or any instruction of a Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or responsibilities 

of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, 

or employees, from those set forth in the part of the Contract Documents prepared by 

or for Engineer. No such provision or instruction shall be effective to assign to Owner, 

Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 

consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to supervise or direct the 

performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility 

inconsistent with the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or 

for Engineer. 

3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies 

A. Reporting Discrepancies: 

1. Contractor’s Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each 

part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check 

and verify pertinent figures and dimensions therein, particularly with respect to 

applicable field measurements. Contractor shall promptly report in writing to Engineer 

any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy that Contractor discovers, or has actual 

knowledge of, and shall not proceed with any Work affected thereby until the conflict, 

error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by 

Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued 

pursuant to Paragraph 11.01. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 9 of 65 

2. Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents: If, before or during the performance of the 

Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within the 

Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable Law 

or Regulation, (b) actual field conditions, (c) any standard specification, manual, 

reference standard, or code, or (d) any instruction of any Supplier, then Contractor shall 

promptly report it to Engineer in writing. Contractor shall not proceed with the Work 

affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15) until the 

conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation 

by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued 

pursuant to Paragraph 11.01. 

3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, 

error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had 

actual knowledge thereof. 

B. Resolving Discrepancies: 

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the 

provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer shall take 

precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between such 

provisions of the Contract Documents and: 

a. the provisions of any standard specification, manual, reference standard, or code, 

or the instruction of any Supplier (whether or not specifically incorporated by 

reference as a Contract Document); or 

b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the 

Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents 

would result in violation of such Law or Regulation). 

3.04 Requirements of the Contract Documents 

A. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall 

submit to the Engineer all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract 

Documents (sometimes referred to as requests for information or interpretation—RFIs), or 

relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, as soon as possible 

after such matters arise. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the 

Contract Documents, and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder. 

B. Engineer will, with reasonable promptness, render a written clarification, interpretation, or 

decision on the issue submitted, or initiate an amendment or supplement to the Contract 

Documents. Engineer’s written clarification, interpretation, or decision will be final and 

binding on Contractor, unless it appeals by submitting a Change Proposal, and on Owner, 

unless it appeals by filing a Claim. 

C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract Documents 

that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the Contract 

Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) 

other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will promptly give written notice to 

Owner and Contractor that Engineer is unable to provide a decision or interpretation. If 

Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on resolution of such a matter in question, either 

party may pursue resolution as provided in Article 12. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 10 of 65 

3.05 Reuse of Documents 

A. Contractor and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not: 

1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, 

or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of 

Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions, or reuse any such 

Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the 

Project or any other project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific 

written verification or adaptation by Engineer; or 

2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse 

any such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner’s express written 

consent, or violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents. 

B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the 

Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract 

Documents for record purposes. 

ARTICLE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK 

4.01 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed 

A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the 

Contract or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A 

Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the 

Contract. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the sixtieth day 

after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Contract, 

whichever date is earlier. 

4.02 Starting the Work 

A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times commence 

to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to such date. 

4.03 Reference Points 

A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which 

in Engineer’s judgment are necessary to enable Contractor to proceed with the Work. 

Contractor shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the 

established reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or 

relocations without the prior written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to Engineer 

whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or requires 

relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be responsible for 

the accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points or property monuments by 

professionally qualified personnel. 

4.04 Progress Schedule 

A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 

2.05 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below. 

1. Contractor shall submit tonotify Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in 

Paragraph 2.05) of proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result 

in changing the Contract Times. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 11 of 65 

2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times 

shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 11. 

B. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes 

or disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of 

any disputes or disagreements, or during any appeal process, except as permitted by 

Paragraph 16.04, or as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing. 

4.05 Delays in Contractor’s Progress 

A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes 

with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an 

equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor’s entitlement to 

an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to 

Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for 

delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. Delay, 

disruption, and interference attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or 

Supplier shall be deemed to be within the control of Contractor. 

C. If Contractor’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by 

unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and those 

for which they areContractor is responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable 

adjustment in Contract Times. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract 

Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete 

the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor’s sole and 

exclusive remedy for the delays, disruption, and interference described in this paragraph. 

Causes of delay, disruption, or interference that may give rise to an adjustment in Contract 

Times under this paragraph include but are not limited to the following: 

1. severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and 

earthquakes; 

2. abnormal weather conditions; 

3. acts or failures to act of utility owners (other than those performing other work at or 

adjacent to the Site by arrangement with the Owner, as contemplated in Article 8); and 

4. acts of war or terrorism. 

D. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting 

from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility 

that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents, or not shown or indicated with 

reasonable accuracy, and those resulting from Hazardous Environmental Conditions, are 

governed by Article 5. 

E. Paragraph 8.03 governs delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress 

of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent to the Site. 

F. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for any 

delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or 

interference caused by or within the control of Contractor.Intentionally omitted. 

G. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or 

Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the commencement of the delaying, 

disrupting, or interfering event. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 12 of 65 

G.H. COVID-19 and Infectious Diseases. The Contract Sum and Contract Time are based on 

Contractor's compliance with all currently enacted governmental health and safety orders, 

laws, requirements, and guidance associated with COVID-19. The Contract Sum and Contract 

Time do not contemplate, and specifically exclude, all other cost or schedule impacts caused 

by COVID-19 or other infectious disease outbreaks, including, but not limited to, future 

changes to governmental health and safety orders, laws, requirements, and guidance; labor 

or material shortages; or other disruptions to the Work. The Contract Time will be equitably 

adjusted for schedule impacts and disruptions caused by COVID-19 or other infectious 

disease outbreaks. In addition, the Contract Sum will be equitably adjusted for cost impacts 

caused by future changes to governmental health and safety orders, laws, requirements, and 

guidance. 

ARTICLE 5 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 

5.01 Availability of Lands 

A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or 

restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which 

Contractor must comply in performing the Work. 

B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement 

of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements 

are to be made and Owner’s interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a 

mechanic’s or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and 

Regulations. 

C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for 

temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment. 

5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas 

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas: 

1. Contractor shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the 

storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, adjacent 

areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or 

otherwise, and other adjacent areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not 

unreasonably encumber the Site and such other adjacent areas with construction 

equipment or other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility 

for (a) damage to the Site; (b) damage to any such other adjacent areas used for 

Contractor’s operations; (c) damage to any other adjacent land or areas; and (d) for 

injuries and losses sustained by the owners or occupants of any such land or areas; 

provided that such damage or injuries result from the performance of the Work or from 

other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible. 

2. If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area 

because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the 

Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible, Contractor shall (a) take 

immediate corrective or remedial action as required by Paragraph 7.12, or otherwise; 

(b) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with such 

owner or occupant, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute 

resolution proceeding, or at law; and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 

Regulations, indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the its officers, 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 13 of 65 

directors, members, partners, and employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors 

of each and any of them from and against any such claim, and against all costs, losses, 

and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 

attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 

resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, 

brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party 

indemnified hereunder to the extent caused directly or indirectly, in whole or in part by, 

or based upon, Contractor’s performance of the Work, or because of other actions or 

conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible. 

B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work: During the progress of the Work the 

Contractor shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste 

materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, 

and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. Cleaning: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and the 

Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work Contractor 

shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, appliances, construction equipment 

and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all property not 

designated for alteration by the Contract Documents. 

D. Loading of Structures: Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be 

loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any part 

of the Work or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures that will endanger them. 

5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 

adjacent to the Site; 

2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or 

subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities); and 

3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy 

of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with respect to 

such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no 

such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of 

the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or environmental 

report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for such reliance 

on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or 

Engineer, or any of their its officers, directors, members, partners, or employees, agents, 

consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, but 

not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and 

programs incident thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or 

shown or indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any 

such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 14 of 65 

5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 

A. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is 

uncovered or revealed at the Site either: 

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Contractor is entitled 

to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.03 is materially inaccurate; or 

2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications; or 

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or 

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered 

and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the 

Contract Documents; 

then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing 

the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith 

(except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), notify Owner and Engineer in 

writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform 

any Work in connection therewith (except with respect to an emergency) until receipt of a 

written statement permitting Contractor to do so. 

B. Engineer’s Review: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, 

Engineer will promptly review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine 

the necessity of Owner’s obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the 

condition; conclude whether the condition falls within any one or more of the differing site 

condition categories in Paragraph 5.04.A above; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule 

information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the 

Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in 

question and the need for any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and advise Owner 

in writing  of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations. 

C. Owner’s Statement to Contractor Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer’s 

written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement 

to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical condition in 

question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating 

whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting 

Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in part. 

D. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract 

Times, or both, to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical 

condition, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or 

decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, 

however, to the following: 

a. such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in 

Paragraph 5.04.A; 

b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in 

Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; and, 

c. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on 

such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 

within the Contract Times. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 15 of 65 

2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract 

Times with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if: 

a. Contractor knew of the existence of such condition at the time Contractor made a 

commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the 

submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract, or otherwise; 

or 

b. the existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or revealed 

as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site 

and contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract 

Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor’s making such 

commitment; or 

c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 5.04.A. 

3. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor’s entitlement to and the amount 

or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any 

such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

4. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or 

extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later than 

30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Contractor 

regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question. 

5.05 Underground Facilities 

A. Contractor’s Responsibilities: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract 

Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site is based 

on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such Underground 

Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the 

Supplementary Conditions: 

1. Owner and Engineer does not warrant or guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 

any such information or data provided by others; and 

2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor shall 

have full responsibility for: 

a. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground 

Facilities at the Site; 

b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents 

as being at the Site; 

c. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such Underground 

Facilities, during construction; and 

d. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities at the Site, and 

repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work. 

B. Notice by Contractor: If Contractor believes that an Underground Facility that is uncovered 

or revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not 

shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, then Contractor shall, promptly after 

becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or 

performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by 

Paragraph 7.15), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to 

that owner and to Owner and Engineer. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 16 of 65 

C. Engineer’s Review: Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and conclude 

whether such Underground Facility was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, 

or was not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy; obtain any pertinent cost or 

schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the 

Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the Underground Facility in question; 

determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications 

to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground 

Facility; and advise Owner in writing  of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and 

recommendations. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and 

protection of such Underground Facility. 

D. Owner’s Statement to Contractor Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of Engineer’s 

written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement 

to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Facility in question, 

addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such Underground Facility, indicating 

whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting 

Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations in whole or in part. 

E. Possible Price and Times Adjustments: 

1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract 

Times, or both, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility at the Site that was 

not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or indicated with 

reasonable accuracy, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an 

increase or decrease in Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of the 

Work; subject, however, to the following: 

a. Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be 

aware of or to have anticipated the existence or actual location of the Underground 

Facility in question; 

b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in 

Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; 

c. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on 

such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 

within the Contract Times; and 

d. Contractor gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.05.B. 

2. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor’s entitlement to and the amount 

or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any 

such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order. 

3. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or 

extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later than 

30 days after Owner’s issuance of the Owner’s written statement to Contractor 

regarding the Underground Facility in question. 

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site 

A. Reports and Drawings: The Supplementary Conditions identify: 

1. those reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental 

Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and 

2. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 17 of 65 

B. Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy 

of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions with respect to 

such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no 

such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely on the accuracy of the 

Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or environmental report 

prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for such reliance on 

Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, 

or any of their its officers, directors, members, partners, or employees, agents, consultants, 

or subcontractors with respect to: 

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor’s purposes, including, but 

not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and 

procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and 

programs incident thereto; or 

2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or 

shown or indicated in such drawings; or 

3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any 

such other data, interpretations, opinions or information. 

C. Contractor shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous 

Environmental Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such 

removal or remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents to be within the 

scope of the Work. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all 

Constituents of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or 

anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible, and for any associated costs; and for the 

costs of removing and remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition created by the 

presence of any such Constituents of Concern. 

E. If Contractor encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose 

removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents as being within 

the scope of the Work, or if Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible creates 

a Hazardous Environmental Condition, then Contractor shall immediately: (1) secure or 

otherwise isolate such condition; (2) stop all Work in connection with such condition and in 

any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15); and (3) 

notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm such notice in writing). Owner 

shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the necessity for Owner to retain a qualified 

expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any. Promptly after consulting 

with Engineer, Owner shall take such actions as are necessary to permit Owner to timely 

obtain required permits and provide Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 

5.06.F. If Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible created the Hazardous 

Environmental Condition in question, then Owner may remove and remediate the Hazardous 

Environmental Condition, and impose a set-off against payments to account for the 

associated costs. 

F. Contractor shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental 

Condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related 

thereto, and delivered written notice to Contractor either (1) specifying that such condition 

and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work, or (2) 

specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 18 of 65 

G. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 

any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such Work 

stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by 

Contractor, then within 30 days of Owner’s written notice regarding the resumption of Work, 

Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may impose a set-off. 

H. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work based 

on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special 

conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by 

such condition to be deleted from the Work, following the contractual change procedures in 

Article 11. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by Owner’s own 

forces or others in accordance with Article 8. 

I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 

harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, 

partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from 

and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 

charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 

arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous 

Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition (1) was 

not shown or indicated in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Contract Documents, 

identified as Technical Data entitled to limited reliance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06.B,  or 

identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (2) 

was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in 

this Paragraph 5.06.I shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and 

against the consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

J. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 

harmless Owner and Engineer, and the its officers, directors, members, partners, and 

employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 

against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges 

of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or 

other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the failure to control, contain, or 

remove a Constituent of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor or by anyone for whom 

Contractor is responsible, or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by Contractor 

or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 5.06.J shall 

obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences 

of that individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 

K. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 do not apply to the presence of 

Constituents of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed 

at the Site. 

ARTICLE 6 – BONDS AND INSURANCE 

6.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds 

A. Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, each in an amount at least 

equal to the Contract Price, as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of 

Contractor’s obligations under the Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until one year 

after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction period 

specified in Paragraph 15.08, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by Laws or 

Regulations, the Supplementary Conditions, or other specific provisions of the Contract. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 19 of 65 

Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the Supplementary 

Conditions or other specific provisions of the Contract. 

B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract except as provided otherwise by 

Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in “Companies 

Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable 

Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (as amended and supplemented) by the 

Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. Department of the Treasury. A bond 

signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be accompanied by a certified copy of that 

individual’s authority to bind the surety.  The evidence of authority shall show that it is 

effective on the date the agent or attorney-in-fact signed the accompanying bond. 

C. Contractor shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or 

authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds in the required 

amounts. 

D. If the surety on a bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, 

or its right to do business is terminated in any state or jurisdiction where any part of the 

Project is located, or the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Contractor 

shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 20 days after the event giving rise 

to such notification, provide another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with the 

bond and surety requirements above. 

E. If Contractor has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Contractor from 

the Site and exercise Owner’s termination rights under Article 16. 

F. Upon request, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to any Subcontractor, 

Supplier, or other person or entity claiming to have furnished labor or materials used in the 

performance of the Work. 

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions 

A. Owner and Contractor shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in this Article and in 

the Supplementary Conditions. 

B. All insurance required by the Contract to be purchased and maintained by Owner or 

Contractor shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized, 

in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located, to issue insurance policies for the 

required limits and coverages. Unless a different standard is indicated in the Supplementary 

Conditions, all companies that provide insurance policies required under this Contract shall 

have an A.M. Best rating of A-VII or better. 

C. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional insured 

(as identified in this Article, in the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the Contract), 

certificates of insurance establishing that Contractor has obtained and is maintaining the 

policies, coverages, and endorsements required by the Contract.  Upon request by Owner or 

any other insured, Contractor shall also furnish other evidence of such required insurance, 

including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and documentation of 

applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Contractor may block out (redact) any 

confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or endorsement 

furnished under this provision. 

D. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured 

(as identified in this Article, the Supplementary Conditions, or elsewhere in the Contract), 

certificates of insurance establishing that Owner has obtained and is maintaining the policies, 

coverages, and endorsements required of Owner by the Contract (if any).  Upon request by 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 20 of 65 

Contractor or any other insured, Owner shall also provide other evidence of such required 

insurance (if any), including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and 

documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles.  Owner may block out 

(redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or 

endorsement furnished under this provision. 

E. Failure of Owner or Contractor to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other 

party’s full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or Contractor 

to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, shall not be construed as 

a waiver of the other party’s obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance. 

F. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the insurance required of such party by 

the Contract, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase 

prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the 

required coverage. 

G. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the 

Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise 

Owner’s termination rights under Article 16. 

H. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required 

insurance, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent insurance to protect such other 

party’s interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, and 

the Contract Price shall be adjusted accordingly. 

I. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract 

necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor or Contractor’s interests. 

J. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on 

Contractor’s liability under the indemnities granted to Owner and other individuals and 

entities in the Contract. 

6.03 Contractor’s Insurance 

A. Workers’ Compensation: Contractor shall purchase and maintain workers’ compensation and 

employer’s liability insurance for: 

1. claims under workers’ compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee 

benefit acts. 

2. United States Longshoreman and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act and Jones Act 

coverage (if applicable). 

3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death 

of Contractor’s employees (by stop-gap endorsement in monopolist worker’s 

compensation states). 

4. Foreign voluntary worker compensation (if applicable). 

B. Commercial General Liability—Claims Covered: Contractor shall purchase and maintain 

commercial general liability insurance, covering all operations by or on behalf of Contractor, 

on an occurrence basis, against: 

1. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person 

other than Contractor’s employees. 

2. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 21 of 65 

3. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of 

tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

C. Commercial General Liability—Form and Content: Contractor’s commercial liability policy 

shall be written on a 1996 (or later) ISO commercial general liability form (occurrence form) 

and include the following coverages and endorsements: 

1. Products and completed operations coverage: 

a. Such insurance shall be maintained for three years after final payment. 

b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured (as identified in 

the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract) evidence of 

continuation of such insurance at final payment and three years thereafter. 

2. Blanket contractual liability coverage, to the extent permitted by law, including but not 

limited to coverage of Contractor’s contractual indemnity obligations in Paragraph 7.18. 

3. Broad form property damage coverage. 

4. Severability of interest. 

5. Underground, explosion, and collapse coverage. 

6.  Personal injury coverage. 

7. Additional insured endorsements that include both ongoing operations and products 

and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 

20 37 10 01 (together); or CG 20 10 07 04 and CG 20 37 07 04 (together); or their 

equivalent. 

8. For design professional additional insureds, ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, 

“Additional Insured—Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named 

Insured” or its equivalent. 

D. Automobile liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain automobile liability insurance 

against claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property 

damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The 

automobile liability policy shall be written on an occurrence basis. 

E. Umbrella or excess liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain umbrella or excess 

liability insurance written over the underlying employer’s liability, commercial general 

liability, and automobile liability insurance described in the paragraphs above. Subject to 

industry-standard exclusions, the coverage afforded shall follow form as to each and every 

one of the underlying policies. 

F. Contractor’s pollution liability insurance: Contractor shall purchase and maintain a policy 

covering third-party injury and property damage claims, including clean-up costs, as a result 

of pollution conditions arising from Contractor’s operations and completed operations. This 

insurance shall be maintained for no less than three years after final completion. 

G. Additional insureds: The Contractor’s commercial general liability, automobile liability, 

umbrella or excess, and pollution liability policies shall include and list as additional insureds 

Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary 

Conditions; include coverage for the respective officers, directors, members, partners, and 

employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional 

insureds; and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall provide primary 

coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those arising from both 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 22 of 65 

ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis. Contractor shall obtain all 

necessary endorsements to support these requirements. 

H. Contractor’s professional liability insurance: If Contractor will provide or furnish professional 

services under this Contract, through a delegation of professional design services or 

otherwise, then Contractor shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining applicable 

professional liability insurance. This insurance shall provide protection against claims arising 

out of performance of professional design or related services, and caused by a negligent 

error, omission, or act for which the insured party is legally liable. It shall be maintained 

throughout the duration of the Contract and for a minimum of two years after Substantial 

Completion. If such professional design services are performed by a Subcontractor, and not 

by Contractor itself, then the requirements of this paragraph may be satisfied through the 

purchasing and maintenance of such insurance by such Subcontractor. 

I. General provisions: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 shall: 

1. include at least the specific coverages provided in this Article. 

2. be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in this Article and in the 

Supplementary Conditions, or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater. 

3. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, 

materially changed, or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has 

been given to Contractor.  Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, 

Contractor shall provide a copy of the notice to Owner, Engineer, and each other insured 

under the policy. 

4. remain in effect at least until final payment (and longer if expressly required in this 

Article) and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be correcting, removing, or 

replacing defective Work as a warranty or correction obligation, or otherwise, or 

returning to the Site to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents. 

5. be appropriate for the Work being performed and provide protection from claims that 

may arise out of or result from Contractor’s performance of the Work and Contractor’s 

other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by 

Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed 

by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of them 

may be liable. 

J. The coverage requirements for specific policies of insurance must be met by such policies, 

and not by reference to excess or umbrella insurance provided in other policies. 

6.04 Owner’s Liability Insurance 

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 6.03, 

Owner, at Owner’s option, may purchase and maintain at Owner’s expense Owner’s own 

liability insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations 

under the Contract Documents. 

B. Owner’s liability policies, if any, operate separately and independently from policies required 

to be provided by Contractor, and Contractor cannot rely upon Owner’s liability policies for 

any of Contractor’s obligations to the Owner, Engineer, or third parties. 

6.05 Property Insurance 

A. Builder’s Risk: Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Contractor shall 

purchase and maintain builder’s risk insurance upon the Work on a completed value basis, 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 23 of 65 

in the amount of the full insurable replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible 

amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and 

Regulations). This insurance shall: 

1. include the Owner and Contractor as named insureds, and all Subcontractors, and any 

individuals or entities required by the Supplementary Conditions to be insured under 

such builder’s risk policy, as insureds or named insureds. For purposes of the remainder 

of this Paragraph 6.05, Paragraphs 6.06 and 6.07, and any corresponding Supplementary 

Conditions, the parties required to be insured shall collectively be referred to as 

“insureds.” 

2. be written on a builder’s risk “all risk” policy form that shall at least include insurance 

for physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials 

and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes 

of loss: fire; lightning; windstorm; riot; civil commotion; terrorism; vehicle impact; 

aircraft; smoke; theft; vandalism and malicious mischief; mechanical breakdown, boiler 

explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic activity, and 

other earth movement; flood; collapse; explosion; debris removal; demolition 

occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations; water damage (other than that 

caused by flood); and such other perils or causes of loss as may be specifically required 

by the Supplementary Conditions. If insurance against mechanical breakdown, boiler 

explosion, and artificially generated electric current; earthquake; volcanic activity, and 

other earth movement; or flood, are not commercially available under builder’s risk 

policies, by endorsement or otherwise, such insurance may be provided through other 

insurance policies acceptable to Owner and Contractor. 

3. cover, as insured property, at least the following: (a) the Work and all materials, 

supplies, machinery, apparatus, equipment, fixtures, and other property of a similar 

nature that are to be permanently incorporated into or used in the preparation, 

fabrication, construction, erection, or completion of the Work, including Owner-

furnished or assigned property; (b) spare parts inventory required within the scope of 

the Contract; and (c) temporary works which are not intended to form part of the 

permanent constructed Work but which are intended to provide working access to the 

Site, or to the Work under construction, or which are intended to provide temporary 

support for the Work under construction, including scaffolding, form work, fences, 

shoring, falsework, and temporary structures. 

4. cover expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property (including 

but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects). 

5. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in temporary storage at the 

Site or in a storage location outside the Site (but not including property stored at the 

premises of a manufacturer or Supplier). 

6. extend to cover damage or loss to insured property while in transit. 

7. allow for partial occupation or use of the Work by Owner, such that those portions of 

the Work that are not yet occupied or used by Owner shall remain covered by the 

builder’s risk insurance. 

8. allow for the waiver of the insurer’s subrogation rights, as set forth below. 

9. provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of 

loss covered. 

10. not include a co-insurance clause. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 24 of 65 

11. include an exception for ensuing losses from physical damage or loss with respect to 

any defective workmanship, design, or materials exclusions. 

12. include performance/hot testing and start-up. 

13. be maintained in effect, subject to the provisions herein regarding Substantial 

Completion and partial occupancy or use of the Work by Owner, until the Work is 

complete. 

B. Notice of Cancellation or Change: All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other 

evidence thereof) required to be purchased and maintained in accordance with this 

Paragraph 6.05 will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not 

be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written 

notice has been given to the purchasing policyholder. Within three days of receipt of any 

such written notice, the purchasing policyholder shall provide a copy of the notice to each 

other insured. 

C. Deductibles: The purchaser of any required builder’s risk or property insuranceContractor 

shall pay for costs not covered because of the application of a policy deductible if the loss is 

caused by Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. 

D. Partial Occupancy or Use by Owner: If Owner will occupy or use a portion or portions of the 

Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in Paragraph 15.04, then 

Owner (directly, if it is the purchaser of the builder’s risk policy, or through Contractor) will 

provide notice of such occupancy or use to the builder’s risk insurer. The builder’s risk 

insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or 

occupancy; rather, those portions of the Work that are occupied or used by Owner may come 

off the builder’s risk policy, while those portions of the Work not yet occupied or used by 

Owner shall remain covered by the builder’s risk insurance. 

E. Additional Insurance: If Contractor elects to obtain other special insurance to be included in 

or supplement the builder’s risk or property insurance policies provided under this Paragraph 

6.05, it may do so at Contractor’s expense. 

F. Insurance of Other Property: If the express insurance provisions of the Contract do not 

require or address the insurance of a property item or interest, such as tools, construction 

equipment, or other personal property owned by Contractor, a Subcontractor, or an 

employee of Contractor or a Subcontractor, then the entity or individual owning such 

property item will be responsible for deciding whether to insure it, and if so in what amount. 

6.06 Waiver of Rights 

A. All policies purchased in accordance with Paragraph 6.05, expressly including the builder’s 

risk policy, shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or 

damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any insureds thereunder, or 

against Engineer or its consultants, or their officers, directors, members, partners, 

employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors. Owner and Contractor waive all rights 

against each other and the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 

agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, for all losses and damages 

caused by, arising out of, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such 

policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in addition, waive all 

such rights against Engineer, its consultants, all Subcontractors, all individuals or entities 

identified in the Supplementary Conditions as insureds, and the officers, directors, members, 

partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them, 

under such policies for losses and damages so caused. None of the above waivers shall 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 25 of 65 

extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to the proceeds of insurance 

held by Owner or Contractor as trustee or fiduciary, or otherwise payable under any policy 

so issued. 

B. Owner waives all rights against Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, 

directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each 

and any of them, for: 

1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending 

beyond direct physical loss or damage to Owner’s property or the Work caused by, 

arising out of, or resulting from fire or other perils whether or not insured by Owner; 

and 

2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or 

resulting from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property 

insurance maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by Owner during partial 

occupancy or use pursuant to Paragraph 15.04, after Substantial Completion pursuant 

to Paragraph 15.03, or after final payment pursuant to Paragraph 15.06. 

C. Any insurance policy maintained by Owner covering any loss, damage or consequential loss 

referred to in Paragraph 6.06.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of 

payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of 

recovery against Contractor, Subcontractors, or Engineer, or the officers, directors, 

members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors of each and any of 

them. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for assuring that the agreement under which a Subcontractor 

performs a portion of the Work contains provisions whereby the Subcontractor waives all 

rights against Owner, Contractor, all individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary 

Conditions as insureds, the Engineer and its consultants, and the officers, directors, 

members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of 

them, for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any 

of the perils or causes of loss covered by builder’s risk insurance and any other property 

insurance applicable to the Work. 

6.07 Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds 

A. Any insured loss under the builder’s risk and other policies of insurance required by 

Paragraph 6.05 will be adjusted and settled with the named insured that purchased the 

policy. Such named insured shall act as fiduciary agent for the other insureds, and give notice 

to such other insureds that adjustment and settlement of a claim is in progress. Any other 

insured may state its position regarding a claim for insured loss in writing within 15 days after 

notice of such claim. 

B. Proceeds for such insured losses may be made payable by the insurer either jointly to 

multiple insureds, or to the named insured that purchased the policy in its own right and as 

fiduciary agent for other insureds, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage 

clause. A named insured receiving insurance proceeds under the builder’s risk and other 

policies of insurance required by Paragraph 6.05 shall distribute such proceeds in accordance 

with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach, or as otherwise required under the 

dispute resolution provisions of this Contract or applicable Laws and Regulations. 

C. If no other special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, 

the money so received applied on account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof 

covered by Change Order, if needed. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 26 of 65 

ARTICLE 7 – CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence 

A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, 

devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary 

to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely 

responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction. 

B. At all times during the progress of the Work, Contractor shall assign a competent resident 

superintendent who shall not be replaced without written notice to Owner and Engineer 

except under extraordinary circumstances. 

7.02 Labor; Working Hours 

A. Contractor shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the 

Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at 

all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site. 

B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property 

at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, 

all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday through Friday. 

Contractor will not perform Work on a Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday. Contractor 

may perform Work outside regular working hours or on Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays 

only with Owner’s written consent, which will not be unreasonably withheld. 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment 

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume 

full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction 

equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, 

sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for 

the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, whether or not such items 

are specifically called for in the Contract Documents. 

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be of good quality and new, 

except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All special warranties and 

guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of Owner. If 

required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of 

required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment. 

C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, 

protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable 

Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents. 

7.04 “Or Equals” 

A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract 

Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the 

Contract Price has been based upon Contractor furnishing such item as specified. The 

specification or description of such an item is intended to establish the type, function, 

appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is 

followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or “or equal” item is permitted, 

Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or 

equipment, or items from other proposed suppliers under the circumstances described 

below. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 27 of 65 

1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of material or equipment 

proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so 

that no change in related Work will be required, Engineer shall deem it an “or equal” 

item. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of material or equipment will 

be considered functionally equal to an item so named if: 

a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that: 

1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, 

strength, and design characteristics; 

2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results 

imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning 

whole; 

3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service; 

and 

4) it is not objectionable to Owner. 

b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work: 

1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; 

and 

2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named 

in the Contract Documents. 

B. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed “or equal” 

item at Contractor’s expense. 

C. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 

evaluate each “or-equal” request.  Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional 

data about the proposed “or-equal” item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No 

“or-equal” item will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is 

complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an “or-equal”, which will be 

evidenced by an approved Shop Drawing or other written communication. Engineer will 

advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. 

D. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: Neither approval nor denial of an “or-equal” request shall 

result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer’s denial of an “or-equal” request shall be 

final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision of the 

Contract Documents. 

E. Treatment as a Substitution Request: If Engineer determines that an item of material or 

equipment proposed by Contractor does not qualify as an “or-equal” item, Contractor may 

request that Engineer considered the proposed item as a substitute pursuant to Paragraph 

7.05. 

7.05 Substitutes 

A. Unless the specification or description of an item of material or equipment required to be 

furnished under the Contract Documents contains or is followed by words reading that no 

substitution is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other 

items of material or equipment under the circumstances described below. To the extent 

possible such requests shall be made before commencement of related construction at the 

Site. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 28 of 65 

1. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to 

determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is functionally equivalent to 

that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Engineer will not accept requests for 

review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment from anyone other than 

Contractor. 

2. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 7.05.B, as 

supplemented by the Specifications, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate under 

the circumstances. 

3. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed 

substitute item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The 

application: 

a. shall certify that the proposed substitute item will: 

1) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the 

general design, 

2) be similar in substance to that specified, and 

3) be suited to the same use as that specified. 

b. will state: 

1) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will 

necessitate a change in Contract Times, 

2) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a change 

in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct 

contract with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the design to the 

proposed substitute item, and 

3) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection 

with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty. 

c. will identify: 

1) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and 

2) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services. 

d. shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or 

indirectly from use of such substitute item, including but not limited to changes in 

Contract Price, shared savings, costs of redesign, and claims of other contractors 

affected by any resulting change. 

B. Engineer’s Evaluation and Determination: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to 

evaluate each substitute request, and to obtain comments and direction from Owner. 

Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute 

item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No substitute will be ordered, 

furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer’s review is complete and Engineer determines 

that the proposed item is an acceptable substitute. Engineer’s determination will be 

evidenced by a Field Order or a proposed Change Order accounting for the substitution itself 

and all related impacts, including changes in Contract Price or Contract Times. Engineer will 

advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. 

C. Special Guarantee: Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor’s expense a 

special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 29 of 65 

D. Reimbursement of Engineer’s Cost: Engineer will record Engineer’s costs in evaluating a 

substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor. Whether or not Engineer approves a 

substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for 

the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed substitute. Contractor 

shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for making changes in the 

Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner) resulting 

from the acceptance of each proposed substitute. 

E. Contractor’s Expense: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed substitute 

at Contractor’s expense. 

F. Effect of Engineer’s Determination: If Engineer approves the substitution request, Contractor 

shall execute the proposed Change Order and proceed with the substitution. The Engineer’s 

denial of a substitution request shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through 

an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents. Contractor may challenge the 

scope of reimbursement costs imposed under Paragraph 7.05.D, by timely submittal of a 

Change Proposal. 

7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others 

A. Contractor may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the 

Work.  Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner. 

B. Contractor shall retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for 

the performance of designated parts of the Work if required by the Contract to do so. 

C. Subsequent to the submittal of Contractor’s Bid or final negotiation of the terms of the 

Contract, Owner may not require Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other 

individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against which Contractor has 

reasonable objection. 

D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Contractor shall submit to 

Owner the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already 

deemed such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable, during the bidding process or 

otherwise). Such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed acceptable to Owner 

unless Owner raises a substantive, reasonable objection within five days. 

E. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 

entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work. Owner also may require 

Contractor to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not require 

a replacement to which Contractor has a reasonable objection. If Contractor has submitted 

the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for 

acceptance by Owner, and Owner has accepted it (either in writing or by failing to make 

written objection thereto), then Owner may subsequently revoke the acceptance of any such 

Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified solely on the basis of 

substantive, reasonable objection after due investigation. Contractor shall submit an 

acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 

entity. 

F. If Owner requires the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 

entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work, then Contractor shall be 

entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, with respect to the 

replacement; and Contractor shall initiate a Change Proposal for such adjustment within 30 

days of Owner’s requirement of replacement. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 30 of 65 

G. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, 

whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the 

completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

H. On a monthly basis Contractor shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors 

and Suppliers having a direct contract with Contractor, and of all other Subcontractors and 

Suppliers known to Contractor at the time of submittal. 

I. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the 

Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of 

the Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor’s own acts and omissions. 

J. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of 

Subcontractors, Suppliers, and all other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any 

of the Work. 

K. Contractor shall restrict all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities 

performing or furnishing any of the Work from communicating with Engineer or Owner, 

except through Contractor or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed 

herein. 

L. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall 

not control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating 

the Work to be performed by any specific trade. 

M. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be pursuant to an 

appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to 

the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of Owner and 

Engineer. 

N. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information 

about amounts paid to Contractor on account of Work performed for Contractor by the 

particular Subcontractor or Supplier. 

O. Nothing in the Contract Documents: 

1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 

entity any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such 

Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; nor 

2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the 

payment of any money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 

entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations. 

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties 

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in 

the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, 

process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. 

If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract 

Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual knowledge of Owner 

or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any 

license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by Owner in 

the Contract Documents. 

B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify and hold 

harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 31 of 65 

consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages 

(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 

other professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out 

of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the 

performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, 

design, process, product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not identified 

as being subject to payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by patent rights 

or copyrights. 

C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify and hold 

harmless Owner and Engineer, and the its officers, directors, members, partners, and 

employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against 

all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 

engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 

dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or 

copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the 

incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device not specified 

in the Contract Documents. 

7.08 Permits 

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall obtain and pay for 

all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in 

obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and 

inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time 

of the submission of Contractor’s Bid (or when Contractor became bound under a negotiated 

contract). Owner shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections for providing 

permanent service to the Work 

7.09 Taxes 

A.  Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 

Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which are 

applicable duringas of the performanceEffective Date of the WorkContract. However, 

Owner will not pay, and the Cost of the Work shall not include sales and use taxes 

and any fees and exactions that could be avoided for a public works project by 

Contractor’s use of Owner’s tax exempt certification or identification number which 

will be provided on request. 

7.10 Laws and Regulations 

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations 

applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by 

applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for 

monitoring Contractor’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations. 

B. If Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to know 

that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and losses, 

and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the its officers, directors, 

members, partners, and employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any 

of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to 

all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court 

or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work or 

other action. It shall not be Contractor’s responsibility to make certain that the Work 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 32 of 65 

described in the Contract Documents is in accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this 

shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor’s obligations under Paragraph 3.03. 

C. Owner or Contractor may give notice to the other party of any changes after the submission 

of Contractor’s Bid (or after the date when Contractor became bound under a negotiated 

contract) in Laws or Regulations having an effect on the cost or time of performance of the 

Work, including but not limited to changes in Laws or Regulations having an effect on 

procuring permits and on sales, use, value-added, consumption, and other similar taxes.  If 

Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if 

any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times resulting from such changes, then 

within 30 days of such notice Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may 

initiate a Claim. 

7.11  Record Documents 

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one printed record copy of all Drawings, 

Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written 

interpretations and clarifications, and approved Shop Drawings. Contractor shall keep such 

record documents in good order and annotate them to show changes made during 

construction. These record documents, together with all approved Samples, will be available 

to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall deliver these 

record documents to Engineer. 

7.12 Safety and Protection 

A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 

precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve 

Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the 

performance of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations.  

Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the 

necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to: 

1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work; 

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in 

storage on or off the Site; and 

3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, 

pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and Underground 

Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of 

construction. 

B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of 

persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; 

and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. 

Contractor shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property, Underground Facilities, and 

other utilities; and other contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent to 

the Site, when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in 

the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property or work in progress. 

C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner’s safety programs, if any.  

The Supplementary Conditions identify any Owner’s safety programs that are applicable to 

the Work. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 33 of 65 

D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor’s 

safety program with which Owner’s and Engineer’s employees and representatives must 

comply while at the Site. 

E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.12.A.2 or 7.12.A.3 

caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, Supplier, 

or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform 

any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by 

Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or 

Specifications or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone employed by any 

of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly 

or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor or any 

Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any 

of them). 

F. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall continue until such 

time as all the Work is completed and Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and Contractor 

in accordance with Paragraph 15.06.B that the Work is acceptable (except as otherwise 

expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion). 

G. Contractor’s duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall resume whenever 

Contractor or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site to fulfill warranty or 

correction obligations, or to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents. 

7.13 Safety Representative 

A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site 

whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining 

and supervising of safety precautions and programs. 

7.14 Hazard Communication Programs 

A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets 

or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged 

between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations. 

7.15 Emergencies 

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the 

Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury, 

or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any 

significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused 

thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a change in the 

Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in response to 

such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued. 

7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals 

A. Shop Drawing and Sample Submittal Requirements: 

1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have: 

a. reviewed and coordinated the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings 

and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents; 

b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified 

performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog 

numbers, and similar information with respect thereto; 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 34 of 65 

c. determined and verified the suitability of all materials and equipment offered with 

respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, 

assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and 

d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor’s responsibilities for 

means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and 

safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has 

satisfied Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to 

Contractor’s review of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal.. 

3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any 

variations that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the 

Contract Documents. This notice shall be set forth in a written communication separate 

from the Shop Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, in the case of Shop 

Drawings by a specific notation made on each Shop Drawing submitted to Engineer for 

review and approval of each such variation. 

B. Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples: Contractor shall submit Shop Drawings 

and Samples to Engineer for review and approval in accordance with the accepted Schedule 

of Submittals. Each submittal will be identified as Engineer may require. 

1. Shop Drawings: 

a. Contractor shall submit the number of copies required in the Specifications. 

b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, 

dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data 

to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to 

provide and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited purposes 

required by Paragraph 7.16.D. 

2. Samples: 

a. Contractor shall submit the number of Samples required in the Specifications. 

b. Contractor shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent 

data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as 

Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the submittal for the limited 

purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D. 

3. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the 

Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer’s review and 

approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of 

Contractor. 

C. Other Submittals: Contractor shall submit other submittals to Engineer in accordance with 

the accepted Schedule of Submittals, and pursuant to the applicable terms of the 

Specifications. 

D. Engineer’s Review: 

1. Engineer will provide timely review of Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with 

the Schedule of Submittals acceptable to Engineer.. Engineer’s review and approval will 

be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or 

incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract Documents 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 35 of 65 

and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning 

whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. 

2. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, 

sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs incident 

thereto. 

3. Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of 

the assembly in which the item functions. 

4. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve Contractor 

from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents 

unless Contractor has complied with the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.A.3 and 

Engineer has given written approval of each such variation by specific written notation 

thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or Sample. Engineer will 

document any such approved variation from the requirements of the Contract 

Documents in a Field Order. 

5. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample shall not relieve Contractor 

from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.A and B. 

6. Engineer’s review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample, or of a variation from the 

requirements of the Contract Documents, shall not, under any circumstances, change 

the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such changes are included in a Change 

Order. 

7. Neither Engineer’s receipt, review, acceptance or approval of a Shop Drawing, Sample, 

or other submittal shall result in such item becoming a Contract Document. 

8. Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and 

commitments set forth in approved Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the 

provisions of Paragraph 7.16.D.4. 

E. Resubmittal Procedures: 

1. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required 

number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit, as required, new Samples for 

review and approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions 

other than the corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals. 

2. Contractor shall furnish required submittals with sufficient information and accuracy to 

obtain required approval of an item with no more than three submittals. Engineer will 

record Engineer’s time for reviewing a fourth or subsequent submittal of a Shop 

Drawings, sample, or other item requiring approval, and Contractor shall be responsible 

for Engineer’s charges to Owner for such time. Owner may impose a set-off against 

payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges. 

3. If Contractor requests a change of a previously approved submittal item, Contractor 

shall be responsible for Engineer’s charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner may 

impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such 

charges, unless the need for such change is beyond the control of Contractor. 

7.17 Contractor’s General Warranty and Guarantee 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the 

Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 36 of 65 

partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on 

Contractor’s warranty and guarantee. 

B. Contractor’s warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by: 

1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than 

Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom 

Contractor is responsible; or 

2. normal wear and tear under normal usage. 

C. Contractor’s obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 

Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work 

that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor’s obligation 

to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents: 

1. observations by Engineer; 

2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment; 

3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment 

related thereto by Owner; 

4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner; 

5. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal; 

6. the issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer; 

7. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or 

8. any correction of defective Work by Owner. 

D. If the Contract requires the Contractor to accept the assignment of a contract entered into 

by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, and correction obligations contained in 

the assigned contract shall govern with respect to Contractor’s performance obligations to 

Owner for the Work described in the assigned contract. 

D. Intentionally omitted. 

7.18 Indemnification 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other 

obligations of Contractor under the Contract  or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and 

hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the its officers, directors, members, partners, and 

employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against 

all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 

engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 

dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided 

that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, 

or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), 

including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent 

act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity 

directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for 

whose acts any of them may be liable. 

B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their its officers, directors, 

members, partners, or employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee 

(or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 37 of 65 

Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any 

of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, 

the indemnification obligation under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not be limited in any way by any 

limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for 

Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers’ 

compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 

C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not extend to the 

liability of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 

agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of: 

1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, 

opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or 

2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of 

the injury or damage. 

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services 

A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services 

are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless such 

services are required to carry out Contractor’s responsibilities for construction means, 

methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to provide 

professional services in violation of applicable Laws and Regulations. 

B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, 

materials, or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, 

Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must 

satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly 

licensed professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, 

specifications, certifications, and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop 

Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such 

professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional’s written approval when 

submitted to Engineer. 

C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy, and completeness 

of the services, certifications, or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided 

Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria that 

such services must satisfy. 

D. Pursuant to this paragraph, Engineer’s review and approval of design calculations and design 

drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with performance 

and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. 

Engineer’s review and approval of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except design 

calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 7.16.D.1. 

E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria 

specified by Owner or Engineer. 

ARTICLE 8 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE 

8.01 Other Work 

A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents, the Owner may 

perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may be performed by Owner’s 

employees, or through contracts between the Owner and third parties. Owner may also 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 38 of 65 

arrange to have third-party utility owners perform work on their utilities and facilities at or 

adjacent to the Site. 

B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or through 

contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Contractor written notice thereof prior 

to starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information regarding the start of any 

utility work at or adjacent to the Site, Owner shall provide such information to Contractor. 

C. Contractor shall afford each other contractor that performs such other work, each utility 

owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner’s 

employees, proper and safe access to the Site, and provide a reasonable opportunity for the 

introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other work. 

Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to 

properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate 

with such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, 

excavating, or otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor may cut or 

alter others' work with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose work will be 

affected. 

D. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor’s Work depends upon work 

performed by others under this Article 8, Contractor shall inspect such other work and 

promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work 

that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of Contractor’s 

Work. Contractor’s failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as 

fit and proper for integration with Contractor’s Work except for latent defects and 

deficiencies in such other work. 

8.02 Coordination 

A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to 

the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, or to 

arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the Site, the following will be 

set forth in the Supplementary Conditions or provided to Contractor prior to the start of any 

such other work: 

1. the identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for 

coordination of the activities among the various contractors; 

2. an itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility; 

and 

3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities. 

B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, Owner shall have sole authority 

and responsibility for such coordination. 

8.03 Legal Relationships 

A. If, in the course of performing other work at or adjacent to the Site for Owner, the Owner’s 

employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner for whom the 

Owner is responsible causes damage to the Work or to the property of Contractor or its 

Subcontractors, or delays, disrupts, interferes with, or increases the scope or cost of the 

performance of the Work, through actions or inaction, then Contractor shall be entitled to 

an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor 

must submit any Change Proposal seeking an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or 

the Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the damaging, delaying, 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 39 of 65 

disrupting, or interfering event. The entitlement to, and extent of, any such equitable 

adjustment shall take into account information (if any) regarding such other work that was 

provided to Contractor in the Contract Documents prior to the submittal of the Bid or the 

final negotiation of the terms of the Contract. When applicable, any such equitable 

adjustment in Contract Price shall be conditioned on Contractor assigning to Owner all 

Contractor’s rights against such other contractor or utility owner with respect to the damage, 

delay, disruption, or interference that is the subject of the adjustment. Contractor’s 

entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being 

essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. 

B. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, 

disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner 

performing other work at or adjacent to the Site. If Contractor fails to take such measures 

and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any such other 

contractor or utility owner, then Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to 

Contractor, and assign to such other contractor or utility owner the Owner’s contractual 

rights against Contractor with respect to the breach of the obligations set forth in this 

paragraph. 

C. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner’s employees, 

Contractor shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable 

direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a result of Contractor’s 

failure to take reasonable and customary measures with respect to Owner’s other work. In 

response to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference, Owner may impose a set-off 

against payments due to Contractor. 

D. If Contractor damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, 

or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Contractor’s 

failure to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such impacts, or if any claim 

arising out of Contractor’s actions, inactions, or negligence in performance of the Work at or 

adjacent to the Site is made by any such other contractor or utility owner against Contractor, 

or Owner, or Engineer, then Contractor shall (1) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to 

all parties through negotiations with such other contractor or utility owner, or otherwise 

resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law, and (2) 

indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the its officers, directors, members, 

partners, and employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them 

from and against any such claims, and against all costs, losses, and damages (including but 

not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 

and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such 

damage, delay, disruption, or interference. 

ARTICLE 9 – OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

9.01 Communications to Contractor 

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shallmay issue all 

communications to Contractor through Engineer. 

9.02 Replacement of Engineer 

A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Contractor 

makes no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer’s 

status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former Engineer. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 40 of 65 

9.03 Furnish Data 

A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents. 

9.04 Pay When Due 

A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in the Agreement. 

9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings 

A. Owner’s duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 

5.01. 

B. Owner’s duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points 

are set forth in Paragraph 4.03. 

C. Article 5 refers to Owner’s identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports 

of explorations and tests of conditions at the Site, and drawings of physical conditions 

relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site. 

9.06 Insurance 

A. Owner’s responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and 

property insurance are set forth in Article 6. 

9.07 Change Orders 

A. Owner’s responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 11. 

9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 

A. Owner’s responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in 

Paragraph 14.02.B. 

9.09 Limitations on Owner’s Responsibilities 

A. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible 

for, Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or 

the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to 

comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will 

not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 

Contract Documents. 

9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition 

A. Owner’s responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set 

forth in Paragraph 5.06. 

9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 

A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that 

financial arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner’s obligations under the Contract 

Documents (including obligations under proposed changes in the Work). 

9.12 Safety Programs 

A. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific 

applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been informed. 

B. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 41 of 65 

ARTICLE 10 – ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 

10.01 Owner’s Representative 

A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during the construction period. The duties and 

responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative during 

construction are set forth in the Contract. 

10.02 Visits to Site 

A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of 

construction as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and 

qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the various 

aspects of Contractor’s executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and 

observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the Work is 

proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be required to 

make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the 

Work. Engineer’s efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a greater degree of 

confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the Contract Documents. On 

the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep Owner informed of the progress 

of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against defective Work. 

B. Engineer’s visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer’s authority 

and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 10.08.  Particularly, but without limitation, during 

or as a result of Engineer’s visits or observations of Contractor’s Work, Engineer will not 

supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s means, 

methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions 

and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and 

Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. 

10.03 Project Representative 

A. If Owner and Engineer have agreed that Engineer will furnish a Resident Project 

Representative to represent Engineer at the Site and assist Engineer in observing the 

progress and quality of the Work, then the authority and responsibilities of any such Resident 

Project Representative will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, and limitations 

on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in Paragraph 10.08. If Owner designates 

another representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who is not Engineer’s 

consultant, agent, or employee, the responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of 

such other individual or entity will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions. 

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 14. 

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments 

A. Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, are set forth 

in Paragraph 7.16. 

B. Engineer’s authority, and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design drawings 

submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, are set forth in 

Paragraph 7.19. 

C. Engineer’s authority as to Change Orders is set forth in Article 11. 

D. Engineer’s authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 15. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 42 of 65 

10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work 

A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work 

performed by Contractor as set forth in Paragraph 13.03. 

10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work 

A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and 

judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth herein for 

initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of the Work. In rendering such 

decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality to Owner or Contractor, and will 

not be liable to Owner, Contractor, or others in connection with any proceedings, 

interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or rendered in good faith. 

10.08 Limitations on Engineer’s Authority and Responsibilities 

A. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 10 or under any other 

provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise 

or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance 

of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in 

contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, 

any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them. 

A. Intentionally omitted. 

B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for 

Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the 

safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply 

with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be 

responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 

Documents. 

C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any 

Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work. 

D. Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation 

and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of 

inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by 

Paragraph 15.06.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the 

requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals, that the 

results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents. 

E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 10.08 shall also 

apply to the Resident Project Representative, if any. 

10.09 Compliance with Safety Program 

A. While at the Site, Engineer’s employees and representatives will comply with the specific 

applicable requirements of Owner’s and Contractor’s safety programs (if any) of which 

Engineer has been informed. 

ARTICLE 11 – AMENDING THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; CHANGES IN THE WORK 

11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents 

A. The Contract Documents may be amended or supplemented by a Change Order, a Work 

Change Directive, or a Field Order. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 43 of 65 

1. Change Orders: 

a. If an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents includes a change in 

the Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must be 

set forth in a Change Order. A Change Order also may be used to establish 

amendments and supplements of the Contract Documents that do not affect the 

Contract Price or Contract Times. 

b. Owner and Contractor may amend thosethe terms and conditions of the Contract 

Documents that do notat any time. If the terms and conditions involve (1) the 

performance or acceptability of the Work, (2) the design (as set forth in the 

Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical 

matters, withoutOwner and Contractor may first obtain the recommendation of 

the Engineer in accordance with Paragraph 11.06. Such an amendment shall be set 

forth in a Change Order. 

2. Work Change Directives: A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or 

the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the modification ordered 

or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently 

issued Change Order, following negotiations by the parties as to the Work Change 

Directive’s effect, if any, on the Contract Price and Contract Times; or, if negotiations 

are unsuccessful, by a determination under the terms of the Contract Documents 

governing adjustments, expressly including Paragraph 11.04 regarding change of 

Contract Price. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment of 

the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after the 

completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Directive.  Owner must submit any 

Claim seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no 

later than 60 days after issuance of the Work Change Directive. 

3. Field Orders: Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work if the changes do not 

involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible 

with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by 

the Contract Documents. Such changes will be accomplished by a Field Order and will 

be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, which shall perform the Work involved 

promptly. If Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the 

Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then before proceeding with the Work at 

issue, Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal as provided herein. 

11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work 

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time 

or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. Such changes shall 

be supported by Engineer’s recommendation, to the extent the change involves the design 

(as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other engineering or technical 

matters. Such changes may be accomplished by a Change Order, if Owner and Contractor 

have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract Times or Contract Price; or 

by a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall promptly 

proceed with the Work involved; or, in the case of a deletion in the Work, promptly cease 

construction activities with respect to such deleted Work. Added or revised Work shall be 

performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents. Nothing in this 

paragraph shall obligate Contractor to undertake work that Contractor reasonably concludes 

cannot be performed in a manner consistent with Contractor’s safety obligations under the 

Contract Documents or Laws and Regulations. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 44 of 65 

11.03  Unauthorized Changes in the Work 

A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the 

Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract 

Documents, as amended, modified, or supplemented, except in the case of an emergency as 

provided in Paragraph 7.15 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 14.05. 

11.04 Change of Contract Price 

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 

adjustment in the Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06.  Any 

Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Article 12. 

B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows: 

1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, 

then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject 

to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03); or 

2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 

Documents, then by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for 

overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 11.04.C.2); or 

3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract 

Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on the 

basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 13.01) plus a 

Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 11.04.C). 

C. Contractor’s Fee: When applicable, the Contractor’s fee for overhead and profit shall be 

determined as follows: 

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or 

2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the 

various portions of the Cost of the Work: 

a. for costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.B.1 and 13.01.B.2, the Contractor’s fee 

shall be 15 percent; 

b. for costs incurred under Paragraph 13.01.B.3, the Contractor’s fee shall be five 

percent; 

c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus 

a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a and 

11.04.C.2.b is that the Contractor’s fee shall be based on: (1) a fee of 15 percent of 

the costs incurred under Paragraphs 13.01.A.1 and 13.01.A.2 by the Subcontractor 

that actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, and (2) with respect to 

Contractor itself and to any Subcontractors of a tier higher than that of the 

Subcontractor that actually performs the Work, a fee of five percent of the amount 

(fee plus underlying costs incurred) attributable to the next lower tier 

Subcontractor; provided, however, that for any such subcontracted work the 

maximum total fee to be paid by Owner shall be no greater than 27 percent of the 

costs incurred by the Subcontractor that actually performs the work; 

d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under Paragraphs 13.01.B.4, 

13.01.B.5, and 13.01.C; 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 45 of 65 

e. the amount of credit to be allowed by Contractor to Owner for any change which 

results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in 

cost plus a deduction in Contractor’s fee by an amount equal to five percent of such 

net decrease; and 

f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in 

Contractor’s fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance 

with Paragraphs 11.04.C.2.a through 11.04.C.2.e, inclusive. 

11.05 Change of Contract Times 

A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an 

adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any 

Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Article 12. 

B. An adjustment of the Contract Times shall be subject to the limitations set forth in Paragraph 

4.05, concerning delays in Contractor’s progress. 

11.06 Change Proposals 

A. Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an adjustment in the 

Contract Times or Contract Price; appeal an initial decision by Engineer concerning the 

requirements of the Contract Documents or relating to the acceptability of the Work under 

the Contract Documents; contest a set-off against payment due; or seek other relief under 

the Contract. The Change Proposal shall specify any proposed change in Contract Times or 

Contract Price, or both, or other proposed relief, and explain the reason for the proposed 

change, with citations to any governing or applicable provisions of the Contract Documents. 

1. Procedures: Contractor shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer promptly (but in 

no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after such 

initial decision. The Contractor shall submit supporting data, including the proposed 

change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to the Engineer and Owner within 15 

days after the submittal of the Change Proposal. The supporting data shall be 

accompanied by a written statement that the supporting data are accurate and 

complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is the entire adjustment to 

which Contractor believes it is entitled as a result of said event. Engineer will advise 

Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and consider any comments or response from 

Owner regarding the Change Proposal. 

2. Engineer’s Action: Engineer will review each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after 

receipt of the Contractor’s supporting data, either deny the Change Proposal in whole, 

approve it in whole, or deny it in part and approve it in part. Such actions shall be in 

writing, with a copy provided to Owner and Contractor. If Engineer does not take action 

on the Change Proposal within 30 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any 

time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of Engineer’s 

inaction the Change Proposal is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for 

appeal of the denial under Article 12. 

3. Binding Decision: Engineer’s decision will be final and binding upon Owner and 

Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor appeals the decision by filing a Claim under 

Article 12. 

B. Resolution of Certain Change Proposals: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design 

(as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or 

other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties that the Engineer 

is unable to resolve the Change Proposal. For purposes of further resolution of such a Change 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 46 of 65 

Proposal, such notice shall be deemed a denial, and Contractor may choose to seek 

resolution under the terms of Article 12. 

11.07 Execution of Change Orders 

A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering: 

1. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, 

including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in 

accordance with a Work Change Directive; 

2. changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Contractor has duly 

contested such set-off; 

3. changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 11.02, (b) 

required because of Owner’s acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 14.04 or 

Owner’s correction of defective Work under Paragraph 14.07, or (c) agreed to by the 

parties, subject to the need for Engineer’s recommendation if the change  in the Work 

involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other 

engineering or technical matters; and 

4. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other changes, which embody the 

substance of any final and binding results under Paragraph 11.06, or Article 12. 

B. If Owner or Contractor refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed 

under the terms of this Paragraph 11.07, it shall be deemed to be of full force and effect, as 

if fully executed. 

B. Intentionally omitted. 

11.08 Notification to Surety 

A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting 

the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but 

not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be 

Contractor’s responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect 

the effect of any such change. 

ARTICLE 12 – CLAIMS 

12.01 Claims 

A. Claims Process: The followingAll unresolved disputes between Owner and Contractor shall 

be submitted to the Claims process set forth in this Article, including: 

1. Appeals by Owner or Contractor of Engineer’s decisions regarding Change Proposals; 

2. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other relief 

under the Contract Documents; and 

3. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the 

design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of 

the Work, or other engineering or technical matters. 

B. Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to 

the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving 

rise thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within 30 days of the decision 

under appeal. The party submitting the Claim shall also furnish a copy to the Engineer, for its 

information only. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with the party making 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 47 of 65 

the Claim. In the case of a Claim by Contractor seeking an increase in the Contract Times or 

Contract Price, or both, Contractor shall certify that the Claim is made in good faith, that the 

supporting data are accurate and complete, and that to the best of Contractor’s knowledge 

and belief the amount of time or money requested accurately reflects the full amount to 

which Contractor is entitled. 

C. Review and Resolution: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full 

consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the 

exchange of information and direct negotiations.  The parties may extend the time for 

resolving the Claim by mutual agreement. All actions taken on a Claim shall be stated in 

writing and submitted to the other party, with a copy to Engineer. 

D. Mediation: 

1. At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Contractor may mutually agree to 

mediation of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate shall stay the Claim 

submittal and response process. 

2. If Owner and Contractor agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, 

either Owner or Contractor may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the 

Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the termination. If 

the mediation proceeds but is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the Claim submittal 

and decision process shall resume as of the date of the conclusion of the mediation, as 

determined by the mediator. 

3. Owner and Contractor shall each pay one-half of the mediator’s fees and costs. 

E. Partial Approval: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in 

part, such action shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other 

party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for final resolution of disputes. 

F. Denial of Claim: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim 

may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does 

not take action on the Claim within 90 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any 

time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of the inaction, 

the Claim is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial. A denial 

of the Claim shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of the denial the other party 

invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for the final resolution of disputes. 

G. Final and Binding Results: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, whether 

through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a Claim is 

approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, and such actions become final and 

binding; then the results of the agreement or action on the Claim shall be incorporated in a 

Change Order to the extent they affect the Contract, including the Work, the Contract Times, 

or the Contract Price. 

ARTICLE 13 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 

13.01 Cost of the Work 

A. Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work: The term Cost of the Work means the sum 

of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined 

below. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.01 are used for two distinct purposes: 

1. To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract 

Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 48 of 65 

2. To determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other 

adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is determined on 

the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor is entitled only to those additional or 

incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event 

giving rise to the adjustment. 

B. Costs Included: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in 

the Cost of the Work shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of the 

Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 13.01.C, and shall include 

only the following items: 

1. Payroll costsCosts for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance 

of the Work under schedules of job classifications, and at billable rates, agreed upon by 

Owner and Contractor. Such employees shall include, without limitation, 

superintendents, foremen, and other personnel employed full time on the Work. Payroll 

costsCosts for employees not employed full time on the Work shall be apportioned on 

the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costsThe billable rate shall include, 

but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall 

include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers’ 

compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, and vacation and 

holiday pay applicable thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular 

working hours, on Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to 

the extent authorized by Ownerbillable rate. 

2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including 

costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers’ field services required in 

connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner 

deposits funds with Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash 

discounts shall accrue to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates, and refunds and returns 

from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor 

shall make provisions so that they may be obtained. However, Owner will not pay, 

and the Cost of the Work shall not include sales and use taxes and any fees and 

exactions that could be avoided for a public works project by Contractor’s use of 

Owner’s tax exempt certification or identification number which will be provided 

on request 

3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by 

Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from 

subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to 

Owner, who will then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will be 

acceptable.and make recommendations to Owner and Engineer for their review.  If the 

Owner has reasonable objection to the lowest bidder, the Contractor shall propose 

another to whom the Owner has no reasonable objection. If the rejected Subcontractor 

was reasonably capable of performing the Work, the Contract Price and Contract Times 

shall be equitably adjusted. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be 

paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work 

and fee shall be determined in the same manner as Contractor’s Cost of the Work and 

fee as provided in this Paragraph 13.01. 

4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing 

laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically 

related to the Work. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 49 of 65 

5. Supplemental costs including the following: 

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of 

Contractor’s employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work. 

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, 

equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and 

hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of 

the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed which 

remain the property of Contractor. 

c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof, 

whether rented from Contractor or others in accordance with rental agreements 

approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, 

loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All construction 

equipment owned or rented from Contractor will be invoiced at rates provided in 

Contractor’s proposal. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of said 

rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall 

cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work. 

d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which 

Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations which cannot be avoided 

for a public works project or by presentation and use of the Owner’s tax-exempt 

certification or identification. 

e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or 

anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of 

them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses. 

f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not 

compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection 

with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the 

deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with 

Paragraph 6.05), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes 

other than the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 

indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. 

Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval 

of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of 

the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor’s fee. 

g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site. 

h. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier 

services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work. 

i. The costs of premiums for all of Contractor’s bonds and insurance that Contractor 

is required byas well as the Contract Documents to purchasecost of Subcontractor 

bonds and maintaininsurance. 

6. All costs related to Contractor’s temporary office at the jobsite including but not limited 

to the jobsite office, office supplies and equipment, internet, and utility services. 

C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items: 

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor’s officers, executives, principals (of 

partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, engineers, 

architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 50 of 65 

agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by Contractor, 

whether at the Site or in Contractor’s principal or branch office for general 

administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of 

job classifications referred to in Paragraph 13.01.B.1 or specifically covered by 

Paragraph 13.01.B.4. The payroll costs and other compensation excluded here are to be 

considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor’s fee. 

2. Expenses of Contractor’s principal and branch offices other than Contractor’s office at 

the Site. 

3. Any part of Contractor’s capital expenses, including interest on Contractor’s capital 

employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments. 

4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 

indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, 

including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or 

equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property. 

5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not 

specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 13.01.B. 

5.6. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which 

Contractor is liable as imposed by laws and Regulations which cannot be avoided for a 

public works project or by presentation and use of the Owner’s tax-exempt certification 

or identification. 

D. Contractor’s Fee: When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus, 

Contractor’s fee shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any 

Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in 

Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor’s fee shall be 

determined as set forth in Paragraph 11.04.C. 

E. Documentation: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined 

pursuant to this Article 13, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable to 

Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data. 

13.02 Allowances and Contingencies 

A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named 

in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such 

sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

B. Cash Allowances: Contractor agrees that: 

1. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade discounts) 

of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site, and 

all applicable taxes; and 

2. Contractor’s costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, 

profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included in 

the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional payment on 

account of any of the foregoing will be valid. 

C. Contingency Allowance: Contractor agrees that a contingency allowance, if any, is for the sole 

use of Owner to cover unanticipated costs. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 51 of 65 

D. Contractor’s Contingency: Owner agrees that Contractor’s contingency, if any, is for use of 

Contractor to account for overruns in the allowable Cost of the Work as defined in Paragraph 

13.01 in the order to maintain the Contract Price and Contract Times. 

D.E. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by 

Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by 

allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted. 

13.03 Unit Price Work 

A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, 

initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal 

to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the 

estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement. 

B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for 

the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to 

Contractor for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities. 

C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be 

adequate to cover Contractor’s overhead and profit for each separately identified item. 

D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work 

performed by Contractor.  Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer’s preliminary 

determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by 

recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer’s written decision 

thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual 

conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of 

the following paragraph. 

E. Within 30 days of Engineer’s written decision under the preceding paragraph, Contractor 

may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may file a Claim, seeking an adjustment in the 

Contract Price if: 

1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs materially 

and significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; 

2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and 

3. Contractor believes that it is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of having 

incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a decrease in 

Contract Price, and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any such increase 

or decrease. 

ARTICLE 14 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK 

14.01 Access to Work 

A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, 

independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction will have access to the 

Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. 

Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them of 

Contractor’s safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as 

applicable. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 52 of 65 

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals 

A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work (or specific parts 

thereof) for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and 

testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests. 

B. Owner shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, 

or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspections and tests expressly required 

by the Contract Documents to be furnished and paid for by Owner, except that costs incurred 

in connection with tests or inspections of covered Work shall be governed by the provisions 

of Paragraph 14.05. 

C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part 

thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other 

representative of such public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging 

and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and 

furnish Engineer the required certificates of inspection or approval. 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and 

tests required: 

1. by the Contract Documents, unless the Contract Documents expressly allocate 

responsibility for a specific inspection or test to Owner; 

2. to attain Owner’s and Engineer’s acceptance of materials or equipment to be 

incorporated in the Work; 

3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents; 

4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to 

be incorporated into the Work; and 

5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to 

Contractor’s purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work. 

Such inspections and tests shall be performed by independent inspectors, testing 

laboratories, or other qualified individuals or entities acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 

E. If the Contract Documents require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved by Owner, 

Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Contractor shall assume full 

responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals. 

F. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by 

Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by 

Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor’s 

expense unless Contractor had given Engineer timely notice of Contractor’s intention to 

cover the same and Engineer had not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such 

notice. 

14.03 Defective Work 

A. Contractor’s Obligation: It is Contractor’s obligation to assure that the Work is not defective. 

B. Engineer’s Authority: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, 

and to reject defective Work. 

C. Notice of Defects: Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual 

knowledge will be given to Contractor. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 53 of 65 

D. Correction, or Removal and Replacement: Promptly after receipt of written notice of 

defective Work, Contractor shall correct all such defective Work, whether or not fabricated, 

installed, or completed, or, if Engineer has rejected the defective Work, remove it from the 

Project and replace it with Work that is not defective. 

E. Preservation of Warranties: When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no action 

that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said 

Work. 

F. Costs and Damages: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations with 

respect to defective Work, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising 

out of or relating to defective Work, including but not limited to the cost of the inspection, 

testing, correction, removal, replacement, or reconstruction of such defective Work, fines 

levied against Owner by governmental authorities because the Work is defective, and the 

costs of repair or replacement of work of others resulting from defective Work. Prior to final 

payment, if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as to the measure of such claims, 

costs, losses, and damages resulting from defective Work, then Owner may impose a 

reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. 

G. Correction of work during the warranty period will be handled in accordance with Paragraph 

15.08. 

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work 

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner 

prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior to final 

payment, to Engineer’s confirmation that such acceptance is in general accord with the 

design intent and applicable engineering principles, and will not endanger public safety). 

Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages attributable to Owner’s evaluation 

of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved by Engineer 

as to reasonableness), and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent not otherwise 

paid by Contractor. If any such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, the necessary 

revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work shall be incorporated in a 

Change Order. If the parties are unable to agree as to the decrease in the Contract Price, 

reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted, then Owner may impose a reasonable 

set-off against payments due under Article 15. If the acceptance of defective Work occurs 

after final payment, Contractor shall pay an appropriate amount to Owner. 

14.05 Uncovering Work 

A. Engineer has the authority to require additional inspection or testing of the Work, whether 

or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 

B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Contractor shall, if 

requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer’s observation, and then replace the 

covering, all at Contractor’s expense. 

C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by Engineer 

or inspected or tested by others, then Contractor, at Engineer’s request, shall uncover, 

expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may 

require, that portion of the Work in question, and provide all necessary labor, material, and 

equipment. 

1. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall be responsible for 

all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such uncovering, 

exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 54 of 65 

reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of 

others); and pending Contractor’s full discharge of this responsibility the Owner shall be 

entitled to impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. 

2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an 

increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly 

attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, 

replacement, and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount or 

extent thereof, then Contractor may submit a Change Proposal within 30 days of the 

determination that the Work is not defective. 

14.06 Owner May Stop the Work 

A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable 

materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work 

will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work, 

or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, this 

right of Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of Owner to 

exercise this right for the benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other 

individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them. 

14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work 

A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct 

defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer, or if 

Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if 

Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, then Owner 

may, after seven days written notice to Contractor, correct or remedy any such deficiency. 

B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07, Owner shall proceed 

expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude 

Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and suspend 

Contractor’s services related thereto, and incorporate in the Work all materials and 

equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored 

elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner’s representatives, agents and employees, 

Owner’s other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer’s consultants access to the Site to 

enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph. 

C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights 

and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07 will be charged against Contractor as set-offs 

against payments due under Article 15. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will include 

but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or 

damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor’s defective Work. 

D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in 

the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner’s rights and 

remedies under this Paragraph 14.07. 

ARTICLE 15 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD 

15.01 Progress Payments 

A. Basis for Progress Payments: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will 

serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application 

for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 55 of 65 

be based on the number of units completed during the pay period, as determined under the 

provisions of Paragraph 13.03. Progress payments for cost-based Work will be based on Cost 

of the Work completed by Contractor during the pay period. 

B. Applications for Payments: 

1. At least 20 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress 

payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer 

for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the 

Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting 

documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is requested on 

the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and 

suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for 

Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation 

warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free and clear of all 

Liens, and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by appropriate 

property insurance, a warehouse bond, or other arrangements to protect Owner’s 

interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner. 

2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an 

affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account 

of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate 

obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment. 

3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the 

Agreement. 

C. Review of Applications: 

1. Engineer will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including 

each resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present 

the Application to Owner, or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing 

Engineer’s reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor 

may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application. 

2. Engineer’s recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment 

will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer’s observations 

of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and on 

Engineer’s review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and 

schedules, that to the best of Engineer’s knowledge, information and belief: 

a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated; 

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents 

(subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon 

Substantial Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the 

Contract Documents, a final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit 

Price Work under Paragraph 13.03, and any other qualifications stated in the 

recommendation); and 

c. the conditions precedent to Contractor’s being entitled to such payment appear to 

have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer’s responsibility to observe the Work. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 56 of 65 

3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have 

represented that: 

a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been 

performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in 

progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities 

specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract; or 

b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle 

Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment 

to Contractor. 

4. Neither Engineer’s review of Contractor’s Work for the purposes of recommending 

payments nor Engineer’s recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will 

impose responsibility on Engineer: 

a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or 

b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or 

the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or 

c. for Contractor’s failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to 

Contractor’s performance of the Work, or 

d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has 

used the money paid on account of the Contract Price, or 

e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to 

Owner free and clear of any Liens. 

5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in 

Engineer’s opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated 

in Paragraph 15.01.C.2. 

6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer’s 

opinion to protect Owner from loss because: 

a. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 

14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 

Condition for which Contractor is responsible; or 

e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would 

constitute a material default by Contractor and therefore justify termination for 

cause under the Contract Documents. 

D. Payment Becomes Due: 

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer’s 

recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will 

become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 57 of 65 

E. Reductions in Payment by Owner: 

1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner 

is entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following: 

a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor’s conduct in the 

performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or 

damages on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance or furnishing of 

the Work, including but not limited to claims, costs, losses, or damages from 

workplace injuries, adjacent property damage, non-compliance with Laws and 

Regulations, and patent infringement; 

b. Contractor has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damage, 

delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the Site; 

c. Contractor has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance; 

d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental 

Condition for which Contractor is responsible; 

e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal 

reviews, evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return visits 

to manufacturing or assembly facilities; 

e. intentionally omitted 

f. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement; 

g. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 

14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04; 

h. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders; 

i. an event that would constitute a material default by Contractor and therefore 

justify a termination for cause has occurred; 

j. liquidated damages have accrued as a result of Contractor’s failure to achieve 

Milestones, Substantial Completion, or final completion of the Work; 

k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has 

delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and 

discharge of such Liens; 

l. there are other items entitling Owner to a set off against the amount 

recommended. 

l. intentionally omitted. 

2. If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge or 

on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Contractor immediate 

written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action and the 

specific amount of the reduction, and promptly pay Contractor any amount remaining 

after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall promptly pay Contractor the 

amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, if 

Contractor remedies the reasons for such action. The reduction imposed shall be 

binding on Contractor unless it duly submits a Change Proposal contesting the 

reduction. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 58 of 65 

3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner’s refusal of payment was not justified, 

the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by 

Paragraph 15.01.C.1 and subject to interest as provided in the Agreement. 

15.02 Contractor’s Warranty of Title 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment 

furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all Liens and other title 

defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven 

days after the time of payment by Owner. 

15.03 Substantial Completion 

A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall notify 

Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete and request 

that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Contractor shall at the same time 

submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be completed or 

corrected before final payment. 

B. Promptly after Contractor’s notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an 

inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider 

the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving the reasons 

therefor. 

C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a 

preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial 

Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of items to be completed or 

corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the preliminary 

certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions of the 

certificate or attached punch list. If, after considering the objections to the provisions of the 

preliminary certificate, Engineer concludes that the Work is not substantially complete, 

Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the preliminary certificate to Owner, notify 

Contractor in writing that the Work is not substantially complete, stating the reasons 

therefor. If Owner does not object to the provisions of the certificate, or if despite 

consideration of Owner’s objections Engineer concludes that the Work is substantially 

complete, then Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver to Owner and 

Contractor a final certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised punch list of items to 

be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the preliminary certificate as 

Engineer believes justified after consideration of any objections from Owner. 

D. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and 

Contractor will confer regarding Owner’s use or occupancy of the Work following Substantial 

Completion, review the builder’s risk insurance policy with respect to the end of the builder’s 

risk coverage, and confirm the transition to coverage of the Work under a permanent 

property insurance policy held by Owner.  Unless Owner and Contractor agree otherwise in 

writing, Owner shall bear responsibility for security, operation, protection of the Work, 

property insurance, maintenance, heat, and utilities upon Owner’s use or occupancy of the 

Work. 

E. After Substantial Completion the Contractor shall promptly begin work on the punch list of 

items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Contractor 

may submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list items, following the 

progress payment procedures set forth above. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 59 of 65 

F. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial 

Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and 

complete or correct items on the punch list. 

15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy 

A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially 

completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract 

Documents, or which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately 

functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended purpose 

without significant interference with Contractor’s performance of the remainder of the 

Work, subject to the following conditions: 

1. At any time Owner may request in writing that Contractor permit Owner to use or 

occupy any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If 

and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, 

Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 15.03.A 

through E for that part of the Work. 

2. At any time Contractor may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor 

considers any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to 

issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. 

3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer 

shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. 

If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, 

Engineer will notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor. If 

Engineer considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of 

Paragraph 15.03 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that 

part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto. 

4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to 

compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 regarding builder’s risk or other 

property insurance. 

15.05 Final Inspection 

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is 

complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will 

notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work, 

or agreed portion thereof, is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately take such 

measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies. 

15.06 Final Payment 

A. Application for Payment: 

1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections 

identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract 

Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, 

certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of inspection, annotated record 

documents (as provided in Paragraph 7.11), and other documents, Contractor may 

make application for final payment. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 60 of 65 

2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) 

by: 

a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents; 

b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment; 

c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all 

Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens 

or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment. 

d. a list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and 

e. complete and legally effective conditional releases or waivers (satisfactory to 

Owner) of all Lien rights arising out of the Work, and of Liens filed in connection 

with the Work. 

3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 15.06.A.2 and as 

approved by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit 

of Contractor that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and 

equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (b) all payrolls, material and equipment 

bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner might in any 

way be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other burdens on 

Owner's property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or 

Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, Contractor may furnish a bond 

or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner against any Lien, or Owner 

at its option may issue joint checks payable to Contractor and specified Subcontractors 

and Suppliers. 

B. Engineer’s Review of Application and Acceptance: 

1. If, on the basis of Engineer’s observation of the Work during construction and final 

inspection, and Engineer’s review of the final Application for Payment and 

accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is 

satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor’s other obligations under 

the Contract have been fulfilled, Engineer will, within ten days after receipt of the final 

Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer’s recommendation of final 

payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Such 

recommendation shall account for any set-offs against payment that are necessary in 

Engineer’s opinion to protect Owner from loss for the reasons stated above with respect 

to progress payments. At the same time Engineer will also give written notice to Owner 

and Contractor that the Work is acceptable, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 

15.07. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment to Contractor, 

indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, in which case 

Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for 

Payment. 

C. Completion of Work: The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is ready 

for final payment as established by the Engineer’s written recommendation of final payment. 

D. Payment Becomes Due: Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the final Application 

for Payment and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer (less 

any further sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer’s recommendation, including 

but not limited to set-offs for liquidated damages and set-offs allowed under the provisions 

above with respect to progress payments) will become due and shall be paid by Owner to 

Contractor. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 61 of 65 

15.07 Waiver of Claims 

A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights against 

Contractor. Owner expressly reserves claims and rights arising from unsettled Liens, from 

defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 15.05, from 

Contractor’s failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special 

guarantees specified therein, from outstanding Claims by Owner, or from Contractor’s 

continuing obligations under the Contract Documents. 

B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all 

claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly 

submitted or appealed under the provisions of Article 17. 

15.08 Correction Period 

A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion (or such longer period of time as 

may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract 

Documents, or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents), any Work is found to 

be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has 

arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas 

used by Contractor as permitted by Laws and Regulations, is found to be defective, then 

Contractor shall promptly, without cost to Owner and in accordance with Owner’s written 

instructions: 

1. correct the defective repairs to the Site or such other adjacent areas; 

2. correct such defective Work; 

3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and 

replace it with Work that is not defective, and 

4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the 

work of others, or to other land or areas resulting therefrom. 

B. If Contractor does not promptly comply with the terms of Owner’s written instructions, or in 

an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have the 

defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced. 

Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all 

fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 

arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or 

repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or 

replacement of work of others). 

C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service 

before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item may start 

to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications. 

 

D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected 

or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period hereunder with respect 

to such Work willshall not be extended for an additional period of one year after such 

correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed. 

E. Contractor’s obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and 

warranties. The provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a 

waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 62 of 65 

ARTICLE 16 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 

16.01 Owner May Suspend Work 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a 

period of not more than 90 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. 

Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the 

Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract Price 

or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension. 

Any Change Proposal seeking such adjustments shall be submitted no later than 30 days after 

the date fixed for resumption of Work. 

16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will constitute a default by 

Contractor and justify termination for cause: 

1. Contractor’s persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 

Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or 

suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule); 

2. Failure of Contractor to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the 

Contract Documents; or 

3. Contractor’s disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; or 

4.3. Contractor’s repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer. 

B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 16.02.A occurs, then after giving 

Contractor (and any surety) ten days written notice that Owner is considering a declaration 

that Contractor is in default and termination of the contract, Owner may proceed to: 

1. declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor (and any surety) notice that the 

Contract is terminated; and 

2. enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond. 

C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has 

terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take 

possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the 

Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete 

the Work as Owner may deem expedient. 

D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 16.02.B if 

Contractor within seventen days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct 

its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure. 

E. If Owner proceeds as provided in Paragraph 16.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to 

receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the 

Contract Price exceeds the cost to complete the Work, including all related claims, costs, 

losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 

attorneys, and other professionals) sustained by Owner, such excess will be paid to 

Contractor. If the cost to complete the Work including such related claims, costs, losses, and 

damages exceeds such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. Such 

claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their 

reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 63 of 65 

exercising any rights or remedies under this paragraph, Owner shall not be required to obtain 

the lowest price for the Work performed. 

F. Where Contractor’s services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not 

affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may 

thereafter accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor or any surety under 

any payment bond or performance bond. Any retention or payment of money due 

Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability. 

G. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions 

of Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond shall govern over any inconsistent provisions 

of Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D. 

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience 

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and 

without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such 

case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items): 

1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents 

prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for 

overhead and profit on such Work; 

2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and 

furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in 

connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and 

profit on such expenses; and 

3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred 

to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal. 

B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, 

or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 

A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 

consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) 

Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or 

(3) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then 

Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided Owner 

or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate the 

contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 

16.03. 

B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if 

Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, 

or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, 

Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until 

payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. The 

provisions of this paragraph are not intended to preclude Contractor from submitting a 

Change Proposal for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for 

expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor’s stopping the Work as permitted by 

this paragraph. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 64 of 65 

ARTICLE 17 – FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES 

17.01 Methods and Procedures 

A. Disputes Subject to Final Resolution: The followingAll disputed matters are subject to final 

resolution under the provisions of this Article, including: 

1. A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in full; 

and 

2. Disputes between Owner and Contractor concerning the Work or obligations under the 

Contract Documents, and arising after final payment has been made. 

B. Final Resolution of Disputes: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner 

or Contractor may: 

1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in the 

Supplementary Conditions; or 

2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution process; 

or 

3. if no dispute resolution process is provided for in the Supplementary Conditions or 

mutually agreed to, give written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the 

dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction. Any proceedings commenced in any court 

shall be tried before and decided by the presiding judge without a jury. The parties 

expressly waive any right to have such proceedings determined by trial by jury. 

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS 

18.01 Giving Notice 

A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it 

will be deemed to have been validly given if: 

1. delivered in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the individual or 

to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for which it is intended; or 

2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last business 

address known to the sender of the notice. 

18.02 Computation of Times 

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract by days, it will be computed to exclude 

the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls on a 

Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable jurisdiction, 

such day will be omitted from the computation. 

18.03 Cumulative Remedies 

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies 

available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in 

any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are 

otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or 

by other provisions of the Contract. The provisions of this paragraph will be as effective as if 

repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, 

obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply. 



EJCDC® C-700 (Rev. 1), Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract. 

Copyright © 2013 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, 

and American Society of Civil Engineers.  All rights reserved.             Page 65 of 65 

18.04 Limitation of Damages 

A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, 

and other matters at issue, neither Owner nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, 

members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to 

Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in 

connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

B. Owner waives all claims against Contractor for consequential, special, or incidental damages 

arising out of or relating to Contractor’s Work on the Project and this Contract. This waiver 

includes damages incurred by the Owner for rental expenses, for losses of use, income, 

profit, financing, business and reputation, and for loss of management or employee 

productivity or of the services of such persons. 

18.05 No Waiver 

A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, 

nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract. 

18.06 Survival of Obligations 

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or 

given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the 

Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination 

or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor. 

18.07 Controlling Law 

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located. 

18.08 Headings 

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts 

of these General Conditions. 



EXHIBIT B 
TASK ORDER FORM (Construction over $50,000) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SOLDIER CANYON WATER 
TREATMENT AUTHORITY 

CONSTRUCTION TASK 
ORDER 

 
PROJECT 

TITLE 
Decant Pond Number 2 – Joint Sealant 

 
 

TASK ORDER NO. HP 2023-01 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTRACTOR: Hensel Phelps 



 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

AGREEMENT FORMS 
00500  Construction Task Order Agreement Forms (Exhibit A) 
00525 Task Order (Exhibit B), Notice of Award & Bid Schedule 

(Attachment A-Bid Schedule) 
00530 Task Order Notice to Proceed 
00600 Bonds and Certificates 
00610 Performance Bond 
00615 Payment Bond 
00630 (Attachment B) - Certificate of Insurance 
00635 Certificate of Substantial Completion 
00640 Certificate of Final Acceptance 
00650 Lien Waiver Release (CONTRACTOR) 
00660 Consent of Surety 
00670 Application for Exemption Certificate 
00900 Addenda, Modifications and Payment 
00950 Task Order Change Order Form 
00960 Application for Payment 
Attachment C - Drawing Index  
 
ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS 
Exhibit C 00700 General Conditions 
Exhibit D 00800 Supplementary Conditions 
Exhibit E General Scope of Services 
Exhibit F Costs Factors/Pricing 
 

  



 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 00500 
 

CONSTRUCTION TASK ORDER AGREEMENT FORMS 
 

 
00525 Task Order, Notice of Award & Bid Schedule  

Attachment A-Bid Schedule 
 
00530  Task Order Notice to Proceed 

 
 



 
 
 

SECTION 00525 
TASK ORDER, NOTICE OF AWARD AND BID SCHEDULE 

PURSUANT TO A MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY  AND HENSEL PHELPS 

 
 

PROJECT TITLE:  Decant Pond Number 2 – Joint Sealant 
       
TASK ORDER NUMBER:     HP 2023-01 
 
ORIGINAL BID/RFP NUMBER & NAME:   Soldier Canyon Filter Plant – 

Master Construction Services 
Contract 

 
MASTER AGREEMENT EFFECTIVE DATE:    September 7 , 2023  
  

CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIVE:    Gabe Barnett 
 
ARCHITECT/ENGINEER:     Ditesco 
 

PROJECT MANAGER:      Ditesco 
 
MAXIMUM FEE: (time and reimbursable direct costs):  $71,350 
 
TASK ORDER COMMENCEMENT DATE:    September 7, 2023 
 
TASK ORDER COMPLETION DATE:    December 31, 2023 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF SERVICES:   Joint sealant repairs and 
replacement on Decant Pond Number 2 
 

CONTRACT <$50k  
 

CONTRACT >50k BONDS  
PERFORMANCE BOND  
PAYMENT BOND  
WARRANTY BOND (through 2-Year Warranty from Final Acceptance)  

NOTICE OF AWARD:    Date of this Document 
 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION DATE: December 1, 2023 
 FINAL COMPLETION DATE:  December 21, 2023 

 
CONTRACT >$150K HOLD 5% RETAINAGE  

Contractor agrees to perform the services identified above and on the attached forms in 
accordance with the terms and conditions contained herein and in the Master Services 
Agreement between the Parties. In the event of a conflict between or ambiguity in the terms 
of the Master Services Agreement and this Task Order (including the attached forms), the 
Master Services Agreement shall control. 

 
The attached forms consisting of six (6) pages are hereby accepted and incorporated 
herein by this reference and Notice to Proceed is hereby given after all Parties have signed 
this document. 



  



 
****ATTACH THESE PAGES FOR CONTRACTS BEYOND $50K**** 

 
1. WORK. Pursuant to the Master Services Agreement between the Authority and the 

Contractor dated September 7, 2023, and the Task Order Proposal dated August 21, 
2023, the Contractor has been awarded a Task Order for Decant Pond Number 2 – Joint 
Sealant 

 

2. CONTRACT PRICE. The price of this Task Order is Written Dollar Amount 
Seventy-one thousand three hundred fifty dollars - $71,350).  

 
3. PERFORMANCE DEADLINES. The date for Substantial Completion of this Task 

Order is December 1, 2023, and after Substantial Completion, the date for Final 
Acceptance is December 21, 2023. 

 

4. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. Pursuant to Section 7 of the Master Services 
Agreement, the amount of liquidated damages shall be the sum of: $ 0.  

 
5. ADDITIONAL INSUREDS.  In addition to those entities identified in Section 23.d. 

of the Master Services Agreement, ___N/A_________ shall be endorsed as 
“Additional Insureds.” 
 

6. PAYMENT PROCEDURES. As set forth in the Master Services Agreement. 
 

7. EXECUTION. Task Order Documents must be executed in digital format 
(DocuSign/Adobe Sign) within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date of this Notice 
of Award. Contractor shall attach Payment and Performance Bonds and 
Certificates of Insurance (COI) to the Task Order Documents in DocuSign/Adobe 
Sign.  

 
Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle the Authority to 
consider your Task Order Proposal abandoned and to annul this Task Order & Notice of 
Award. 

 
 CONTRACTOR’S NOTICE OF AWARD REPRESENTATION & EXECUTION: 
Contractor agrees to perform the services identified above, in accordance with the terms 
and conditions contained in this Task Order, the Master Services Agreement, and the 
Notice of Award between the Parties.  

  



 
 
 
 

SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY 
 

By: ____________________________________ 

 Eric Reckentine, Board Chairman 

Date: ___________________________________ 

 

 
ATTEST: 

By: ____________________________________ 

 
Date: ___________________________________ 
 
 
 
By execution of this Agreement, the undersigned 
each individually represents that he or she is duly 
authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and 
that the subject Party shall be bound by the 
signatory’s execution of this Agreement. 
 
CONTRACTOR:  Hensel Phelps  
 

By: ____________________________________   

                                                  , Title 

 

Date: ___________________________________ 



 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A-BID SCHEDULE 
 

Insert Task Order Quote/Proposal Here 



 
 
 
 

SECTION 
00530 

TASK ORDER NOTICE TO PROCEED 
 

NOTICE TO 
PROCEED DATE:  September 7, 2023           
 
TASK ORDER TITLE:  Decant Pond Number 2 – Joint  Sealant 
 
TASK ORDER NUMBER: HP 2023-01 

 
TO: Hensel Phelps  
 
Attn: Gabe Barnett: 

 

This notice is to advise you: 
 

That the Task Order and all amendments and supplements to the Task 
Order Documents covering the above-described Work have been fully 
executed by the CONTRACTOR and the OWNER. That the required 
CONTRACTOR's Performance and Payment Bonds and insurance have 
been received by the OWNER. That the OWNER has approved the said 
Task Order and Task Order Documents. 

 
Therefore, as the CONTRACTOR for the above-described Work, you are 
hereby authorized and directed to proceed within Thirty( 30) calendar days 
from receipt of this notice as required by the Task Order and the 
AGREEMENT. 

 
The  dates  for  Substantial  Completion  and  Final  Acceptance   shall  be 
December 1, 2023 ,  
and December 21, 2023 , 
respectively. 

 
Dated this 7 day of September 2023.  

SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 _______________________________________(OWNER) 
By: Eric Reckentine, Board Chairman 

 



ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NOTICE 
 

Receipt of the above Task Order Notice to Proceed is hereby 
acknowledged this Day of Month, Year. 
 
Hensel Phelps  

 

  (CONTRACTOR) 
 



Owner: Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

Project: Basin 2 Joint Sealants

Date: August 21, 2023

Description:

Description Unit Cost  Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total

Hensel Phelps $0

Joint Sealants and Repairs (Absolute 

Caulking) 1 ls $61,923 $61,923

Subtotal $61,923 $0 $0 $0

Subtotal $61,923

Bonds & Insurance $1,782

Contractor Contingency 0% $0

Profit & Overhead 12% $7,645

Totals $71,350

$71,350GRAND TOTAL

Labor

Quantity

Joint sealant repairs and replacement per quantities and document provided by Ditesco dated 2023-07-27.

Work to begin week of 10/2/2023.

Grout material is included as Xypex Crystalline.

Subcontract

Quantity Quantity

Material Equipment

Quantity



Sheet from 1986 TEC As-Builts
Work Scope:  Re-Caulk basin
Estimated Quantities:

Basin Sloped Walls - total 2,160 LF Exist Caulked Joints
1. Remove existing caulking, prep, and recaulk = 1840 LF
2. Remove existing caulking, prep, place backer rod and recaulk = 320 LF
3. Remove existing degraded grout, prep, and regrout = 200 LF
4. Vee grind, prep, and caulk crack = 1,100 LF
5. Misc. grinding to create groove and caulk at tight panels = 150 LF

Basin Floor - Update QTYs at Basin Takedown - Assumed 1,400 LF Existing Caulked Joints
1. Remove existing caulking, prep, and recaulk = 1170 LF
2. Remove existing caulking, prep, place backer rod and recaulk = 330 LF

Notes: Ditesco 2023-07-27_BR



               
            

   
  

  

Delivering 
Employee Benefit 
Solutions at
a HIGHER
Standard of 
Quality

                

       

             

       

             
           

P R E P A R E D B Y : Danitza Gline 

D A T E : August 28, 2023

DISABILITY PROPOSAL PREPARED FOR :
Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Benefit Percentage 60% of gross monthly earnings 

Maximum Benefit  

Minimum Benefit $100 per month 

Elimination Period 90 days  

Benefit Duration To age 65 

Social Security Offset Full Family 

Deductible Benefits Worker’s Comp, Social Security, sick pay, etc. 

Mental / Nervous Limitation 24 months 

Partial Disability Definition Working and are unable to earn more than 80% of your pre-disability 

earnings while working in your own occupation during the first 24 

months.  Thereafter, working and unable to earn more than 60% of 

your pre-disability earnings while working in any occupation for which 

you are reasonably fitted by education, training and experience. 

Total Disability Definition Disabled from your own occupation during the first 24 months. 

Thereafter, disabled from any occupation for which you are reasonably 

fitted by education, training and experience. 

Temporary Recovery Days 30 days 

Survivor Benefit 3 month lump sum benefit, without reductions. 

Pre-Existing Conditions Limitation 3/12 

Exclusions An act of war, intentionally self-inflicted injury or attempted suicide. 

Employer Contribution 100% 

 

$8,750 per month

Note: This represents highlights for informational purposes only.  Please refer to your certificate for complete 

details.  The Master Contract contains all of the controlling provisions of this coverage. 

SPECIAL DISTRICTS ASSOCIATION

LONG TERM DISABILITY (LTD 1)

PROVIDED BY STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY



WTW - CEBT Proposal

Monday, August 28, 2023

Disability - 2024 STD LTD 1 LTD 2

Benefit Percentage 66.67% 60% 60%

Maximum Benefit $2,244 per week $8,750 per month $8,750 per month 

Benefits Payable 1st day for Accident

8th day for Sickness or Pregnancy
90 days 180 days

Benefit Duration 180 days for accidental bodily injury

173 days for sickness / pregnancy
To age 65 To age 65

Pre-existing N/A 3 / 12 3 / 12

Definition of Total Disability
Unable to perform with reasonable continuity 

the material duties of your own occupation 

due to sickness, injury or pregnancy.

Disabled from your own occupation during 

the first 24 months. Thereafter, disabled 

from any occupation for which you are 

reasonably fitted by education, training and 

Disabled from your own occupation during 

the first 24 months. Thereafter, disabled 

from any occupation for which you are 

reasonably fitted by education, training and 
Rate Guarantee 2 years, Jan 1 2026 2 years, Jan 1 2026 2 years, Jan 1 2026

Rate $0.518 $0.429 $0.348 

Covered Monthly Payroll $184,729.00 $184,729.00 $184,729.00 

Monthly Total $956.90 $792.49 $642.86 

Annualized Premium $11,482.75 $9,509.85 $7,714.28 

THIS BENEFIT SUMMARY IS FOR ILLUSTRATION PURPOSES ONLY.  Proposal is not to be construed as an exact or complete analysis of the policies nor as legal 

evidence of insurance.

Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority

mkempton
Highlight

mkempton
Highlight



SOLDIER CANYON WATER TREATMENT 
AUTHORITY 

 

1 | P a g e  
 

To: Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Board of Directors 
 
From:  Mark Kempton, P.E., CWP - SCWTA Manager 
 
Date:  September 7th, 2023 
 
RE:  DRAFT - 2024 Budget for the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority  
  
The intent of this memo is to present the proposed draft Operational & Maintenance and 
Renewal & Replacement expenditure budgets for the Soldier Canyon Water Treatment 
Authority (SCWTA) for the fiscal year 2024.  In addition to treatment plant expenses, the 
SCWTA budget includes funding for the Tri-District’s Water Resources personnel. Due to the 
unusual summer weather and subsequent lower water demands in 2023, the calculations used 
for District per gallon cost contributions are based on the 2023 budget annual production of 8.4 
billion gallons of treated water, as detailed in Table 1 below.  The fiscal year for the SCWTA 
budget is January 1 through December 31. 
 
NOTE – Need input from Districts on the % increase assumptions in this Table. 
Table 1 – Historic and projected water usage (MG) 
District  2021 

Actual 
2022 
Actual 

2023* 
Projected 

2024 
Projected** 

Assumed 2024 
(decrease)/increase 
over 2022 

East Larimer 
County 

1,449 1,540 1,232 1,638 6.3% 

Fort Collins 
Loveland 

3,167 3,336 2,668 3,610 7.5% 

North Weld 
County 

3,683 3,514 2,811 3,867 10% 

Tri-Districts 
Totals 

8,299 8,391 6,712 9,115 8.6% 

*Assumed 20% decrease in summer demands 
**Same 2023 projected values as used in the 2023 Budget. 
 
The following documents are included to provide details for the 2024 Budget.  
 

A. 2024 Budget – The budget summarizes the proposed revenues, expenditures, and reserve 
account fund projections. It also summarizes the funding responsibility for each District.  

B. Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Summary – The attached worksheet lists the major 
categories in the O&M Budget. The operations and maintenance summary is divided into six 
major categories.   

a. Personnel Services 
b. Professional Services 
c. Utilities 



2024 BUDGET MEMO – SCWTA BOARD MEETING  September 7, 2023 

2 | P a g e  
 

d. Contractual Services 
e. Commodities 
f. Repair and Maintenance  

 
C. O&M Expense Detail Worksheet – The attached worksheet provides additional detail about 

planned O&M Expenses for 2024. 
D. Renewal & Replacement Fund Summary – This worksheet lists the upcoming Renewal and 

Replacement (R&R) Fund projects planned for 2024.  
 
General Review of 2023 
 
Treated Water Production  
The annual plant production for 2023 is projected to be 6.7 billion gallons. To date, the peak 
daily plant production in 2023 was 46.55 million gallons, recorded on July 26, 2023. For 
comparison, the annual plant production and peak daily production for 2022 were 8.39 billion 
gallons and 49.76 MGD,  respectively. 
 
Water Quality 
Treated water produced at Soldier Canyon Filter Plant continues to be rated as very high-quality 
water.  All Environmental Protection Agency, (EPA) and Colorado Department of Public Health 
and Environment, (CDPHE), Safe Drinking Water regulations were met, with the exception of 
one external lab reporting error. In most cases, water quality far exceeded regulatory 
requirements.  
  
Water Quality / Regulatory / Watershed  
SCWTA continues to support monitoring of the Poudre River watershed in conjunction with 
regional partners. 
 
2024 Proposed Budget 
 
Operations & Maintenance Budget 
The proposed O&M budget for 2024 is $6,426,851. This is an increase of 4.5% from the 2023 
O&M budget of $6,151,833.  
 
Details of expense categories, proposed 2024 costs, and 2024 over 2023 budget % changes are 
listed below. 
 

1. Personnel Services ($3,347,631) – 2.0% increase. 
An assumed wage increase of 5% is included in the 2024 budget. Increases are primarily due to 
health Insurance and personnel costs.   
 

2. Professional Services ($73,465) – 37% decrease. 
Decreases in legal and engineering services. 
 

3. Utilities ($167,937)– 46.7% increase 
Increase due to higher electricity and natural gas costs. 
 



2024 BUDGET MEMO – SCWTA BOARD MEETING  September 7, 2023 

3 | P a g e  
 

4. Contractual Services ($572,483) – 12.2% increase 
Increases in liability insurance, and PVP Enterprise indirect costs/capital projects. 
 

5. Commodities ($1,515,619) – 8.7% increase 
Increased cost of water treatment chemicals.  
 

6. Facilities Repair and Maintenance ($749,716) – 2.0% increase 
Increase due to project selection. Proposed projects for 2024 include: 

 
• PLC Controls improvements. 
• Painting Pipes.  
• Replace House Water PVC Piping. 
• Replace Surface Wash Pipes.  
• Replace Filter Actuators.  
• Upgrade Filter Consoles.   
• Replace Redwood Floc Walls - Annual Program.  
• Replace filters 1-20 surface wash PVC - Annual Program.  
• Filter Air Solenoid Valve replacement program - Annual Program.  
• Tank 2 - Spot coating repairs.  
• Yard Butterfly Valve Actuator Replacement - Annual Program. 

 
Renewal and Replacement (R&R) Fund Budget 
The proposed R&R Fund budget for 2024 is $1,936,738. This is a decrease of 3.4% from the 
2023 R&R budget. Proposed 2024 R&R projects are listed below:  
 

1. New Hydrocarbon Analyzer for Poudre River and new Lab TOC Analyzer - $95,000. 
New analyzer at the PVP Sed Basin to detect gasoline spills in the Poudre River. 

2. Upgrade SCADA operating system - $260,000. 
Upgrade the iFix SCADA operating interface. 

3. Upgrade Chlorine Dioxide system - $400,000. 
Replace the older, smaller 195-gallon tank with a new 800-gallon tank, install new generators, 
and piping. 

4. Replace MCC - $568,000. 
Replace the main Plant Motor Control Center. 

5. Replace Sedimentation Sludge collectors - Basins 1-4 - Annual Program- $100,000. 
Replace sludge collectors – phase over several years until complete. 

6. Vehicle replacement - $85,000. 
Replace two 15-year-old maintenance trucks. 

7. Replace Mud Valves - Floc Basin Drains - $32,000. 
Replace original mud valves. 

8. Replace NWCWD 20-inch meter - $280,000. 
 
 
 
 
 



2024 BUDGET MEMO – SCWTA BOARD MEETING  September 7, 2023 

4 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
Table 2 – Summary of 2024 District costs 
 East Larimer County Fort Collins Loveland North Weld County 

Fixed O&M $1,124,350 $1,888,504 $1,904,485 

Variable O&M $271,265 $597,843 $640,404 

Renewal and 
Replacement $442,835 $743,804 $750,099 

Total $1,838,450 $3,230,151 $3,294,988 

Increase/(Decrease) 
from 2023 Budget 2.18% 2.60% 2.70% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority page 1

Water Enterprise Fund
DRAFT 2024 Budget
Prepared 8/8/2022   Approved on ????????

2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget

Beginning Balance For All Funds 3,682,250              3,922,032              3,922,032              3,948,735              2,516,298              2,583,084              2,965,776              2,966,276              2,971,526              2,977,026              2,996,649              3,016,556              3,036,776              3,057,312              3,078,163              3,099,360              
Ending Balance for All Funds 3,922,032              2,028,675              2,516,298              1,601,502              1,922,987              2,965,776              2,966,276              2,971,526              2,977,026              2,996,649              3,016,556              3,036,776              3,057,312              3,078,163              3,099,360              3,117,838              

Operations & Maintenance Fund 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget

Beginning Balance 2,408,194$            1,840,810$            1,840,810$            1,867,783$            1,726,839$            1,765,526$            1,746,952$            1,747,202$            1,752,202$            1,757,202$            1,769,250$            1,781,371$            1,793,564$            1,805,831$            1,818,172$            1,830,587$            
Revenue 4,592,130$            4,594,399$            4,589,899$            3,599,030$            4,633,388$            4,677,208$            6,152,083$            5,547,445$            6,431,851$            6,419,235$            6,611,523$            6,809,578$            7,013,573$            7,223,686$            7,440,100$            7,662,278$            
Expenses 3,950,280$            4,704,198$            4,703,870$            4,677,940$            4,937,667$            4,695,782$            6,151,833$            5,542,445$            6,426,851$            6,407,187$            6,599,402$            6,797,384$            7,001,306$            7,211,345$            7,427,686$            7,650,516$            
Transfer from O&M to Replacement 1,209,234$            -$                        -$                        
Fund Year Ending Balance (Min = $738,491) 1,840,810$            1,731,011$            1,726,839$            788,873$               1,422,560$            1,746,952$            1,747,202$            1,752,202$            1,757,202$            1,769,250$            1,781,371$            1,793,564$            1,805,831$            1,818,172$            1,830,587$            1,842,349$            
O&M Fund Emergency Reserve Target Requirement (3 mos.) - min $738,491 812,261$              1,176,050$           1,175,968$           1,175,050$           1,234,417$           1,173,946$           1,537,958$           1,385,611$           1,606,713$           1,601,797$           1,649,851$           1,699,346$           1,750,327$           1,802,836$           1,856,921$           1,912,629$           

Renewal & Replacement Fund 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget

Fund Year Beginning Balance 393,783$               1,206,567$            1,206,567$            1,206,567$            789,459$               817,558$               1,218,824$            1,219,074$            1,219,324$            1,219,824$            1,227,399$            1,235,185$            1,243,212$            1,251,481$            1,259,991$            1,268,773$            
Revenue 254,340$               1,206,811$            1,202,892$            1,227,583$            1,770,968$            1,770,732$            2,004,250$            1,133,297$            1,937,238$            2,122,575$            1,097,787$            1,109,872$            1,650,382$            555,938$               8,782$                    6,716$                    
Expenses 650,790$               2,115,714$            1,620,000$            1,616,592$            2,060,000$            1,369,466$            2,004,000$            1,133,047$            1,936,738$            2,115,000$            1,090,001$            1,101,845$            1,642,113$            547,428$               -$                        -$                        
Transfer Received from O&M 1,209,234$            -$                        -$                        -$                        
Fund Year Ending Balance 1,206,567$            297,664$               789,459$               817,558$               500,427$               1,218,824$            1,219,074$            1,219,324$            1,219,824$            1,227,399$            1,235,185$            1,243,212$            1,251,481$            1,259,991$            1,268,773$            1,275,489$            
R&R Fund Emergency Reserve Minimum  Requirement = $500,000 200,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              500,000$              

Capital Plant Expansion Fund 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected
Beginning Balance 880,273$               874,655$               874,655$               874,385$               -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        
Revenue 19,285,963$         9,463,631$            8,060,339$            8,538,279$            -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        
Expenses 19,291,581$         10,338,286$         8,934,994$            9,417,593$            -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        
Fund Year Ending Balance 874,655$               -$                        (0)$                          (4,929)$                  -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority page 2

Water Enterprise Fund
DRAFT 2024 Budget
Prepared 8/8/2022

O&M Revenue Requirement 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget
Fixed O&M 3,080,145$            3,711,820$            3,599,030$            3,597,840$            3,597,840$            4,813,114$            4,296,166$            4,917,339$            4,852,389$            4,997,961$            5,147,900$            5,302,337$            5,461,407$            5,625,249$            5,794,007$            
Fixed O&M Rate per MG Capacity Owned

5,716$                    
 Jan. - June $6,663  
June - Dec. $4,997 4,997$                    4,997$                    6,684.88 5,966.90 6,830$                    6,739$                    6,942$                    7,150$                    7,364$                    7,585$                    7,813$                    8,047$                    

Variable O&M 875,199$               992,378$               962,663$               1,035,314$            1,003,407$            1,338,719$            1,246,279$            1,509,512$            1,554,797$            1,601,441$            1,649,485$            1,698,969$            1,749,938$            1,802,436$            1,856,509$            
Variable O&M Rate per 1,000 gallons 0.173$                    0.116$                    0.1197$                 0.1160$                 0.1469 0.1367 0.166$                    0.170$                    0.172$                    0.174$                    0.176$                    0.178$                    0.180$                    0.184$                    

R&R Revenue Requirement 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget
R&R Revenue  650,790$               2,115,714$            1,227,583$            1,770,734$            1,770,732$            2,004,000$            1,133,047$            1,936,738$            2,115,000$            1,090,001$            1,101,845$            1,642,113$            547,428$               -$                        -$                        
R&R Rate per Month per MG of Capacity

207$                       
 Jan. - June $2,273  
June - Dec. $1,705 2,459.35$              2,459.35$              2,783.33 1,573.68 2,690$                    2,938$                    1,514$                    1,530$                    2,281$                    760$                       -$                        -$                        

Funding Breakout For Each District

NWCWD 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget
Fixed O&M 1,114,997$            1,345,619$            1,345,619$            1,346,984$            1,393,443$            1,393,443$            1,864,119$            1,663,905$            1,904,485$            1,879,330$            1,935,710$            1,993,782$            2,053,595$            2,115,203$            2,178,659$            2,244,019$            
Projected Flow  (in 1,000 gallons) 3655 3549 3549 3679 3679 3867 3867 3867 4076 4210 4357 4509 4666 4823 4823
Variable O&M 632,232$               413,277$               413,277$               427,256$               440,236$               420,617$               567,946$               528,729$               640,404$               693,668$               725,031$               758,502$               793,274$               829,461$               866,542$               889,789$               
Capital -Renewal and Replacement 91,777$                 449,977$               449,977$               459,205$               685,805$               685,805$               776,149$               438,829$               750,099$               819,140$               422,157$               426,745$               635,990$               212,019$               -$                        -$                        
Capital -Plant Expansion 8,395,062$            4,119,519$            3,508,665$            3,716,713$            -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        
Total 10,234,068$         6,337,620$            6,337,620$            5,950,158$            2,519,485$            2,499,865$            3,208,214$            2,631,463$            3,294,988$            3,392,138$            3,082,899$            3,179,028$            3,482,860$            3,156,683$            3,045,201$            3,133,808$            

FCLWD 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget
Fixed O&M 1,100,421$            1,331,985$            1,331,985$            1,332,242$            1,381,750$            1,381,750$            1,848,476$            1,649,942$            1,888,504$            1,863,560$            1,919,467$            1,977,051$            2,036,363$            2,097,453$            2,160,377$            2,225,188$            
Projected Flow  (in 1,000 gallons) 3209 3431 3431 3431 3431 3610 3610 3610 3431 3431 3431 3431 3431 3431 3431
Variable O&M 555,185$               399,536$               399,536$               367,328$               410,560$               399,369$               530,200$               493,589$               597,843$               583,900$               590,875$               597,296$               603,620$               609,918$               616,443$               632,981$               
Capital -Renewal and Replacement 90,675$                 445,434$               445,434$               454,550$               680,050$               680,050$               769,636$               435,147$               743,804$               812,266$               418,615$               423,164$               630,653$               210,240$               -$                        -$                        
Capital -Plant Expansion 8,369,991$            4,107,216$            3,498,187$            3,705,613$            -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        
Total 10,116,272$         6,293,288$            6,293,288$            5,859,734$            2,472,361$            2,461,169$            3,148,313$            2,578,679$            3,230,151$            3,259,726$            2,928,957$            2,997,511$            3,270,636$            2,917,612$            2,776,820$            2,858,169$            

ELCO 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget
Fixed O&M 872,422$               919,617$               919,617$               919,803$               822,646$               822,646$               1,100,519$            982,318$               1,124,350$            1,109,499$            1,142,784$            1,177,067$            1,212,379$            1,248,751$            1,286,213$            1,324,800$            
Projected Flow  (in 1,000 gallons) 1442 1542 1542 1542 1542 1638 1638 1638 1629 1658 1687 1717 1747 1778 1809
Variable O&M 249,547$               179,564$               179,564$               168,080$               184,519$               183,421$               240,573$               223,961$               271,265$               277,229$               285,535$               293,687$               302,074$               310,559$               319,451$               333,740$               
Capital -Renewal and Replacement 71,888$                 306,600$               306,600$               313,828$               404,878$               404,878$               458,215$               259,071$               442,835$               483,595$               249,229$               251,937$               375,469$               125,169$               -$                        -$                        
Capital -Plant Expansion 2,520,640$            1,236,897$            1,053,486$            1,115,953$            -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        
Total 3,714,497$            2,649,906$            2,649,906$            2,517,664$            1,412,043$            1,410,945$            1,799,306$            1,465,351$            1,838,450$            1,870,323$            1,677,548$            1,722,691$            1,889,923$            1,684,479$            1,605,664$            1,658,540$            
Earned Interest 

Misc. / Interest Income 2020  Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2021 Actual 2022 Budget 2022 Actual 2023 Budget 2023 Projected 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget
Proj. O&M Fund Interest and Misc Income 67,326$                 4,800$                    300$                       6,204$                    234$                       75,961$                 250$                       5,000$                    5,000$                    12,048$                 12,121$                 12,193$                 12,267$                 12,341$                 12,415$                 11,762$                 
Projected Income from R&R Fund Interest 4,800$                    881$                       234$                       250$                       250$                       500$                       7,575$                    7,786$                    8,027$                    8,269$                    8,510$                    8,782$                    6,716$                    



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Prepared 8/8/2023
2024  Budget

O&M Expense Summary
From 
Brenda's 2023 
Projected

 From O&M 
Expense Detail 
Worksheet 

Fixed O&M
2020 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Actual Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Projected Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed
Personnel Services

Wages 1,749,287   2,037,465   1,894,413   1,925,206   $2,081,189 $1,971,282 $2,432,853 $2,372,780 2,446,610$         2,520,008   2,595,609   2,673,477   2,753,681   2,836,292   2,921,380   3,009,022   
Taxes 31,226         36,667         32,579         31,990         35,576         32,468         38,972         38,363         41,078$               42,311         43,580         44,887         46,234         47,621         49,050         50,521         
Pension 270,807       344,334       319,431       308,900       337,372       334,585       383,175       406,355       422,333$            435,003       448,053       461,494       475,339       489,599       504,287       519,416       
Insurance 201,125       238,858       317,696       238,805       318,808       277,173       360,424       357,377       374,663$            385,903       397,480       409,404       421,687       434,337       447,367       460,788       

Misc. 31,987         30,139         51,613         27,108         63,135         33,559         67,257         54,300         62,947$               64,835         66,780         68,784         70,847         72,973         75,162         77,417         
2,284,433   2,687,463   2,615,732   2,532,009   2,836,080   2,649,067   3,282,681   3,229,175   3,347,631$         3,448,060   3,551,502   3,658,047   3,767,788   3,880,822   3,997,246   4,117,164   

Professional Services
Directors Expenses 191               921               3,296           1,500           3,296           4,234           3,465           753               3,465$                 3,569           3,676           3,786           3,900           4,017           4,137           4,262           
Legal Services 9,366           13,400         20,600         20,600         20,600         4,469           21,630         9,849           15,000$               15,450         15,914         16,391         16,883         17,389         17,911         18,448         
Audit Services 54,140         42,791         17,510         31,228         31,000         25,947         31,000         32,944         35,000$               36,050         37,132         38,245         39,393         40,575         41,792         43,046         

Engineering Services 16,897         120,330       120,000       120,000       50,000         15,590         60,000         -                    20,000$               20,600         21,218         21,855         22,510         23,185         23,881         24,597         
80,594         177,443       161,406       173,328       104,896       50,240         116,095       43,547         73,465$               75,669         77,939         80,277         82,686         85,166         87,721         90,353         

Utilities
Trash Service 8,094           6,323           9,200           9,200           $9,200 $6,944 $8,500 $8,229 8,925$                 9,193           9,469           9,753           10,045         10,347         10,657         10,977         

8,094           6,323           9,200           9,200           9,200           6,944           8,500           8,229           8,925$                 9,193           9,469           9,753           10,045         10,347         10,657         10,977         

Contractual Services
Telephone & Internet 18,647         17,163         23,340         23,340         $10,410 $12,380 $9,800 $8,171 9,800$                 10,094         10,397         10,709         11,030         11,361         11,702         12,053         
Outside Services 85,633         97,429         139,855       139,855       151,304       138,784       171,959       118,785       160,709$            165,530       170,496       175,611       180,879       186,306       191,895       197,652       
Source of Supply 47,299         91,903         106,998       106,998       107,321       71,239         116,321       145,955       180,000$            185,400       190,962       196,691       202,592       208,669       214,929       221,377       
Dues, Publications 10,007         11,058         7,003           11,241         11,241         6,875           11,974         7,505           11,974$               12,333         12,703         13,084         13,477         13,881         14,298         14,727         
Liability Insurance 73,421         78,642         76,385         78,642         100,000       167,582       200,000       190,305       210,000$            216,300       222,789       229,473       236,357       243,448       250,751       258,274       

235,007       296,196       353,581       360,076       380,276       396,860       510,054       470,721       572,483$            589,657       607,347       625,568       644,335       663,665       683,575       704,082       

Commodities
Supplies 105,079       124,283       122,082       117,890       122,082       122,945       143,142       106,832       147,449$            151,872       156,429       161,122       165,955       170,934       176,062       181,344       
Fuel & Oil 9,154           14,456         12,772         14,057         12,772         13,298         15,100         12,239         15,100$               15,553         16,020         16,500         16,995         17,505         18,030         18,571         
Miscellaneous 1,180           1,993           2,396           1,200           $2,396 $1,673 $2,570 $1,546 2,570$                 2,647           2,727           2,808           2,893           2,979           3,069           3,161           

115,413       140,732       137,250       133,147       137,250       137,916       160,812       120,616       165,119$            170,073       175,175       180,430       185,843       191,418       197,161       203,076       

Repair and Maintenance 
Plant Equipment 65,156         64,757         60,557         165,000       60,557         108,779       70,000         143,456       150,000$            154,500       159,135       163,909       168,826       173,891       179,108       184,481       
Facilities Repair 267,329       313,496       302,000       330,000       302,000       131,085       592,000       263,649       546,087$            350,000       360,500       371,315       382,454       393,928       405,746       417,918       
Lab Equipment Maint. 8,877           8,937           30,000         15,383         30,000         11,161         30,000         7,495           30,000$               30,900         31,827         32,782         33,765         34,778         35,822         36,896         
Vehicles 15,242         33,592         42,094         44,952         42,094         11,204         42,972         9,280           23,629$               24,338         25,068         25,820         26,595         27,392         28,214         29,061         

356,604       420,783       434,651       555,335       434,651       262,229       734,972       423,879       749,716$            559,738       576,530       593,826       611,641       629,990       648,890       668,356       

Variable O&M
Utilities

Electricity 30,346         64,504         38,028         59,000         39,168         90,626         79,412         108,270       114,517$            117,953       121,491       125,136       128,890       132,757       136,739       140,841       
Natural Gas 7,714           17,895         15,093         19,359         15,546         33,695         26,557         41,882         44,495$               45,830         47,205         48,621         50,080         51,582         53,129         54,723         

38,060         82,399         53,121         78,359         54,714         124,321       105,969       150,152       159,012$            163,782       168,696       173,757       178,969       184,338       189,869       195,565       
Commodities

Treatment Chemicals 837,139       908,756       939,257       862,416       980,600       1,068,205   1,232,750   1,096,127   1,350,500$         1,391,015   1,432,745   1,475,728   1,520,000   1,565,600   1,612,568   1,660,945   

Total O&M Expense 3,955,344   4,720,094   4,704,198   4,703,870   4,937,667   4,695,782   6,151,833   5,542,445   6,426,851$         6,407,187   6,599,402   6,797,384   7,001,306   7,211,345   7,427,686   7,650,516   



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority
DRAFT 2024 Budget Prepared 8/8/2023 DRAFT 2024 Budget Prepared 8/8/2023

O&M Expense Detail Worksheet O&M Expense Detail Worksheet

Adm
inistration

Lab / Regulatory

W
ater Resources

Operations

M
aintenance

Line Total

Total

Projected end of 2023 $s/Notes

Adm
inistration

Lab / Regulatory

W
ater Resources

Operations

M
aintenance

Line Total

Total

Notes

5100 -Personnel Services $3,347,631 5400 - Contractual Services $572,483
5110 Wages $2,446,610 5410 Telephone & Internet $9,800

5111 Wages (Permanent) $273,441 $203,246 $351,085 $999,228 $544,610 $2,371,610 added 5% to 2023 budget. 2023 = $2282328.28 5411 Telephone & Internet $8,200 $1,600 $9,800 Kept the same from 2023 budget

5112
Wages (Contingency for Operators 
advancing through Licensing) $15,000 $15,000 New line item 5420 Outside Services $160,709

5113 Overtime / Temporary $26,000 $12,000 $38,000 2023 = $90451.36 5421 HVAC Service $2,000 $2,000 Kept the same from 2023 budget

On Call $22,000 $22,000 Added back in -  + Superviser on call duty 5422 Contract Lab $16,714 $16,714 Kept the same from 2023 budget

5423 IT & SCADA Support $32,000 $54,995 $86,995 Kept the same from 2023 budget

5120 Taxes $41,078 5424 Solids Removal $40,000 $40,000 Kept the same from 2023 budget

5121 Unemployment Tax $680 $410 $1,000 $3,000 $1,600 $6,690 Added 5% to 2023 budget 5426 Administrative Support $15,000 $15,000 Dropped 50% to match 2023 + 10%
5122 Medicare Tax $3,965 $2,947 $5,091 $14,489 $7,897 $34,388 Used 1.45% of payroll

5130 Pension $422,333 5430 Source of Supply $180,000

5131 P.E.R.A. $41,434 $29,066 $50,762 $150,042 $81,196 $352,500
Added 5% to all 2023 budget numbers. 2023 

spend = $343k 5431 CBT Winter Delivery $0

5132 ICMA matchmaker - Employer $8,038 $5,920 $0 $26,484 $16,538 $56,979 Added 5% to all 2023 budget numbers 5432 PVP Maintenance Est. Cost $160,000 $160,000
2023 spend = $130k. Projected 
2024 spend = $160K

5133 401K matchmaker - Employer $10,338 $2,515 $12,853 Added 5% to all 2023 budget numbers 5433 HT/Big T Watershed Monitoring $0 $0
Lowered to $0. No Longer 
participate

5140 Insurance $374,663 5434 Poudre Watershed Monitoring $20,000 $20,000 2023 spend + 10%

5141 Health Insurance $23,576 $23,576 $35,364 $117,882 $70,741 $271,139

Added 18% to 2023 budget to include 2 new 
operators and 3.5% increase for 2024. That will 
match the 2023 Spend + 3.5%. Projected 2023 

spend = $262k 5440 Dues, Publications $11,974

5142 Life Insurance P.E.R.A. $372 $372 $558 $700 $700 $2,702 Dropped to match 2023 spend of $1k. 5441 Memberships and Publications $5,739 $225 $100 $1,230 $4,680 $11,974 Kept the same from 2023 budget

5143 Workers Comp. Insurance $3,418 $1,668 $5,041 $12,695 $8,000 $30,822
Lowered by 40% to $30k to match 2023 spend 

+ 10%. 2023 = $26910
5144 Health Savings Account $6,000 $6,000 $9,000 $28,000 $21,000 $70,000 Lowered to $70k. 2023 = $60000 5450 Liability Insurance $210,000

5150 Misc. $62,947 5451 Insurance, Property, Liability $210,000 $210,000 Add 5%. 2023 spend = $190k
5151 Conferences, Education $4,244 $4,244 $6,365 $10,540 $6,954 $32,347 Drop by $5k 5500 - Commodities $1,515,619
5152 Uniforms $1,050 $1,050 $1,600 $5,250 $3,150 $12,100 add 5% to 2023 spend/budget. 5510 Supplies $147,449

5153 Safety $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $6,500 $9,000 $18,500 Leave unchanged. 5505 Admin. / Oper. Misc. $7,235 $7,235 Increased by 10% over 2023 budget

5200 - Professional Services $73,465 5511 Office Supplies $20,100 $6,884 $8,058 $35,042 Kept the same from 2023 budget

Board, Legal Audit $73,465 5512 Operational Supplies $3,000 $53,300 $56,300 Kept the same from 2023 budget

5211 Directors Expenses $3,465 $3,465 Leave unchanged.. 5513 Lab Supplies $40,150 $40,150 Increased by 10% over 2023 budget

5212 Legal Services $15,000 $15,000 Drop to match 2023 spend + 10%. 5514 Shop Supplies $7,424 $7,424 Kept the same from 2023 budget

5213 Audit Services $35,000 $35,000
Increase by 10% to match projected 2024 

Baker Tilly costs 5516 Janitorial Supplies $1,298 $1,298 Kept the same from 2023 budget
5214 Engineering Services $20,000 $20,000 Lowered by 60%. $0 spend in 2023 5520 Treatment Chemicals $1,350,500

5300 Utilities $167,937 5521 Coagulants $520,000 $520,000 Match 2023 spend + 5%

5310 Electrical Utilities $114,517 5522 Disinfectants $175,000 $175,000
Increased 100% to match 2023 
spend and 2024 projected use

5311 Plant Electrical $52,000 $52,000 Increase by over 100% to match 2023 spend. 5523 Corrosion Control $292,000 $292,000
Increased 12% over 2023 
budget/spend

5312 Pump Station Electrical $61,117 $61,117 Increase by 10% from 2023 spend/budget 5524 Pre Treatment (Chlorite) $165,000 $165,000 Reduced by 30% from 2023 budget

5313 Tie Pump Station Electrical $1,400 $1,400 Increase by 100% to match 2023 spend 5525 Floc/Filter Aid $54,500 $54,500 Kept the same from 2023 budget
5320 Natural Gas $44,495 5526 Dewatering Flocculants $36,000 $36,000 Match 2023 spend + 5%

5321 Plant Natural Gas $40,000 $40,000 Increase 100% to match 2023 spend 5527 Fluoride $90,000 $90,000 Increased 17%
PAC $15,000 $15,000 New Line Item

5322 Pump Station Natural Gas $2,200 $2,200 Lowered by 50% to match 2023 spend 5528 Misc. Chemicals $3,000 $3,000 Kept the same from 2023 budget
5323 De-Watering bldg. Nat. Gas $2,295 $2,295 Increased by 5% over 2023 budget 5530 Fuel & Oil $15,100

5330 Misc. $8,925 5531 Fuel & Oil $1,500 $2,200 $2,700 $5,200 $3,500 $15,100 Kept the same from 2023 budget
5331 Trash Removal $8,925 $8,925 Increased by 5% over 2023 budget 5540 Miscellaneous $2,570

1 of 2 5541 Miscellaneous $1,700 $630 $240 $2,570 Kept the same from 2023 budget
5600 - Repair & Maintenance $749,716

5610 Plant Equipment $30,000 $120,000 $150,000
Increased by 100% to match 2023 
spend

5620 Facilities Repair $546,087 $546,087 See Facilities Repair Project List

5630 Lab Equipment Maint. $30,000 $30,000 Kept the same from 2023 budget

5640 Vehicles $2,142 $3,000 $8,487 $10,000 $23,629
Lowered by 25%. New vehicles are 
in R&R Fund

2 of 2 Totals $722,157 $420,930 $495,118 $3,151,570 $1,637,076 $6,426,851 $6,426,851

Data Check - $6,426,851

2023 total = $6,151,833



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority 8/8/2023
DRAFT 2024 Budget

Renewal and Replacement Summary
2021 Estimated

Projects & Proj Number Cost $ (2019) Complete (Y/N)
Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019) Complete (Y/N)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Complete 
(Y/N)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2023)

Complete 
(Y/N)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Projects & Proj 
Number Cost $ (2019)

Sleeve Valve $292,463 Yes
 Filter 

Improvements   
1-4 - 0600-04 

$935,714 $500,000 Yes
 Filter 

Improvements 5-
8 - 0600-04 

$700,000 No  Floc Sed Heaters - 
1000-13 

$180,000 No

 Chlorine 
Dioxide System  

- General 
Upgrade 

$400,000  PVP meter 
Upgrades 

$290,000
 Compressed Air 

System 
Upgrades 

$180,000  Replace Filter 
Media 9-12 

$547,428  Paint Clearwell 
Tank 2 

$1,192,113  Replace Filter 
Media 12-20 

$547,428

Scrubber $269,292 Yes
 Floc Sed 

Heaters - 1000-
13 

$700,000 No
 Emergency Back 
Up Generator  - 

0100-02 
$400,000 No

 (50%) Filter 
Improvements 5-8 - 

0600-04 
$700,000 No

 Mud Valves - 
Floc Basin 

Drains 0400-02 
$32,000  Paint BW 

Tanks 1 and 2 
$225,000  Yard Valve 

Repair 
$200,000

 Horsetooth 
Meter 

Replacement 
$329,510  Soda ash 

grinders 
200,000          

Plant Improvements $46,539 Yes  Paint Clearwell 
Tank 1 - 0900-01 

$360,000 $800,000 Yes  Compressed Air 
System Upgrades 

$140,000 No  Emergency Back Up 
Generator -  0100-02 

$220,000 No

 Hydrocarbon 
Analyzer for 
Poudre River 
and new TOC 

Analyzer 

$95,000  Clearwell Tank 
4 - Repaint 

$1,300,000  Repair raw 
water valves 

$610,000  Yard Valve 
Repair 

$224,907  Soda ask 
dehumidifier 

250,000          

Controls Improvements $42,495 Yes
 Emergency Back 
Up Generator - 

0100-02 
$200,000 Ongoing

 Controls 
Improvements - 

PLC 
Replacement 

0100-07 

$120,000 No  Compressed Air System 
Upgrades 

$180,000 No  Replace Plant 
MCC 

$568,260  Yard Valve 
Repair 

$200,000

 Controls Master 
Plan 

$120,000 $120,000 
Contracted and 

Ongoing

 Controls 
Improvements - PLC 

Replacement 0100-07 
$140,000 No

 Replace 
Sedimentation 

Sludge 
collectors - 
Basins 1-4 - 

Annual 
Program 

$100,000

 Replace 
Sedimentation 

Sludge 
collectors - 
Basins 1-4 - 

Annual 
Program 

$100,000

 Replace 
Sedimentation 

Sludge collectors 
- Basins 1-4 - 

Annual Program 

$100,001

 Vehicle 
replacement - 2 

Maint trucks 
$85,000

 Comprehensive 
Master Plan 

$500,000 No  NWCWD 20" 
Meter  

$376,478

 Replace 195 Gal CLO2 
tank with new 800 Gal 

tank - 0200-09 
$84,000 No SCADA iFix 

upgrade
$280,000

$650,789 $2,115,714 $1,620,000 $1,360,000 $2,004,000 $1,936,738 $2,115,000 $1,090,001 $1,101,845 $1,642,113 $547,428 $0 $0

2031 Proposed2025 Proposed 2026 Proposed 2027 Proposed 2028 Proposed 2029 Proposed 2030 Proposed2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2022 Budget 2023 Budget 2024 Proposed



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Prepared 8/5/2023
DRAFT 2024 Budget

O&M Facilities Repair Project List

2020
2020 

Budgeted 2020 Actual
Completed 

(Y/N?)
2021 

Estimated
Completed 

(Y/N?)
Completed 

(Y/N?) 2023 Budget 2023 Cost
Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects

 Controls 
Improvements 

$62,400 $66,220 Yes  Controls 
Improvements 

64,896 64,896 Yes

 Coagulant 
Pump 

Upgrades - 
skids 

90,000         No  Controls Improvements $75,000  PLC Controls 
Improvements 

$75,000  Soda Ash    De-
Lumper 

77,468          HT 42" Pipe 
Assessment 

83,170               Controls 
Improvements 

82,114          Controls 
Improvements 

85,399          Controls 
Improvements 

85,399          Controls 
Improvements 

88,815         

 Plant Intercom  $59,587 No  Chlorine Hoist 55,597 33,477 Yes
 Chlorine 

Dioxide Pump 
Upgrades 

50,000         No Surface Wash Pumps 1&2 - 
0600-10

$65,000  Replace House Water PVC 
Piping - Annual Program 

$30,000  Controls 
Improvements 

75,919          HT 36" Pipe 
Assessment 

83,170               Caulk Decant 
Pond 3 

290,000       

 Replace 
Fluoride Feeder 

$51,110 Yes  Water Quality 
Analyzer 

50,000 Yes  Paint Pipes 45,000         No  Backwash Pump 2 - 0600-01 $65,000  Vehicle 
Replacement 

50,613          Controls 
Improvements 

78,956              

 Sed Basin Wall 
Repair 

$48,057 No  Paint Pipes 43,264 Yes

 Knock Out 
Wall to Install 

New Tank - 
Part of 0200-

09 CLO2 
project 

30,000         No  Paint Pipes $25,000  Paint Pipes - Annual 
Program 

$47,000

 Replace House 
Water PVC 

Piping - Annual 
Program 

30,000         

 Replace House 
Water PVC 

Piping - Annual 
Program 

30,001              

 Replace House 
Water PVC 

Piping - Annual 
Program 

30,002          Paint building 
exterior 

150,000       

 Gate Lighting & 
Camera 

$40,675 $6,832 Yes  Floc Chains & 
Sprockets  

33,951 70,600 Yes  Vehicle Replacement $46,000  Paint Pipes - 
Annual Program 

47,000         
 Paint Pipes - 

Annual 
Program 

47,001               Paint Pipes - 
Annual Program 

47,002         
 Paint Pipes - 

Annual 
Program 

47,003         
 Paint Pipes - 

Annual 
Program 

47,004         
 Paint Pipes - 

Annual 
Program 

47,005         

 Floc Chains & 
Sprockets 2 

$36,678 $32,646 Yes  Filter Valves 32,448 No  Upgrade Filter Consoles - 
0100-08 

$50,000  Filter Actuators - Annual 
program 

$24,400  Filter Actuators - 
Annual program 

$24,400  Paint Interior 
Walls 

39,000               Paint Interior 
Walls 

39,001          Paint Interior 
Walls 

39,002          Paint Interior 
Walls 

39,003          Paint Interior 
Walls 

39,004         

 House Water 
System 

$31,229 $12,708 Yes  Filter Actuators 21,632 No  Filter Valves $40,000
 Replace Green Plastic 

Airline throughout Plant - 
Annual Program 

$30,000

 Replace Green 
Plastic Airline 

throughout Plant 
- Annual 
Program 

$30,000

 Replace Green 
Plastic Airline 
throughout 

Plant - Annual 
Program 

$30,001

 Replace Green 
Plastic Airline 
throughout 

Plant - Annual 
Program 

$30,002

 Replace Green 
Plastic Airline 
throughout 

Plant - Annual 
Program 

$30,003

 Replace 
Green Plastic 

Airline 
throughout 

Plant - Annual 
Program 

$30,004

 Replace Green 
Plastic Airline 
throughout 

Plant - Annual 
Program 

$30,005

 Caulk Decant 
Pond 2 

$20,000 No
 Chlorine 

Dioxide Batch 
Tank 

39,012 No  Surface Wash Pipes  $36,000  Surface Wash 
Flow Meter 

22,000              

 House Roof  $19,238 $19,656 Yes  Surface Wash 
Piping 1-4 

29,266 Yes  Mud Valves - Floc Basin 
Drains 0400-02 

$35,000  Upgrade Filter Consoles  $52,967

 Paint Filter 
Piping 1-4 

20,067 No  Filter Actuators $25,000  Replace Redwood Floc 
Walls - Annual Program 

$30,000

 Replace 
Redwood Floc 
Walls - Annual 

Program 

$30,000

 Replace 
Redwood Floc 
Walls - Annual 

Program 

$30,000

 Replace 
Redwood Floc 
Walls - Annual 

Program 

$30,000

 Dewatering 
Piping 

Modifications 
10,000 Yes  Surface Wash Flow Meter $22,000

 Replace filters 1-20 
surface wash PVC - Annual 

Program 
$15,000

 Replace filters 1-
20 surface wash 

PVC - Annual 
Program 

$15,000

 Replace filters 
1-20 surface 
wash PVC - 

Annual 
Program 

$15,000

 Replace filters 1-
20 surface wash 

PVC - Annual 
Program 

$15,000

 Replace filters 
1-20 surface 
wash PVC - 

Annual 
Program 

$15,001

 Replace 
Fluoride Feeder 

39,436 Yes  Office/Control Room 
upgrades 

$30,000
 Filter Air Solenoid Valve 
replacement program - 

Annual Program 
$25,000

 Filter Air 
Solenoid Valve 
replacement 

program - 
Annual Program 

$25,001

 Filter Air 
Solenoid Valve 
replacement 

program - 
Annual 

Program 

$25,001

 Filter Air 
Solenoid Valve 
replacement 

program - 
Annual Program 

$25,001

 Fencing 50,380 Yes
Sed Basin Wall Repair $55,000

 Tank 2 - Spot coating 
repairs 

$16,720

Abandon unused Chemical 
feeds - 0200-02 $3,000

 Yard Butterfly Valve 
Actuator Replacement - 

Annual Program 
$200,000

 Yard Butterfly 
Valve Actuator 
Replacement - 

Annual Program 

$200,001

 Yard Butterfly 
Valve Actuator 
Replacement - 

Annual 
Program 

$200,002

 Yard Butterfly 
Valve Actuator 
Replacement - 

Annual Program 

$200,003

 Yard Butterfly 
Valve Actuator 
Replacement - 

Annual 
Program 

$200,004

 Gate Camera 6,832 Yes  Caulk Decant Pond 2 $20,000

$368,974 $138,062 400,133 265,621 215,000       $592,000 $546,087 605,402       683,302            498,125       706,412       351,410       204,829       

20302021 Budgeted 2022 Budgeted 2024 Budget 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029



Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority
DRAFT 2024 Budget
Unit Cost
Operations & 
Maintenance Fund 
Unit Cost Per 1,000 
Gallons

2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2022 Budget 2023 Budget 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget

NWCWD 0.478$                       0.496$                       0.496$                       0.498$                       0.629$                       0.658$                       0.631$                       0.632$                       0.632$                       0.631$                       0.631$                       0.631$                       0.650$                       
FCLWD 0.516$                       0.505$                       0.505$                       0.522$                       0.659$                       0.689$                       0.713$                       0.732$                       0.750$                       0.769$                       0.789$                       0.809$                       0.833$                       
ELCO 0.778$                       0.713$                       0.713$                       0.653$                       0.819$                       0.852$                       0.851$                       0.861$                       0.872$                       0.882$                       0.893$                       0.903$                       0.917$                       

Renewal And 
Replacement Fund 
Unit Cost Per 1,000 
Gallons

2020 Actual 2021 Budget 2021 Projected 2022 Budget 2023 Budget 2024 Budget 2025 Budget 2026 Budget 2027 Budget 2028 Budget 2029 Budget 2030 Budget 2031  Budget

NWCWD 0.025$                       0.127$                       0.127$                       0.186$                       0.201$                       0.194$                       0.201$                       0.100$                       0.098$                       0.141$                       0.045$                       -$                           -$                           
FCLWD 0.028$                       0.130$                       0.130$                       0.198$                       0.213$                       0.206$                       0.237$                       0.122$                       0.123$                       0.184$                       0.061$                       -$                           -$                           
ELCO 0.050$                       0.199$                       0.199$                       0.263$                       0.280$                       0.270$                       0.297$                       0.150$                       0.149$                       0.219$                       0.072$                       -$                           -$                           



 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 
 

AGREEMENT AND CONSENT TO ASSIGN CERTAIN PLEASANT VALLEY 
PIPELINE DAILY OPERATION 

 This Agreement and Consent to Assign Certain Pleasant Valley Pipeline Daily 
Operation (“Agreement”) is made and entered into _________________________, by and 
between the Pleasant Valley Pipeline Water Activity Enterprise (a government-owned business 
within the meaning of Article X, § 20(2)(d) of the Colorado Constitution, organized pursuant to 
C.R.S. §§ 37-45.1-101 et seq., and owned by Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District), 
whose address is 220 Water Avenue, Berthoud, CO 80513 (“Enterprise”), and the following three 
parties, referred to collectively herein as “Allottees”: (a) Soldier Canyon Filter Plant (a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado), whose mailing address is 4424 
LaPorte Avenue, Fort Collins, CO 80521 (“Soldier Canyon”), (b) the City of Fort Collins (a home 
rule municipal corporation), whose address is 300 LaPorte Avenue, Fort Collins, CO 80521 (“Fort 
Collins”), and (c) the City of Greeley (a home rule municipal corporation), whose mailing address 
is 1000 10th Street, Greeley, CO 80631.  

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the Enterprise owns and operates the Pleasant Valley Pipeline (“PVP”), 
which delivers untreated water from the North Poudre Supply Canal and Diversion Works, also 
known as the Munroe Gravity Canal (“Munroe Canal”), to the Allottees; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Enterprise has entered into Allotment Contracts, as have been amended 
and supplemented, with the Allottees for capacity in the PVP; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Paragraph 4(a) of the Allotment Contracts authorizes the Enterprise to assign 
daily operation and routine maintenance of the PVP to one or more of the Allottees with the written 
consent of all Allottees; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Soldier Canyon and Fort Collins wish to conduct some daily operation of 
certain components of the PVP, as specified below, and have requested that the Enterprise assign 
to them the right to conduct such daily operation; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Enterprise is willing to assign such operation activities to Soldier Canyon 
and Fort Collins under the terms of this Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Enterprise, Soldier Canyon, and Fort Collins desire to obtain the City of 
Greeley’s written consent to the assignment of such daily operation activities in accordance with 
Paragraph 4(a) of the Allotment Contracts; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants and 
agreements set forth herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
Enterprise, Soldier Canyon, and Fort Collins agree as follows, and the City of Greeley consents to 
the following: 

AGREEMENT 

1. ASSIGNMENT AND CONSENT. Under the terms herein, the Enterprise hereby assigns to 
Soldier Canyon and Fort Collins the joint right and obligation to perform daily operation of 

Commented [DW1]: Note to Soldier Canyon: This is the 
account entity as shown on the contract and in Northern 
Water's system. Changing this to the Soldier Canyon Water 
Treatment Authority would separately require 
assignment/transfer of the allotment contract to the Authority 
pursuant to Paragraph 10 of the allotment contract. 



 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 
 

the guard gate numbered G-5117 that controls flow from the Munroe Canal to the PVP 
(“Gate”). The Gate and all of its components that Soldier Canyon and Fort Collins will have 
the right to operate under this Agreement are labeled and depicted on the electrical record 
drawing attached as Exhibit A-1 and the structural drawing attached as Exhibit A-2. In 
accordance with Paragraph 4(a) of the Allotment Contracts, the Allottees hereby consent to the 
assignment described in this Paragraph. The assignment and consent given herein is strictly 
limited to the assignment of the daily operation described in this Paragraph and its subparts. 
 
1.1. For purposes of this Agreement, “daily operation” means operation of the Gate, (a) using 

its local controls, (b) using its on-site panel controls, and/or (c) remotely through the 
programmable logic controller (PLC) installed for the Gate, to make adjustments to the 
Gate if and as necessary to clean the associated trash rack, to clean silt and other debris 
out of the area between the Gate and the adjacent manual gate, to operate or not operate 
the sedimentation basin or bar screen (features not owned by the Enterprise) between the 
Munroe Canal turnout and the Gate, or in response to changing turbidity or other river or 
Munroe Canal conditions. 
 

1.2. This assignment of daily operation is limited to the “Summer delivery period” as defined 
in the Allotment Contracts (April 1 to October 31, inclusive, of each year). 

 
1.3. Soldier Canyon and Fort Collins will coordinate with and communicate their daily 

operation (and changes thereto) to the Enterprise on a regular basis. Soldier Canyon and 
Fort Collins may provide, or the Enterprise may require from those parties, documentation 
of standard operating procedures of their daily operation activities occurring under this 
Agreement, an annual operating plan describing their anticipated daily operation of the 
Gate for the subject year, or both. 
 

1.4. The Enterprise will coordinate with Soldier Canyon and Fort Collins to modify the remote 
operation system for the Gate to enable shared remote control and operation of the Gate 
by the Enterprise and Soldier Canyon and Fort Collins. Northern Water has the right to 
and may retain all SCADA and other data collected from and used in operation of the 
Gate. 
 

1.5. The Enterprise retains the right and sole discretion to operate and perform maintenance on 
the Gate and the entire PVP as it deems necessary to keep the Gate and the entire PVP in 
good working order. Except in cases of emergency, the Enterprise will give Soldier 
Canyon and Fort Collins notice of the Enterprise’s planned maintenance work that will 
affect operation of the Gate at least 7 days in advance of the work. If the Enterprise’s 
maintenance work on the Gate or other parts of the PVP under this Paragraph requires a 
shutdown and outage of the PVP and a complete closure of the Gate, then the Enterprise 
and the Allottees will coordinate and time the outage to minimize disruption to operation 
of the PVP and delivery of water through the same. During such a shutdown and outage, 
Soldier Canyon and Fort Collins shall have no ability to operate or maintain the Gate and 
the Enterprise may, for safety purposes, lock the Gate and prevent others from operating 
or accessing the Gate. 

 



 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 
 

2. REVOCATION. The Enterprise retains the right to and may revoke the assignment of daily 
operation made by this Agreement for any reason or no reason at all. To revoke the assignment, 
the Enterprise must give written notice to the Allottees at least 14 days before such revocation. 
 

3. NO MODIFICATION. The Parties agree that nothing herein modifies or affects the force and 
effectiveness of any of the terms in the Allotment Contracts, as have been amended and 
supplemented. 
 

4. OWNERSHIP OF FACILITIES. The Enterprise owns the Gate and its related components. 
The assignment of daily operation duties under this Agreement does not create or vest in 
Soldier Canyon or Fort Collins any property rights or interests in the Gate or in any other 
facilities owned by the Enterprise. 

 
5. BINDING EFFECT. The Enterprise and the Allottees agree that this Agreement, with the 

burdens and benefits it imposes, is binding upon the parties and their representatives, 
successors, and assigns. 
 

 
AGREED: 
PLEASANT VALLEY PIPELINE WATER 
ACTIVITY ENTERPRISE 
 
By:                                                             
 
Name:                                                        
 
Title:                                                          
 
Dated:                                                        
 
 

AGREED AND CONSENTED TO: 
SOLDIER CANYON FILTER PLANT 
 
 
By:                                                             
 
Name:                                                        
 
Title:                                                          
 
Dated:                                                        
 

AGREED AND CONSENTED TO: 
CITY OF FORT COLLINS 
 
By:                                                             
 
Name:                                                        
 
Title:                                                          
 
Dated:                                                        

CONSENTED TO: 
CITY OF GREELEY 
 
By:                                                             
 
Name:                                                        
 
Title:                                                          
 
Dated:                                                        

 


	1 - Agenda 09_07_2023
	2 - 08-10-2023min
	3 - Aug 2023 Exp Report
	3a - Financial Dashboard
	4 - Managers Report September 2023
	4a - DRAFT - Annual Admin Resolution MKK Aug 2023
	5 - Complete 2023 SCWTA - Master Services Construction Contract with GCs and Rates
	6 - Decant Pond 2 WO Contracting Docs with costs - Sept 2023
	7 - LTD 1 - Soldier Canyon Water Treatment Authority Disability proposal.8.28.2023
	8a - DRAFT 2024 BUDGET MEMO August 2023
	8b- DRAFT 2024 SCWTA Budget MKK
	9c - PVP Operations Assignment Draft 2023-06-28



